

Effect of cigarette smoke extract and IL-17A on T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses in human airway smooth muscle cells

Abdulrhman Saad G Alghamdi

Division of Respiratory Medicine School of Medicine

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Respiratory Medicine

The University of Nottingham September 2022

Acknowledgement

Spiritually, I am eternally indebted to my god (Allah) for his innumerable blessings and to the prophet Mohammad; peace be upon him, who taught me how to be a better person by helping others, having excellent manners, and pursuing knowledge.

I would like to give my sincere appreciation and warm thanks to my supervisor Prof Linhua Pang for giving me the opportunity to conduct my MSc and PhD studies in Respiratory Medicine under his supervision and for his patience and help throughout my studies. The door to Prof Linhua Pang's office was always open whenever I needed to ask a question about my research project or thesis writing. I would also give my warm thanks to my second supervisor Dr Amanda Tattler for her valuable guidance, support and patience during my studies. I want to express my thanks to all the members of the Respiratory Medicine department for their support throughout my study journey.

A warm thanks to the Saudi government and the Saudi Arabian Cultural Bureau in London for their help and support in finishing my study. An appreciative thanks to my sponsor King Saud University (Saudi Arabia/Riyadh), for allowing me to continue my education and for their generous support.

Finally, but most importantly, I must express my very profound gratitude to my mom (Alyah) and dad (Saad); thank you for providing me with endless support, encouragement and prayers, your sacrifices meant a lot to me, and this accomplishment would not have been possible without you. I extend my thanks to my amazing family; my brothers (Adel, Mohammed, and Yousef), sisters (Azzah, Aishah, Bashayer and Bushra), my wife (Rana) and thanks to my little one (Faisal) for being the true joy of my life.

Accepted abstracts for presentations at national and international meetings

<u>Abdulrhman Alghamdi</u>, Amanda Tatler, Abdullah Alqarni, Mushabab Alahmari, Wael Alshehri, Linhua Pang. Cigarette smoke extract (CSE) reduces the anti-inflammatory effect of Fluticasone in human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs). Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Madrid, Spain, 2019.

Abdullah Alqarni, Oliver Brand, Alice Pasini, <u>Abdulrhman Alghamdi</u>, WaelAlshehri, Mushabbab Alahmari, Linhua Pang. Role of vasoactive mediators oncigarette smoke extract (CSE)-induced proliferation in human pulmonary arterysmooth muscle cells (hPASMCs). Accepted for poster presentation at the EuropeanRespiratory Society International Congress, Madrid, Spain, 2019.

Wael Alshehri, A Tatler, A Alqarni, Mushabbab Alahmari, <u>Abdulrhman</u> <u>Alghamdi</u>, LPang. Effect of cigarette smoke extracts (CSE) and e-cigarette vapour extracts (ECVE) on the production of cytokines and chemokines in human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs). Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Madrid, Spain, 2019.

Abdulrhman Alghamdi, Abdullah Alqarni, Mushabbab Alahmari, Rochelle Edwards-Pritchard, Amanda Tatler, Linhua Pang. Effect of cigarette smoke extract and Th17 cytokine on the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in human airway smooth muscle cells. Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Barcelona, Spain, 2021.

Abdulrhman Alghamdi, Abdullah Alqarni, Mushabbab Alahmari, Amanda Tatler, Linhua Pang. Effect of cigarette smoke extract on Th17 inflammation and the anti-inflammatory effect of glucocorticoids in human airway smooth muscle cells. Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Barcelona, Spain, 2021.

Mushabbab Alahmari, **Abdulrhman Alghamdi**, Abdullah Alqarni, Amanda Tatler, Linhua Pang. Effect of cigarette smoke extract on IL-8 production and anti-inflammatory effect of corticosteroids in human airway smooth muscle cells. Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Barcelona, Spain, 2021.

Mushabbab Alahmari, <u>Abdulrhman Alghamdi</u>, Abdullah Alqarni, Amanda Tatler, Linhua Pang. Effect of cigarette smoke extract on inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production in human airway smooth muscle cells. Accepted for poster presentation at the European Respiratory Society International Congress, Barcelona, Spain, 2021.

Publications

Abdullah A. Alqarni, Oliver J. Brand, Alice Pasini, Mushabbab Alahmari, Abdulrhman Alghamdi, Linhua Pang

Imbalanced prostanoid release mediates cigarette smoke-induced human pulmonary artery cell proliferation.

Respir Res **23**, 136 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-022-02056-z

<u>Awards</u>

An excellence award from the Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia Cultural Bureau, 2021 and 2022.

Abbreviations

<u>A</u>

AA	Arachidonic acid
AC	Adenylyl cyclase
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness

<u>B</u>

BALs	Bronchoalveolar lavages
BTC	British Thoracic Society
β2M	βeta-2-Microglobulin
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin

<u>C</u>

cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COX	Cyclooxygenase
COX-1	Cyclooxygenase-1
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CS	Cigarette smoke
CSE	Cigarette smoke extract
СТ	Cycle threshold
cDNA	Complementary DNA

D

DALYs	Disability-adjusted life years lost
DAN	2, 3-diaminonaphthalene
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
DMEM-	DMEM with 0.5% FBS
DMEM+	DMEM with 20% FBS
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease
dNTP <u>E</u>	Deoxynucleotide triphosphate dsDNA
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ERS ELISA E	European Respiratory Society Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
FEV1	Forced expiratory volume (in one second)
FVC	Forced vital capacity
FW <u>G</u>	Forward
GAPDH GSH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Glutathione
GR-beta <u>H</u>	Glucocorticoid receptor-beta (GR-beta)
HASMCs	Human airway smooth muscle cells
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
L	
IC ₅₀	Half-maximal inhibitory concentration IL-1 β Interleukin-1 β
IL-4	Interleukin-4
IL-5	Interleukin-5
IL-6 II -8	Interleukin-6
IL-13	Interleukin-13
IP-10	Interferon gamma-induced protein 10
ICS	Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS)
L	
LABA	Long-acting β2-agonist
LTRA	Leukotriene receptor antagonist
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide

M

MCh	Methacholine
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium
bromide MDB <u>N</u>	Membrane desalting buffer
nAChR	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
NSAID	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
<u>R</u>	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RIPA	Radio-immunoprecipitation assay
RT	Reverse transcription
RT-qPC	R Reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain
reaction	
RV	Reverse
<u>s</u>	
SABA	Short-acting β2-adrenoreceptor agonists
SEM	Standard error of the mean
I	
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline plus tween 20
<u>v</u>	
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
<u>w</u>	
WHO	World Health Organization
WST-1	Water-soluble tetrazolium-1

Abstract

Background: Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways. Airway inflammation in asthma can be broadly classified as Type 2 (T2 or Th2-high), which responds well to glucocorticoids, or non-Type 2 (non-T2 or Th2-low), known to be insensitive to glucocorticoids, based on their cellular profile. Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) play a role in the inflammatory process in asthma by expressing a wide range of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Asthmatic smokers tend to have non-T2 airway inflammation and do not respond to glucocorticoids as effectively as nonsmokers. Cigarette smoke (CS) and the Th17 cytokine IL-17A contribute to the non-T2 inflammatory response, but it is unknown how CS and IL-17A affect the T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs. Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and its downstream product prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), as well as oxidative stress, are involved in inflammatory responses. There is evidence that CSE induces COX-2 expression and PGE2 production in different cell types, including HASMCs. We hypothesise that CSE and IL-17A can affect T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses through the COX-2/PGE2 pathway via oxidative stress in HASMCs and may contribute to glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthma.

Methods: CSE was prepared from the smoke of two research cigarettes bubbled into 20 ml of cell culture medium. Western blotting and real-time RT-PCR were used to assess the protein and mRNA expression of genes, respectively. ELISA and Bio-Plex assays were used to assess the production

of the T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines. Statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism 9.

Results: CSE induced production of the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-8 but inhibited production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, including Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 and eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES in HASMCs. IL-17A stimulated the production of IL-8, Th2 cytokines and eosinophil chemokines. CSE inhibited IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines and eosinophilic chemokines but significantly enhanced IL-17A-induced production of IL-8. The oxidative stress inhibitor glutathione (GSH) reversed the inhibition of IL-13 production by CSE and had no effect on the inhibition of IL-4 production. GSH reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 and IL-5 but not IL-13. GSH reversed the inhibition of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES production by CSE. The COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 reversed the inhibition of the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by CSE. CSE, but not IL-17A, induced the protein and mRNA expression of COX-2 and PGE₂ release. GSH inhibited CSE-induced COX-2 expression and PGE2 release, suggesting that CSEinduced COX-2 expression is mediated by oxidative stress. Our findings showed that exogenous PGE₂ alone had no effect on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, except Eotaxin, but inhibited IL-17A-induced production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. The prostaglandin EP2 receptor antagonist PF 04418948 and EP₄ receptor antagonist L-161,982 reversed the inhibition of IL-4 and IL-13 production by CSE. PF 04418948 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 and IL-5. L-161,982 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production

of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. PF 04418948 and L-161,982 reversed the inhibition of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES production by CSE on its own and together with IL-17A stimulation. The cAMP analogue 8-Bromo-cAMP reduced the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines after stimulation with IL-17A but had no effect on its own on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines except Eotaxin. CSE induced production of IL-8 was inhibited by fluticasone. CSE reduced the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced IL-8 production.

Conclusion: Results from this thesis showed for the first time that CSE can modify the inflammatory responses in HASMCs, promoting a shift from glucocorticoid-sensitive T2 to glucocorticoid-insensitive non-T2 inflammatory response by suppressing T2 inflammatory cytokine production and promoting the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-8 production. Interestingly, Th17 cytokine IL-17A can enhance T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses by stimulating their cytokine production in HASMCs. Our results also demonstrated that CSE suppresses T2 inflammatory response largely through a COX-2/PGE2/EP2/EP4/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress. Our findings suggest that targeting this pathway may be of great potential for the development of novel treatments for asthmatic smokers.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	22
1.1 Asthma Definition, Diagnosis and Treatment	
1.1.1. Definition	23
1.1.2. Asthma Prevalence, Mortality and Morbidity	23
1.1.3. Diagnosis	24
1.1.4. Treatment	24
1.2. Airway Inflammation	27
1.2.1 T2 inflammation in asthma	29
1.2.2 Th2 cytokines	31
1.2.3 Eosinophils chemokines	32
1.2.4 Biological therapies targeting T2 inflammation	34
1.2.5 Non-T2 inflammation in asthma	34
1.2.6 Non-T2 cytokines	35
1.3. Human airway smooth muscle cells and airway inflammation	39
1.3.1 Synthetic function of HASMCs	39
1.3.2 Role of HASMCs in airway inflammation	41
1.3.3 HASMCs and T2 airway inflammation	42
1.3.4 HASMCs and non-T2 airway inflammation	43
1.4. Cigarette smoke and airway inflammation in asthma	45
1.4.1 Cigarette smoke and T2 airway inflammation	46
1.4.2 Cigarette smoke and non-T2 airway inflammation	47
1.5. Role of oxidative stress in airway inflammation in asthma	48
1.5.1 Cigarette smoke and oxidative stress in airway inflammation	49
1.6. Role of COX-2, PGE ₂ and cyclic AMP in airway inflammation	50
1.6.1 COX-2	51
1.6.2 PGE ₂	52
1.6.3 Cyclic AMP	53
1.7. Airway inflammation and glucocorticoids	55
1.7.1 Glucocorticoids in asthma	55
1.7.2. T2 airway inflammation and glucocorticoids	57
1.7.3. Non-T2 airway inflammation and glucocorticoids	57
1.7.3. Cigarette smoke and glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthma	59
1.8. Summary	61

1.9. Hypothesis and Aims	
1.9.1 Hypothesis	62
1.9.2 Aims	62
Chapter 2. Methods and Materials	63
2.1 Introduction	64
2.2 Cigarette smoke extract preparation	64
2.3 Drug preparation	64
2.3.1 (-)-Nicotine	64
2.3.2 MG 624	65
2.3.3 L-Glutathione (GSH)	65
2.3.4 NS-398	
2.3.5 Prostaglandin E ₂ (PGE ₂)	
2.3.6 PF 04418948	66
2.3.7 L-161,982	67
2.3.8 8-Bromo-cAMP	67
2.3.9 Salbutamol	67
2.3.10 Fluticasone	68
2.4 Cell culture	
2.4.1 Cell freezing	69
2.4.2 Cell counting	70
2.4.3 Cell treatment	70
2.4.4 Cell lysate preparation	71
2.5. Bicinchoninic acid protein assay	71
2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	71
2.6.1 Assay procedure	72
2.7 Bio-Plex ProTM Human Cytokine Assays	73
2.8 PGE ₂ ELISA	74
2.8.1 Method	75
2.9 Real-time reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase analysis	chain reaction 76
2.9.1 Principle	76
2.9.2 Total RNA isolation	76
2.9.3 RNA quantification	77
2.9.4 Reverse transcription (RT)	
2.9.5 Specificity of the primers	79
2.9.6 qPCR	79

2.10 Western blotting	81
2.10.1 Principle	81
2.10.2 Method	82
2.10.2.1 Running step	82
2.10.2.2 Transferring step	82
2.10.2.3 Blocking and antibody incubation	83
2.10.2.4 Detection step	83
2.11. Cell viability assay	
2.12. Statistical analysis and IC50 calculation	85
Chapter 3. Effect of cigarette smoke extract and IL-17A on product gene expression of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines in huma smooth muscle cells	t ion and an airway 86
3.1 Introduction	87
3.2 Aims	89
3.3 Methods	90
3.3.2 Timeline for experiments 3.4 Results	90
3.4.1 Effect of CSE on the production of different inflammatory means HASMCs	diators in 91
3.4.2 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of IL-8	94
3.4.3 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of Th2 cytokines	96
3.4.4 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of eosinophil chemokine	es 99
3.4.5 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of Th2 cytokines	102
3.4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of eosinophil chemol	cines 105
3.5 Discussion	108
3.5.1 Role of CSE in airway inflammation in HASMCs	110
3.5.2 Role of IL-17A in airway inflammation in HASMCs	114
Chapter 4. Mechanisms of CSE effect on the production of T2 infla cytokines in human airway smooth muscle cells	mmatory 117
4.1 Introduction	118
4.2 Aims	120
4.3 Methods	121
4.4 Results	123
4.4.1 Role of nicotine on the production of Th2 cytokines	123
4.4.2 Role of nicotine on the production of eosinophil chemokines	125
4.4.3 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cyto production	kine 127

	4.4.4 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil chemokine production
	4.4.5 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production 131
	4.4.6 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil chemokine production
	4.4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA and protein expression of COX-2 and PGE ₂ production
	4.4.9 Effect of exogenous PGE2 on the production of Th2 cytokines 142
	4.4.13 Effect of exogenous PGE ₂ on the production of eosinophilic chemokines 145
	4.4.10 Effect of the prostaglandin EP_2 and EP_4 receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production
	4.4.11 Effect of the prostaglandin EP_2 and EP_4 receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of eosinophilic chemokine production
	4.4.12 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of Th2 cytokines
Л	4.4.13 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of eosinophil chemokines 154
4.	4 5 1 Cigarette smoke nicotine and oxidative stress 158
	4.5.2 Cigarette smoke, COX-2 and PGE ₂
Cha of g	apter 5. Impact of cigarette smoke extract on the anti-inflammatory effect lucocorticoids in human airway smooth muscle cells
5.	1 Introduction
5.	2 Aim
5.	3 Methods 170
5.	4 Results
	5.4.1 Effect of fluticasone on CSE- and IL-17A-induced the production of IL-8 171
	5.4.2 Effect of fluticasone on (CSE + IL-17A)-induced the production of IL-8 174
	5.4.3 CSE impact on the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced IL-8 production

5.5 C	Discussion	178
Chapt	er 6. General discussion, limitations, future directions, and	
conclu	usions	
7.1 0	General discussion	182
7.2 0	Conclusion	
7.2 L	imitations and future directions	
Chapt	er 7. Appendix	
7. Ta	bles of Materials	190
7.:	1 Materials for cells culture and MTT cell viability assay	190
7.2	2 cigarette smoke extract material	191
7.3	3 Table of Drugs	191
7.4	4 Buffers and reagents	194
7.	5 Kits	197
7.0	6 Antibodies	198
7.	7 Materials	198
7.8	Cell viability	199
7.9 F	lousekeeping gene β2M	201
7.11	Effect of β_2 -agonist (Salbutamol) on T2 inflammatory response in HASM	1Cs 202
Refe	rence	204

List of figures:

Figure 1.1 Management steps for patients with asthma
Figure 1.2 Effects of Th2 cytokines in asthma
Figure 1.3. Effects of Th17 cytokines on the airways
Figure 1.4. Schematic diagram of overview of the role of HASMCs in
asthma
Figure 1.5 The effects of cigarette smoking on the airway 45
Figure 1.5. COX-2 pathway
Figure 3.1 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on production of different inflammatory
mediators
Figure 3.2 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on production of IL-8
Figure 3.3 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IL-4
Figure 3.4 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IL-5
Figure 3.5 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IL-13
Figure 3.6 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of Eotaxin 100
Figure 3.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IP-10 100
Figure 3.8 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of RANTES 101
Figure 3.9 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of IL-4 103
Figure 3.10 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of IL-5 103
Figure 3.11 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of IL-13 104
Figure 3.12 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of Eotaxin . 106
Figure 3.13 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of IP-10 106
Figure 3.14 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of RANTES
Figure 4.1 Role of nicotine on the production of Th2 cytokines 124
Figure 4.2 Role of nicotine on the production of eosinophil chemokines 126
Figure 4.3 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2
cytokine production
Figure 4.4 Effect of the Oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of
eosinophil chemokine production
Figure 4.5 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine
production

Figure 4.6 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil
chemokine production
Figure 4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the protein expression of COX-2
Figure 4.8 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of COX-2
Figure 4.9 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on PGE ₂ production
Figure 4.10 Effect of oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE induced protein
expression of COX-2
Figure 4.11 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE-induced PGE ₂ production
Figure 4.12 Effect of exogenous PGE ₂ on the production of Th2 cytokines
Figure 4.13 Effect of exogenous PGE ₂ on the production of eosinophil
Figure 4.44 Effect of the prestorier field of ED, and ED, recenters enterprist
Figure 4.14 Effect of the prostagiandin EP_2 and EP_4 receptors antagonist
on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production
Figure 4.15 Effect of prostaglandin EP_2 and EP_4 receptors antagonist on
CSE inhibition of eosinophilic chemokine production
Figure 4.16 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of Th2 cytokines
Figure 4.17 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of eosinophil
chemokines
Figure 4.18 Mechanisms of CSE effect on T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs
Figure 5.4.1 Effect of fluticasone on CSE- and IL -17A-induced the
production of IL-8
Figure 5.4.2 Effect of fluticasone on (CSE + IL-17A)-induced the production
of IL-8
Figure 5.4.3 Comparison of the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on (CSF and
IL-17A)- and IL-17A-induced IL-8 production
Figure 7.8.1 Effect of CSE on Cell Viability

Figure 7.8.2 Effect of fluticasone with CSE and IL-17A on Cell Viability.2	200
Figure 7.9.1 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of the	
housekeeping gene β 2M in HASMCs	201
Figure 7.11.1 Effect of salbutamol on the production of Th2 cytokines 2	202
Figure 7.11.2 Effect of salbutamol on the production of Th2 cytokines	203

List of tables:

Table 1.1 The main endotypes of airway inflammation in asthma 28		
Table 1.3 Effects of glucocorticoids on airway smooth muscle cells in		
asthma	5	
Table 2.1 List of human airway smooth muscle cells)	
Table 2.2. Cross-reactivity of PGE ₂ ELISA kit	1	
Table 2.3. List of a SuperScript™ IV Reverse Transcriptase primers78	3	
Table 2.4. List of RT reaction mixture 78	3	
Table 2.5. Summary of thermal profile of the qPCR reaction)	
Table 2.6. List of the target gene and their forward and reverse primer		
sequences		
Table 3.1 Summary table of the main findings of Chapter 3 109)	
Table 4.1 Summary for the drugs effect 157	7	

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Asthma Definition, Diagnosis and Treatment

1.1.1. Definition

Asthma is a common chronic disorder of the airways affecting around 1-18% of the population in different countries, and around 339 million people worldwide are suffering from this disease (1, 2). Asthma disease is characterised by variable and recurring symptoms, airflow obstruction, bronchial hyperresponsiveness, and an underlying inflammation (1, 3). Asthma is considered an umbrella diagnosis for a collection of varying endotypes and phenotypes, all of which manifest with wheezing, shortness of breath, chest tightness, and cough along with variable airflow obstruction. However, the diverseness of asthma results in different responses to treatment (4).

1.1.2. Asthma Prevalence, Mortality and Morbidity

It is estimated that the number of asthmatic patients will increase by 100 million in 2025 (5, 6). 5.4 million people were diagnosed with asthma in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2018, of which 4.3 million were adults and 1.1 million were children (7). Asthma affects approximately 1 in every 11 people in the UK (7).

In 2015, 383,000 people died because of asthma worldwide, which increased to 420,000 in the following year (2, 6). In 2019, asthma caused around 455,000 deaths around the world (8). In the UK, 1410 people died because of asthma in 2016 (7). It is estimated that 3 people die every day due to asthma attacks in the UK (7). The mortality rate has increased around the world, and the UK has one of the worst asthma death rates in Europe,

with the rate of people died from an asthma attack increased by more than 20% in five years (2011 to 2015) (7).

Asthma imposes a huge burden on the health care systems and patients across the world. The estimated disability-adjusted life years lost (DALYs) due to asthma was 23.7 million worldwide and across all ages in 2016 (2). Further, asthma is one of the top-ranked causes of years lived with a disability and a major leading cause of the disease burden (2). In 2018, there was at least one admission to the hospital because of an asthma attack every 8 minutes in the UK, and the estimated annual cost to treat and manage asthma in National Health Service is more than £1.1 billion (7).

1.1.3. Diagnosis

In clinical practice, spirometry is the gold standard diagnostic tool for asthma patients (1). Spirometry is used to evaluate lung function by measuring forced expiratory volume per second (FEV₁) to the forced vital capacity (FVC). Asthmatic patients have a lower FEV₁ (<80% predicted) along with a decrease in FEV1/FVC ratio (<75% predicted), confirming the airflow limitation (1, 9). The reversibility of airflow obstruction is a strong indicator of asthma with the use of bronchodilators or glucocorticoids, so an improvement by more than 400 ml in FEV₁ indicates underlying asthma (10) After confirming the diagnosis, the treatment plan should be initiated in order to control the disease symptoms and prevent exacerbation.

1.1.4. Treatment

The treatment plan for asthmatic patients includes short-acting β 2adrenoreceptor agonists (SABA) such as salbutamol (11) and low-dose of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS). The SABA are used as bronchodilators to relieve acute asthma symptoms. Asthmatic patients are also recommended

to use low-dose of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) like fluticasone as preventer treatment for obtaining overall therapy goals (12) by reducing the incidence of asthma exacerbations and improving asthma symptom control. In some asthmatics, the low-dose ICS may not be enough to keep certain asthma under control; therefore, inhaled long-acting β 2-agonist (LABA) such as salmeterol is the first approach as an add-on treatment to ICS in adults, and it should be considered prior to increase the dose of ICS (12). Adding the LABA to ICS improves symptoms and lung function of asthmatics while decreasing asthma attacks (12). If asthma for some patients remains uncontrolled after adding a LABA, then increase the dose of ICS from low to medium or consider alternative therapies like the leukotriene receptor antagonist (LTRA) (12) (Figure 1.1).

There are some other specialist therapies to control asthma such as leukotriene receptor antagonists or theophylline, also known as 1,3dimethylxanthine, which is a phosphodiesterase inhibiting drug used in the treatment of lung disease including asthma (11, 13). The leukotriene receptor antagonists such as zafirlukast and montelukast are used as maintenance therapy to treat chronic asthma (14). However, they are less effective than inhaled glucocorticoids, particularly for exacerbation reduction, but they may be appropriate for some patients who are unable or unwilling to use inhaled glucocorticoids or for patients who experience intolerable side effects (13). Theophylline has been used to treat asthma as a bronchodilator (15). Theophylline is a potential alternative to SABA for relieving asthma symptoms (13). However, theophylline has a slower onset of action and a higher risk of side effects than short-acting β 2-agonists (13).



Figure 1.1 Management steps for patients with asthma

This diagram illustrates the management steps for asthmatics as per the national clinical guideline provided by the British Thoracic Society (BTS). Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) inhaled long-acting β 2 agonists (LABA) and short-acting β 2 agonists (SABA) (12).

1.2. Airway Inflammation

Asthma has different endotypes, pathologies, responses to treatment and triggers. Airway inflammation is a hallmark pathological feature of asthma, described by airway inflammatory infiltrate including eosinophils, neutrophils, T lymphocytes and mast cells (16-18). An important understanding of the development of airway inflammation in asthmatics came when CD4+ T cells were discovered and classified into two distinct types based on T helper cells (Type 1 and Type 2) which could be distinguished based on their cytokine secretion profile [30]. Th1 cells are mainly responsible for secreting interleukin-2 (IL-2), interferon- γ and lymphotoxin- α . Th2 cells secrete cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, and IL-13, which play an important role in the inflammatory process and pathophysiology of asthma.

Airway inflammation can be divided into two types: type 2 (T2), also known as Th2 high, and non-T2, also known as Th2 low (Table 1.1) [19]. Around 50% of patients with asthma have a T2 airway inflammation, whereas the remaining patients have a non-T2 airway inflammation or mixed eosinophil and neutrophilic inflammation, which is commonly found in severe asthma (19). T2 airway inflammation is defined by increased eosinophilic counts in the sputum, airway and blood, and the best way to determine this type of inflammation is by sputum cellular profiles (20). Eosinophil levels higher than 2-3% in sputum can be defined as T2 asthma (20). There is no cut-off for eosinophil count in the airway, but a clinical study demonstrated that asthmatic patients with T2 airway inflammation showed an average of 20 eosinophils/mm2 of tissue (interquartile range, 16-31 eosinophils/mm2)

(21). T2 inflammation is characterised by the upregulation of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, and IL-5 in asthma (22). Eosinophilic chemokines such as Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES are involved in the recruitment of eosinophils at the allergic inflammatory site (23). Activation of eosinophils and Th2 cells amplified the T2 inflammatory response characteristic for allergy and asthma (24).

Asthmatic patients with a non-T2 type of inflammation are differentiated based on the counts of sputum neutrophils ranging from as low as 40% to as high as 70% (20). We know from the available literature that the increase of non-T2 inflammation in asthmatic patients positively correlates with the increase in IL-8 levels [1]. IL-8 has also been detected in the serum and bronchial tissue of an asthmatic patient with severe asthma.

 Table 1.1 The main endotypes of airway inflammation in asthma

	T2 airway inflammation	Non-T2 airway inflammation
Description	Allergic/ Eosinophilic/ Th2- high	Th2-low / Neutrophilic / Smoking related
Cytokine and chemokines	Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13) Eosinophil chemokines (Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES)	Neutrophile chemoattractant (IL-8, IL-6 and GRO-α) Th17 cytokines (e.g. IL-17A)
Biomarkers	Eosinophils	Neutrophils
Treatment	Glucocorticoids, anti-IgE or anti-IL-4, IL-5, or IL-13	High dose of glucocorticoids, antibiotics, Smoking cessation

This table illustrates the main endotypes of airway inflammation of asthma (T2 and non-T2), the key cytokines and chemokines for each type, the biomarkers for each type (e.g., eosinophils and neutrophils) and the most common treatments for each.

1.2.1 T2 inflammation in asthma

Th2 cells play an integral role in the T2 airway inflammation process and pathophysiology of asthma by secreting inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. These cytokines are responsible for eosinophilia, overproduction of IgE and airway hyperresponsiveness, all observed in the airways of asthmatic patients (25). IL-5 has a crucial pathogenic role in eosinophil differentiation, recruitment and survival; therefore plays a pivotal role in the pathophysiology of T2 inflammation in asthma (26). IgE has an important role in allergic asthma as it mediates allergen-initiated bronchoconstriction and plays a part in the development of airway inflammation (25, 27). Cytokines produced by Th2 cells (e.g., IL-4 and IL-13) enhance the production of IgE antibodies, which then attach to cells via highaffinity IgE receptors (FccR1) (28, 29). FccR1 is expressed in different inflammatory cells such as mast cells and basophils, which are key mediators in T2 inflammation (30). Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) possess high-affinity IgE receptors (31), suggesting HASMCs may participate in T2 inflammation in asthma.

Th2 cytokines drive the recruitment of mast cells, basophils and eosinophils and induce isotype switching of B cells to produce IgE after exposure to antigens. Eosinophilic inflammation and IgE synthesis are therefore encompassed in T2 inflammation in asthma. Airway structural cells such as HASMCs can produce Th2 cytokines (32). It has also been shown that Th2 cytokines can be produced by other cell types, such as NK

cells, type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s), and even Th1 cells under certain conditions (33) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Effects of Th2 cytokines in asthma.

Th2 cytokines drive the recruitment of eosinophils and are also central to many of the hallmarks of asthma, including mucus production, smooth muscle hypertrophy, subepithelial fibrosis, bronchial remodelling, and airway obstruction and hyperresponsiveness (34).

Eosinophils are a hallmark of T2 asthma and play an important role in airway inflammation (35), and some asthmatics have shown elevated eosinophil counts in their airways (25, 27), sputum (36) and blood (37). Chemokines are selective in their recruitment of inflammatory cells; for instance, Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES mostly recruit eosinophils (38). Eosinophils are produced in the bone marrow from pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (39). IL-5 was identified as a factor that promotes differentiation and proliferation of eosinophils in the bone marrow (40). Cooperation between eosinophil chemokines and IL-5 stimulates the fast build-up of eosinophils in tissues exposed to an allergen (41). It is suggested that eosinophils can contribute to airways bronchoconstriction, mucus production, and tissue damage (42)

1.2.2 Th2 cytokines

Th2 cytokines play an integral role in the process of inflammation in asthma by recruiting inflammatory cells in the airways. There is a range of cytokines produced by Th2 cells, such as IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. HASMCs are shown to produce Th2 cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-13 (32) and eosinophil chemokines like Eotaxin (43), IP-10 (44) and RANTES (45, 46), which contribute to T2 airway inflammation in asthma. Alarmins such as IL-25, IL-33 and Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) which are released from tissue cells are playing a role in T2 inflammatory response in asthma (47).

IL-4 induces important pro-inflammatory functions in asthma, which include induction of the IgE isotype switch, promotion of eosinophil transmigration in the endothelium, mucus production, and differentiation of T2 lymphocytes leading to cytokine release (48). A study showed that IL-4 levels in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of mild T2 asthmatics were increased after the 18h allergen challenge (49). Stimulation with IL-25 increased IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 production in mice resulting in increased blood eosinophils, IgE production, mucus production, and AHR (50). These observations suggest that IL-4 plays an important role in the T2 inflammatory response in asthma.

T cells from lung tissue samples of asthmatic patients have been shown to express a high level of IL-5 mRNA, which is associated with an increase in disease severity as well as eosinophil count (51-53). The use of

therapies targeting IL-5 signalling (anti-IL-5) showed a reduction in blood eosinophils and improved lung function (54). Therapies targeting IL-5 such mepolizumab, reslizumab, and benralizumab, minimised asthma as exacerbations and improved lung function in patients with severe T2 airway inflammation and poor control (55). Intravenous IL-5 enhanced the accumulation of eosinophils induced by intradermal injection of eotaxin in guinea pigs, suggesting cooperation between eosinophil chemokine and IL-5 simulated fast build-up of eosinophils in tissues exposed to an allergen (41). These studies illustrate that IL-5 is а key mediator in eosinophil activation, which may contribute to the T2 inflammatory response in asthma.

IL-13 is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by Th2, mast cells and basophils and is thought to be involved in many of the features of asthma, such as airway hyperresponsiveness (56, 57). IL-13 is implicated with T2 airway inflammation and has been recognised as a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of asthma. IL-13 level was increased in sputum, peripheral blood, bronchial sub-mucosa, and airway smooth muscle bundle of patients with asthma (58). Persistent elevation of IL-13 may contribute to refractory asthma, and therefore anti-IL-4/IL-13 therapies could be effective in those patients (59).

1.2.3 Eosinophils chemokines

Eotaxin is a small protein which is a potent chemoattractant for eosinophils and can be produced by HASMCs (60). Eotaxin induces eosinophil migration from pulmonary small blood vessels by acting on the CCR3 receptor, which found on the surface of leukocyte cell (61). The

production of Eotaxin by HASMCs is increased when stimulated with proinflammatory cytokines like Th2 cytokines, such as IL-13 (43). Eotaxin production has been shown to be increased in samples collected from bronchial mucosa of asthmatic patients (62, 63). Moreover, Eotaxin levels are also markedly increased in the sputum and plasma of patients with asthma compared to healthy subjects (64) and showed HASMCs have the ability to produce Eotaxin and could thereby contribute to the recruitment of eosinophils in the airways of asthmatic patients (60).

IP-10 is a small 10.8kD protein that is produced by different cell types. A study showed that the overexpression of IP-10 in the lung contributed to the development of AHR and a T2 inflammatory response, while a reduction of IP-10 showed a reduction of T2 airway inflammation (65). A study showed that IP-10 was expressed by asthmatic ASM in bronchial biopsies and ex vivo cells compared with healthy subjects (44). IP-10 levels were higher in BALF from asthmatic patients compared with non-smoker subjects (66). The production of IP-10 in HASMCs stimulated by a mixture of cytokines like IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IFN- γ is greater in cells obtained from asthmatic patients than in cells from healthy subjects (67).

Regulated upon Activation, Normal T cell Expressed, and Secreted (RANTES) is an 8-kDa polypeptide of the C-C chemokine subfamily. RANTES play a role in T2 airway inflammation as it is a potent chemoattractant for eosinophils (38, 68). TNF α and IL-1 β stimulated the production of RANTES in HASMCs (45, 46). RANTES levels in plasma are significantly increased during acute asthma attacks compared to that in

healthy subjects (69). In addition, RANTES levels in plasma are higher during asthma attacks than in asymptomatic asthma patients (69).

1.2.4 Biological therapies targeting T2 inflammation

In terms of the development of relevant biologic therapies, T2 is the most well-defined asthma endotype. The biologic therapies that have been authorised and the majority of those in development aim to target T2 airway inflammation. IL5 is the key cytokine responsible for activating eosinophils, which promote airway inflammation and are a hallmark of asthma. Studies demonstrate that monoclonal antibodies targeting IL5 or its receptor IL5R, such as mepolizumab, reslizumab, and benralizumab, minimised asthma exacerbations and improved lung function in patients with severe T2 airway inflammation and poor control (55). Different clinical trials worldwide have shown that difficult-to-treat asthmatic patients can benefit greatly from using mepolizumab (70). The anti-IgE drug, omalizumab, reduced the allergen response in asthmatic patients, which may reduce T2 inflammation (71). In addition, the anti-IgE treatment improved asthma control and decreased the severity of asthma exacerbations in patients with severe T2 asthma (72). Dupilumab is a monoclonal antibody that inhibits both IL-4 and IL-13 pathways by binding to the IL-4 receptor alpha-subunit (73). To date, the types of biologics licensed for use with severe asthma patients are omalizumab, mepolizumab, reslizumab, benralizumab and dupilumab (73).

1.2.5 Non-T2 inflammation in asthma

There is no clear definition of non-T2 inflammation in asthma. However, the non-T2 airway inflammation in asthma is characterised by neutrophilic inflammation, which tends to be less sensitive to glucocorticoids and involves various asthma phenotypes such as smoking or occupational exposures (74). Research on healthy controls suggested that the average range of neutrophil percentages in the sputum is between 30 and 50% (75, 76). A study showed that most asthma exacerbations are non-T2, and patients with non-T2 exacerbations are mainly neutrophilic (68% neutrophils and 0.3% eosinophils) (77). IL-8 may promote the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of inflammation, which contributes to the non-T2 inflammatory response in asthma (78).

Increased neutrophils and T helper 17 cells (Th17) are a subset of T helper cells which defined by their production of interleukin 17 (IL-17) and have been linked to moderate and severe asthma phenotypes (79). The non-T2 inflammation in asthma is more strongly associated with the presence of Th17 cells (80). In fact, IL-17A and IL-17F are overexpressed in asthmatics' lung tissue, and their levels correlate with the severity of asthma, especially in patients with non-T2 inflammation and glucocorticoid resistance (81). Several studies demonstrated that some severe asthmatic patients had been linked to non-T2 inflammation and showed an increase in the production of the Th17 cytokines IL-17A and IL-17F (82). IL-17A and IL-17F can stimulate human airway epithelial cells to produce chemokines like GRO- α and IL-8, which may trigger neutrophil infiltration (82). IL-17A can contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation by attracting and activating neutrophils (83). These studies demonstrated that Th17 cells, by their ability to recruit the neutrophils, may play a role in the non-T2 inflammatory response.

1.2.6 Non-T2 cytokines

IL-8 is a neutrophilic chemoattractant that plays an integral role in the initiation of the non-T2 inflammatory response in the airways (84, 85). An

increase in non-T2 inflammation in asthmatic patients positively correlates with the increase in IL-8 levels (85). HASMCs have been shown to produce IL-8 in response to inflammatory mediators, such as TNFα (98). IL-8 protein and mRNA expression were higher in isolated HASMCs taken from patients with asthma than in non-asthmatic individuals (86). IL-8 is upregulated in isolated bronchial epithelium from symptomatic asthmatic patients (87). Patients with severe acute asthma have 19 times higher levels of IL-8 in samples from tracheal aspirates, which positively correlated with the number of neutrophils than those obtained from healthy subjects (88). IL-8 has also been detected in the serum and bronchial tissue of asthmatic patients with a severe form of asthma, but it was undetectable in normal subjects and patients with mild asthma (89). These studies suggest that IL-8 is involved in non-T2 airway inflammation, and the level of IL-8 could be an indicator of asthma severity.

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine which acts as a pro-inflammatory mediator (90). IL-6 is primarily produced by the innate immune systems cells, but it has been reported that structural cells such as HASMCs can produce IL-6 (45, 91). There are many studies showing a high level of IL-6 in the serum and BAL fluid of patients with asthma, especially in an activated state of the disease (18, 91). IL-6 is involved in the differentiation of human Th17 cells (92). IL-17A enhances neutrophil migration by inducing the production of IL-6 in bronchial epithelial cells (93). These studies showed that IL-6 might contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation in asthma.

GRO- α /CXCL-1 is a chemokine which is structurally related to IL-8, but it is a more potent neutrophil chemoattractant than IL-8 (94). IL-17A
induced the production of the neutrophil chemoattractant GRO- α from airway epithelial cells and HASMCs, which may play a role in the non-T2 inflammation of severe forms of asthma (95, 96). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and TNF α induced GRO-A production and mRNA expression in bronchial epithelial cells (97). Furthermore, anti-inflammatory treatment (Fluticasone and Dexamethasone) minimally inhibited GRO- α α production in BEAS-2B cells (97). These results suggest that GRO- α may contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation, and it is insensitive to treatment with glucocorticoids.

Th17 cells secrete cytokines such as IL-17A, IL-17F and IL- 22 from humans (79). Th17 cytokines are considered an important regulator of non-T2 inflammation. IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 enhanced non-T2 inflammatory response, mucous cell metaplasia, and smooth muscle proliferation and migration (Figure 1.3) (79). IL-17A and the closely related IL-17F are linked to non-T2 inflammation by stimulating the production of the neutrophil chemoattractant GRO- α and IL-8 from airway epithelial cells and ASMCs and thereby may play a role in the non-T2 inflammatory response (95, 96). IL-17A is the major cytokine secreted by Th17 cells, which contributes to the development of airway neutrophilia and induces the production of many proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines from different cell types (17). For instance, IL-17A induced the production of IL-1 β and IL-6 from airway epithelial cells and endothelial cells, which leads to an increase in neutrophil infiltration (79). Overexpression of IL-17F in the airway of mice is associated with airway neutrophilia, the production of several cytokines, an increase in airway hyperreactivity, and mucus hypersecretion in asthma (98). Moreover, levels of IL-17A, IL-17F and IL22 are increased in bronchial biopsies and

bronchoalveolar lavage from severe and moderate asthmatic patients (79). The increase in Th17 cytokines level is positively correlated with asthma severity (79). Previous studies have demonstrated that IL-17 induced airway inflammation (99). IL-17 induced IL-8 from human bronchial smooth muscle cells and bronchial epithelial cells (100, 101). These studies demonstrate that Th17 cytokines contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation, which may lead to a severe form of asthma. The effect of IL-17A on the T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs is largely unknown.



Figure 1.3. Effects of Th17 cytokines on the airways

Figure 1.3. Th17 cytokines such as IL-17A, IL17F and IL-22 contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation and remodelling in asthma by increasing airway neutrophil infiltration, mucous cell metaplasia, and smooth muscle proliferation and migration (79).

1.3. Human airway smooth muscle cells and airway inflammation

1.3.1 Synthetic function of HASMCs

The pro-inflammatory action of HASMCs results from their synthetic functions and produces a number of inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (38, 102). HASMCs have been shown to produce some pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-1 β as well as some growth factors, such as VEGF, and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which contribute to airway remodelling (38). HASMCs also produce lipid mediators, like leukotrienes, which enhance bronchoconstriction, and prostanoids and isoprostanes, which can have a several effects on HASMC's tone (38). A summary for inflammatory mediators produced by HASMCs is shown in Table 1.2.

		RANTES		
	CCL 11/Ectavia			
	CCL2/MCP-1			
	CCL7			
	CCL8			
Chemokines	CCL17/TARC			
Onemokines	CXCL10/IP-10			
	CXCL8/IL-8			
	CXCL1			
	CXCL2			
	CXCL3			
	CX3CL1			
		PGD ₂		
		PGF _{2α}		
Lipid	Prostanoids	Thromboxane A ₂		
mediators		PGE ₂		
		PGI ₂		
	Leukotrienes	LTD ₄		
	Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)	MMP-2		
Growth and		MMP-9		
Remodelling		MMP-12		
Factors	Extracellular matrix	Fibronectin		
	components	Laminin		

Table.2. Inflammatory mediators produced by HASMCs

	Perlecan
	Chondroitin
Other	TGF-β
	CTGF
	VEGF
	PDGF
	IGF
	bFGF
	IL-6
	IL-5
Cytokipos	GM-CSF
Cytokines	Stem cell factor
	IL-1β
	IFN-γ
	Other

1.3.2 Role of HASMCs in airway inflammation

HASMCs produce a wide range of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which orchestrates the role of HASMCs in the inflammatory

process in asthma by recruiting and activating the mast cells, leukocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils (103). HASMCs contribute through their structural and contractile properties to the stabilisation and homeostasis of the airways system (104). The HASMCs also play an integral role in the pathology of asthma disease. For instance, they are involved in airway hyperresponsiveness and excessive bronchoconstriction by their contractile properties (105).



Figure 1.4. Schematic diagram of overview of the role of HASMCs in asthma HASMCs are involved in airway hyperresponsiveness by an exaggerated response to bronchoconstrictor stimuli; remodelling due to an increase in HASMCa mass and altered deposition of extracellular matrix; and inflammation by producing cytokines, chemokines and growth factors. HASMCs by these three features contribute to asthma symptoms. (106).

1.3.3 HASMCs and T2 airway inflammation

HASMCs are shown to produce Th2 cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-13 (32), eosinophil chemokines like Eotaxin (43), IP-10 (44) and RANTES (45,

46), which contribute to T2 inflammatory response in asthma. The release

of Th2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13 contributes to changes in HASMCs responsiveness, by increased cell proliferation or by hypertrophy of airway smooth muscle cell depending on the nature of the inflammatory stimulation in asthma, in asthma (32). IL-13 and IL-4 enhanced histamine-induced hyperresponsiveness of airway smooth muscle in vitro (107). IL-13 receptors are expressed in HASMCs and airway epithelial cells and studied demonstrated that IL-13 enhanced cholinergic-induced contractions of HASMCs in vitro (32, 108). IL-4 and IL-13 can contribute to airway inflammation by inducing cytokine release, such as the eosinophil chemoattractant Eotaxin in HASMCs (109). A study showed that IL-17A, involved mainly in inducing non-T2 inflammatory responses, may play a role in T2 inflammatory response by inducing Eotaxin production in HASMCs (110). However, the effect of IL-17A on the production of Th2 cytokines and other eosinophil chemokines in HASMCs is largely unknown. Taken together, HASMCs can produce some of the Th2 cytokines and eosinophil chemokines (T2 inflammatory cytokines), which may contribute to the T2 inflammatory response in asthma.

1.3.4 HASMCs and non-T2 airway inflammation

HASMCs have been shown to produce IL-8, which contributes to non-T2 inflammation, in response to inflammatory mediators, such as TNFα (111) and CSE (112). Studies demonstrated that isolated HASMCs from asthmatic patients produce a higher level of the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 than non-asthmatic (84, 88). HASMCs also have been shown to produce IL-6 and IL-8 in response to bradykinin, an asthmatic mediator (113, 114). Th17 cytokines are considered as an important regulator of neutrophilic inflammation.IL-17A and the closely related IL-17F are linked to non-T2 inflammation by induction of the production of the neutrophil chemoattractant GRO- α and IL-8 from HASMCs and thereby may play a role in the non-T2 inflammation in asthma (95, 96). IL-17A amplifies the synthetic function of HASMCs by enhancing TNF α -induced production of IL-6 from HASMCs. Taken together, Th17 cytokines may contribute to non-T2 inflammation and airway remodelling in asthma.

1.4. Cigarette smoke and airway inflammation in asthma

Cigarette smoke (CS) is an important cause of airway inflammation in asthmatic smokers (115). Studies have shown that CS and CS extract (CSE) induced the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in various experimental designs.



Figure 1.5 The effects of cigarette smoking on the airway

Cigarette smoke causes increased oxidative stress due to different mechanisms, including direct damage by radical species and the enhanced inflammatory response. Cigarette smoke can cause tissue damage, as there is evidenced by increased products of lipid peroxidation and degradation products of extracellular matrix proteins. Cigarette smoke also has an anti-inflammatory effect on the number of eosinophils and some inflammatory cytokines.

1.4.1 Cigarette smoke and T2 airway inflammation

The effect of CS on the T2 inflammatory response is unclear, and studies showed a different response to CS in the *in vivo* experimental models. It has been shown that CS can induce the production of the Th2 cytokine IL-4 in BALF from rats and, therefore, there possibility that may contribute to the T2 inflammatory response (116). IL-13 level was significantly increased in BAL of mice after CS exposure (117). IL-5 level was also increased in BAL after 4 days of CS exposure (118, 119). On the other hand, in vivo research found that CS inhibited the development of T2 airway inflammation by inhibiting the antigen-stimulated release of IL-4 in mice (120). Further, an *in vivo* study showed that CS attenuated house dust mite-mediated eosinophil response by reducing eosinophils in bronchoalveolar lavages (BALs) (121). An in vivo study showed that CS significantly reduced the number of eosinophils in BAL fluid of OVAchallenged mice, while in the same study, CS increased the number of neutrophils in nonallergic animals (122).

The effect of CS on the T2 inflammatory response in the *in vitro* studies showed a different response in the inflammatory cells and structural cells. An *in vitro* study demonstrated that cigarette smoke condensate (CSC) induced the production of IL-5 but not IL-13 in macrophage cells (123). A study showed that CSE (3% and 10%) increased the production of IL-4 and IL-5 in dendritic cells (124). CSE inhibited Eotaxin and RANTES production in HASMCs after stimulation with TNF α (125). Another study showed that CSE reduced LPS-induced production of IP-10 in an immortalised normal bronchial epithelial cell line (16-HBE) (126). These findings indicate that CSE may have a suppressive effect on the T2 inflammatory response in airway

structural cells. Considering HASMCs are an important source of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and play a role in the inflammatory process in asthma; therefore, it is crucial to explore the effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.

1.4.2 Cigarette smoke and non-T2 airway inflammation

The majority of asthmatic smokers have non-T2 airway inflammation in the airways (127). An *in vivo* study showed that CS increased the number of neutrophils in nonallergic animals (122). Non-T2 inflammation involves the upregulation of IL-8 via the NF- κ B pathway (78). IL-8 is crucial for the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of inflammation in the airways (128). CSE increased the production of IL-8 and GRO- α from HASMCs (129). IL-17A led to a slight increase in IL-8 production in human bronchial epithelial, but the co-treatment with CSE enhanced the IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 in human bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) (130), which may potentially further enhanced the non-T2 inflammatory response. CSE induced the production of IL-6 in human bronchial epithelial cells (131).

Th17 cytokines are generally regarded as an important regulator of non-T2 inflammation, and the non-T2 inflammatory response was augmented by IL-17A and IL-17F. CSE significantly induced the production of IL-17F in the human epithelial cells while induced IL-17A and IL-17F production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (132). Further, a study showed by using an ex-vivo explant culture system that CS increased IL-17A and IL-17F production from human lung parenchymal tissue (133). The production of IL-17A and neutrophil numbers were significantly increased in the bronchial mucosa of the asthmatic smokers compared to the nonsmokers (134). Asthmatic smokers also demonstrated a high IL-17A

concentration in sputum supernatant compared to non-smokers with asthma (135). These studies show that CS could contribute to the non-T2 inflammatory response by inducing its related cytokine production in asthma.

1.5. Role of oxidative stress in airway inflammation in asthma

Oxidative stress is characterised by the imbalance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and antioxidant defences (136). Oxidative stress plays a curial role in the pathogenesis of asthma (137). Oxidative stress exacerbates airway inflammation in bronchial asthma by producing a range of pro-inflammatory mediators, triggering bronchospasm and increasing bronchial hyperresponsiveness (138).

Endogenous and exogenous ROS, like superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical, hypohalite radical, and hydrogen peroxide, as well as reactive nitrogen species, such as nitric oxide, peroxynitrite, and nitrite, contribute to airway inflammation in asthma and are predictors of the disease severity (139). Asthma is also linked to reduced antioxidant defences such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione (139). Numerous mediators of asthma, such as lipid mediators, and chemokines, may act as triggers or promoters of ROS generation. Additionally, some environmental conditions associated with asthma, like air pollutants (for example, ozone and cigarette smoke), might lead to an increase in ROS formation in the airways (140-142). Glutathione (GSH) is the most important small molecular weight thiol produced in the lungs, which works together with its redox enzymes to provide an important antioxidant system (143).

1.5.1 Cigarette smoke and oxidative stress in airway inflammation

Oxidative stress is made up of reactive oxygen radicals, which are known as ROS and contribute to the pathogenesis of airway inflammation (144, 145). Studies have shown that CS causes oxidative stress leading to lung damage. CS induces oxidative stress in humans both directly and indirectly via the effect of free radicals that exist in the smoke or the inflammatory response resulting from smoking, respectively (146). CS induces oxidative stress (147), due to the high quantities of ROS contained in the cigarette (148). A study demonstrated that CSE caused oxidative stress in a number of alveolar epithelial cell lines and in primary human small airway epithelial cells by increasing levels of the oxidatve stress biomarker 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and decressing levels of the intracellular antioxidant glutathione (144). CSE enhanced heme-oxygenase-1, an intracellular indicator of oxidative stress, in HASMCs [7]. Chronic CSE exposure elevated the marker of oxidative stress Mn-SOD expression in human bronchial epithelial cell line BEAS-2B [19]. Acute CSE exposure also elevated oxidative stress in A549 cells (149).

In vitro and *in vivo* studies demonstrated a reduction of GSH in lung cells after acute exposure to CS (150, 151). Changes in the levels of GSH were shown to be due to redcution by acute smoking and after that enhanced activation of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ-GCS), which is the rate-limiting enzyme for GSH production (152, 153). Oxidative stress is a potential pathway that may mediate the CSE effect on cytokine production. For instance, a study showed that GSH inhibited CSE-induced production of IL-8 in HASMCs (112), suggesting that the effect of CSE on the production of non-T2 inflammatory response is dependent on oxidative stress. Further,

a study showed that CSE increased the intracellular levels of ROS and mediated non-T2 inflammatory response by increasing the production of IL-6 and IL-8 in bronchial epithelial cells (154). These studies illustrate that CS causes oxidative stress contributing to non-T2 airway inflammation and lung damage. However, the role of oxidative stress in the T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs is unknown.

1.6. Role of COX-2, PGE₂ and cyclic AMP in airway inflammation

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is a key enzyme in prostanoid synthesis and has two main isoforms, COX-1 and COX-2 (155). COX-1 is considered as a housekeeping gene, which is widely expressed in most cells and is responsible for prostanoid formation in physiological conditions, whereas COX-2 is inducible by a number of stimulants, including cytokines, and is responsible for the production of prostanoids at the site of inflammation (155). The COX enzyme converts arachidonic acid into prostaglandin H₂ (PGH₂), which is then metabolised into different prostanoids, such as prostacyclin (PGI₂), thromboxane A_2 (TXA₂), prostaglandin D_2 (PGD₂), prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂), and prostaglandin F_2 (PGF₂) (156). PGE₂ is the main prostanoid produced by HASMCs, which primarily has proinflammatory effects but also has some anti-inflammatory effects in the airways (156, 157). For instance, studies showed that exogenous PGE₂ have pro-inflammatory effects by increasing the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-6 and IL-8 production in HASMCs (158, 159) and fibroblast cells (160) while other study demonstrated that exogenous PGE_2 may have some

anti-inflammatory effects by inhibiting LPS-induced TNFa and IL-6 production in mouse and human monocytes (161).





Figure 1.6. COX-2 pathway

COX-1 and COX-2 convert arachidonic acid into PGH₂. PGH₂ is converted to multiple prostanoids; PGI₂, TXA₂, PGD₂, PGE₂, and PGF₂. PGE₂ signals via four known receptors (EP1 - EP4). The inhibitors of COX-2 signaling pathway include nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and COX-2 selective inhibitors (NS-398). Prostaglandin EP2 and EP4 receptors are linked to the stimulation of the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), which is responsible for major suppressive and regulatory functions of PGE2, signalling by activating adenylate cyclase. Adapted from (162).

1.6.1 COX-2

A variety of airway microenvironmental mediators have been shown to stimulate COX-2 and enhance COX-2-mediated prostanoid production in cells involved in airway inflammation. A study demonstrated that HASMCs under control conditions (untreated cells) did not express protein expression of COX-2 (163). However, a cytokine mixture of TNF α , IL-1 β and IFN γ induced protein and mRNA expression of COX-2 in HASMCs (163). Pang and Knox showed that HASMCs produced prostaglandins in response to stimulation with IL-1 β and that COX-2 largely mediated this response (164). These findings suggest that HASMCs may be an important source of prostaglandins in human airways. Taken together, COX-2 may play an important role in the regulation of airway inflammation in asthma. IL-17A alone had no effect on COX-2 protein and mRNA expression in HASMCs (165).

CS causes airway inflammation which could result from enhancing the expression of COX-2 in the lung (166). A study conducted by our group showed that CSE induced COX-2 expression in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (PASMCs) (167). CSE increased the expression of COX-2 in human tracheal smooth muscle cells (168). COX-2 expression and neutrophil infiltration were significantly greater in smokers and smokers with COPD compared with healthy subjects (169). These findings, to some extent, illustrate that some effects of CS in airway inflammation could be mediated by COX-2 expression. However, whether COX-2 mediate the effect of CSE on inflammatory response in HASMCs is unknown.

1.6.2 PGE₂

PGE₂, which is the main product of COX-2, is a potent inflammatory mediator (170). PGE₂ is the main prostanoid produced by HASMCs; other prostanoids are produced in much fewer amounts (156). PGE₂ signals via four known receptors (EP₁–EP₄), , Prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors are linked to the stimulation of the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP),

which is responsible for major suppressive and regulatory functions of PGE_{2} , signalling by activating adenylate cyclase (171, 172).

There was an inverse relationship between PGE₂ levels and eosinophil counts in the sputum of asthmatics, which suggests that higher PGE₂ levels could protect against airway eosinophilia (173, 174). Inhaled PGE₂ reduced the change in methacholine airway reactivity and decreased the number of eosinophils in the airway after inhaled allergen challenge (175, 176), suggested that PGE₂ has some anti-inflammatory effects.

PGE₂ has diverse effects on the lung by modulating the function of many types of airway cells (177). PGE₂ has been shown to inhibit the proliferation of HASMCs (178). Exogenous PGE₂ inhibited LPS-induced production of TNF α and IL-6 in a concentration-dependent manner mediated via its EP₄ receptor in mouse and human monocytes (161).

Exposures to CS lead to airway inflammation, which could be mediated via the expression of COX-2 and PGE₂ synthesis.

Exogenous PGE₂ increased the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-6 and IL-8 production in fibroblast cells (160). Further, studies demonstrated that exogenous PGE2 increased the production of IL-8 and IL-6 in HASMCs (158, 159). On the other hand, a study showed that PGE₂ reduced the production of Th2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-25, IL-33, TSLP and IL-2 in group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) (24). However, the effect of PGE₂ on the T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs is unknown.

1.6.3 Cyclic AMP

Adenylyl cyclase (AC) is responsible for the synthesis of cAMP (179). The prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors, which are G-protein coupled prostaglandin receptors (GPCPR), stimulate G α protein (G α_s), resulting in

an increase in adenylate cyclase (AC) activity and followed by an increase in cAMP levels (180, 181). Studies showed that PGE₂ elevate intracellular cAMP levels in HASMCs and can inhibit HASMCs contraction as well as other HASMCs functions such as proliferation and migration (182). The expression of numerous genes is modulated by changes in cAMP in different cell types. For instance, agents known to elevate cAMP inhibited IL-1βinduced production of IL-6 in human lung fibroblasts (183). 8-Bromo-cAMP, a cell-permeable cAMP analogue, decreased IL-1β-induced Eotaxin production and mRNA expression in HASMCs (184). Another study demonstrated that a number of cAMP stimulants such as forskolin (FSK), a direct adenylyl cyclase activator, enhanced IL-8 production in a concentration-dependent manner in HASMCs (185). The β_2 -agonist, another cAMP stimulant, increased IL-8 production in HASMCs (185), suggesting a pro-inflammatory effect of cAMP in asthma. These studies suggest that cAMP can contribute to airway inflammation and could be a potential pathway that may mediate the CSE effect on inflammatory response in asthma.

1.7. Airway inflammation and glucocorticoids

1.7.1 Glucocorticoids in asthma

Glucocorticoids are anti-inflammatory medications used to treat and control patients with asthma by reducing airway inflammation, hyperresponsiveness (AHR) incidents and hospital visits (186). The use of inhalation as a route of administration significantly reduces the negative effects associated with glucocorticoid use (187, 188). Glucocorticoids function by decreasing the transcription of genes related to inflammatory cytokine production (189).

Glucocorticoids bind to glucocorticoid receptor α (GR α) which they then activate and translocate these receptors into the nucleus (189). Glucocorticoid receptor β (GR β) is isoform that spliced form of GR and does not bind glucocorticoids but alternatively interacts with DNA and works as a potent inhibitor of the glucocorticoid effect (189). Glucocorticoids have a wide spectrum of gene targets associated with the anti-inflammatory process (189), studies have shown that responsiveness to glucocorticoids among patients with the asthma is not the same and that some group of patients may require high doses of glucocorticoid (190). Fluticasone propionate and budesonide are two types of glucocorticoids that have become the treatment of choice for chronic asthma (191).

While glucocorticoids exhibit anti-inflammatory effects, such as inhibiting the production of cytokines and chemokines in a different of cells including HASMCs cells, in some inflammatory conditions glucocorticoids not only lose their anti-inflammatory properties but can even enhance the production of certain inflammatory mediators and potentially enhance

HASMCs proliferation in the presence of some inflammatory stimuli (192).

(Table1.3)

Table 1.3 Effects of glucocorticoids on airway smooth muscle cells in asthma

GC	Conditions	Paradoxical effect	References
	IL-1β and TNFα plus epidermal growth factor (EGF)	HASMCs proliferation	(193)
Fluticasone propionate	IL-1β plus EGF	HASMCs proliferation (potential)	(194)
	IL-1β plus EGF	HASMCs proliferation	(194)
	Collagen-rich environment	HASMCs proliferation	(195, 196)
	TNFα and IFN-γ	Increase of proinflammatory mediators	(197)
Dexamethasone	TNFα and IFN-γ	Pro-inflammatory	(198)
	TNFα and IFN-γ	Pro-inflammatory	(199)
Dexamethasone Budesonide		Neutrophil activity and survival	(200-202)

GC	Conditions	Paradoxical effect	References
Budesonide	TNFα	Increase of CCL20 levels in airway epithelium	(203)

1.7.2. T2 airway inflammation and glucocorticoids

T2 inflammation is known to be suppressed by glucocorticoids, and glucocorticoids have been the best available controller therapy for asthma (204). Although patients with T2 asthma are generally well responsive to glucocorticoids, there is a subgroup with this endotype of asthma have uncontrolled asthma (205-209). Glucocorticoids have been shown to reduce IL-4 and IL-5 mRNA expression in cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of asthmatic patients (210, 211). Dexamethasone also significantly inhibited IL-13 and IL-5 production in mice after ovalbumin stimulation and thereby reduced BAL and lung tissue eosinophilia (212). A study demonstrated that the production of IL-4 by human lymphocytes is markedly inhibited by small concentrations of hydrocortisone (213). TNFa induced production of Eotaxin in HASMCs was strongly inhibited by dexamethasone (214). Further, dexamethasone inhibited TNFα-induced RANTES production and mRNA expression in a time- and concentration-dependent manner in human lung epithelial cells (215). These findings suggest that T2 inflammatory cytokine production is sensitive to inhibition by glucocorticoids.

1.7.3. Non-T2 airway inflammation and glucocorticoids

Inhaled glucocorticoids remain the gold standard therapy for the majority of asthmatic patients to control their symptoms (216). Some asthmatics, especially those with a severe form of the disease, are insensitive to glucocorticoids (216). Fluticasone and Dexamethasone minimally inhibited the production of the non-T2 cytokine GRO- α in BEAS-2B cells (97). Dexamethasone demonstrated potent anti-inflammatory effects, reducing BALF levels of IL-4 and IL-13, but not on levels of IL-8 (117). These results suggest that non-T2 airway inflammation is less responsive to glucocorticoids.

It has been shown that Th17 cytokines could also be responsible for glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthma (216). For instance, in vitro study showed that IL-17 and IL-22 production was significantly increased after stimulation with CD3/anti-CD28-coated microbeads (T cell-activating antibodies) in isolated CD4+T cells from mice, and Th17 cytokines insensitive to dexamethasone treatment at any production was concentration tested (1 µM, 0.5 µM and 0.1 µM) (212). Further, IL-17 upregulates the glucocorticoid receptor-beta (GR-beta), the dominantnegative regulator of active GR-alpha, by forming inactive heterodimers, hence decreasing the glucocorticoid response. Therefore, the up-regulation of GR-beta by IL-17 induces glucocorticoid insensitivity in peripheral mononuclear cells (217). IL-17A is linked to neutrophilic inflammation by inducing the production of the neutrophil chemoattractant GRO- α from airway epithelial cells and airway smooth muscle cells, which may play a role in the neutrophilic inflammation of severe forms of asthma (95, 96). A study showed that IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 was inhibited by budesonide in a concentration-dependent manner in human bronchial epithelial cells (218). Interestingly, IL-17A pre-treatment significantly reduced the antiinflammatory effect of budesonide on TNF- α -induced IL-8 production (218).

These results suggest that IL-17 production could drive severe forms of asthma by contributing to non-T2 inflammation, which is known to be insensitive to glucocorticoids (82).

1.7.3. Cigarette smoke and glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthma

Glucocorticoids are not as effective in asthmatic smokers as in nonsmokers with asthma (219). Many clinical studies have reported that asthmatic smokers are insensitive to glucocorticoids (220-223). Asthmatic smokers who were treated with inhaled budesonide (high dose 1600ug and low dose 400ug daily) for 9 months showed no improvement in FEV1 compared with non-smokers. Another study showed that asthmatic smokers who received inhaled fluticasone (250ug twice daily) for 3 weeks had no improvement in peak expiratory flow compared with the asthmatic nonsmoker group (221). A clinical trial was conducted on 86 asthmatics, 19 of them were current smokers, demonstrating that there was no significant difference in response to glucocorticoids, in term of airway function and plasma inflammatory markers, between the asthmatic smokers and patients with severe asthma; however, there are some of the smokers responded to a high dose of glucocorticoids (224). Clinical studies suggest that CS may cause glucocorticoid resistance in asthmatic patients.

An *in vitro* studies showed that CSE reduced the inhibitory effect of dexamethasone on TNF α -induced IL-8 in BEAS-2B immortalised human bronchial epithelial cells (117). CSE can also reduce the inhibition of LPS-induced IL-8 and TNF α by dexamethasone or budesonide in human alveolar macrophages by 30% (225). Exposure to CS, either *in vitro* or *in vivo*,

increases the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8 (112, 226) and TNF α (227). These cytokines have been implicated in the non-T2 inflammatory response and thereby may lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity (228). Some clinical and *in vitro* studies demonstrated that cigarette smoke or CSE could cause glucocorticoid insensitivity; still, there is a lack of evidence to show whether CSE can influence the inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids in HASMCs.

1.8. Summary

Asthma is a common respiratory disorder affecting around 339 million people worldwide, and airway inflammation is a hallmark pathological feature of asthma. In asthma, airway inflammation is commonly classified as T2, which responds well to glucocorticoids, or non-T2, which has a poor response to glucocorticoids, based on their cellular profiles. HASMCs express a wide range of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which contribute to the inflammatory process in asthma. Evidence found in the literature showed that CSE and IL-17A contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation, which may lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity. Th2 cytokines play an integral role in the process of T2 airway inflammation in asthma and are responsible for eosinophilia, overproduction of IgE and airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma. Eosinophil chemokines such as Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES are playing a role in the T2 inflammatory response. However, the effect of CSE and IL-17A on T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs is largely unknown. COX-2 and its downstream product PGE₂ as well as oxidative stress may play an important role in the regulation of airway inflammation in asthma. There is evidence that CS induces COX-2 expression and PGE₂ production in different cell types, including HASMCs. However, whether COX-2/PGE₂ could mediate the effect of CSE on T2 inflammatory response in asthma remain to be explored.

1.9. Hypothesis and Aims

1.9.1 Hypothesis

We hypothesised that: 1) CSE and IL-17A can affect the glucocorticoid-sensitive T2 and glucocorticoid-insensitive non-T2 inflammatory response, contributing to glucocorticoid insensitivity in HASMCs, 2) CSE may affect the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines through COX-2 and PGE₂ pathway via oxidative stress, 3) CSE can influence the anti-inflammatory effect of glucocorticoid on IL-17A-induce production of IL-8 in HASMCs.

1.9.2 Aims

- To assess the effect of CSE and Th17 cytokine IL-17A on the production of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines and to assess the impact of CSE on the effect of IL-17A in HASMCs.
- To examine the effect of CSE on the mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.
- To explore the role of oxidative stress, COX-2, PGE2 and cAMP pathway in mediating the CSE effect on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs
- To investigate the influence of CSE on the inhibition by glucocorticoids on IL-17A-induced production of IL-8.

Chapter 2. Methods and Materials

2.1 Introduction

In this Chapter, the general methods used in this PhD thesis are described. All materials, reagents, kits, buffer and media recipes are listed in the appendix.

2.2 Cigarette smoke extract preparation

3R4F research-grade cigarettes (Appendix 7.2) were connected via a rubber tube to the glass tube of an 80 ml vacuum filtration flask containing 20 ml of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium- (DMEM-, Appendix 7.1). The pressure in the vacuum pump attached to the 80 ml glass bottle was adjusted to 0.2 bar to obtain a steady burning rate of the cigarettes. Once the cigarette was lit, the pump removed air from the 80 ml glass bottle, and the cigarette smoke was drawn through the media and the soluble components of smoke were extracted. Two cigarettes were burnt for every 20 ml batch of CSE. The resulting CSE was filtered using a 0.22 um filter, and its absorbance was measured at 320 nm (1.5=100%) using the FLUO star Omega microplate reader (BMG LABTECH, UK) to achieve the required concentration level and strength of CSE to be used for experiments.

2.3 Drug preparation

2.3.1 (-)-Nicotine

Nicotine was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and prepared as instructed by the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). To make the original stock of 2 mM, nicotine was diluted in ethanol, and then diluted in a cell culture medium with a dilution factor (1:2). Nicotine was used at a concentration of 500 μ M based on previous work (229).

2.3.2 MG 624

The α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) has been identified as the most nAChR expressed in HASMCs (230), so we have used the selective antagonist for α 7 neuronal nicotinic receptor MG 624 in this study. MG 624 was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and prepared as per the instructions of the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). The MG 624 was dissolved in Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to achieve an original stock concentration of 0.05 M, then diluted in DMSO with a dilution factor of (1:10). A concentration of 1 μ M was used to treat the cells based on previous research (231). Drug vehicle solution, DMSO, was added to 1 ml of medium (Dilution factor 1:500) in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2% of DMSO.

2.3.3 L-Glutathione (GSH)

GSH is an endogenous antioxidant which plays an important role in reducing reactive oxygen species. GSH was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and prepared as per the instructions provided by the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). GSH was dissolved in deionized water to achieve an original stock of 0.05 M. GSH was dissolved in deionized water to a final concentration of 100 μ M according to similar study in the literature (112). Deionised water was also added to the control group and maintained the final concertation of deionised water to be equal to 0.2%.

2.3.4 NS-398

NS-398 is considered a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) and is a selective inhibitor of COX-2 with an IC₅₀ value of 1.77 μ M. NS-398 was obtained from Cayman Chemical and prepared as instructed by the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). NS-398 was reconstituted in DMSO (Sigma-Aldrich) to achieve an original stock concentration of 0.05 M. NS-398 concentration of 10 μ M was used to treat the cells based on previous research conducted by our group (232). DMSO was added to 1 ml of medium (Dilution factor 1:500) in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2% of DMSO.

2.3.5 Prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂)

PGE₂ is produced from arachidonic acid by the cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) pathway. PGE₂ was obtained from Cayman Chemical and prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions (Appendix, section 7.3). The drug was dissolved in DMSO to obtain an original stock of 0.05 M. After that, a serial dilution (Dilution factor of 1:10) in DMSO was made to obtain a final PGE₂ concentration of 10 μ M based on previous research (24). Furthermore, DMSO was also added to the control cells to obtain the final concertation of 0.2%.

2.3.6 PF 04418948

PF 04418948 is a potent and selective inhibitor for prostaglandin E receptor 2 with an IC₅₀ value of 16 nM. The drug was purchased from tocris bioscience and prepared as per the manufacturer's instructions (Appendix, section 7.3). The was dissolved in DMSO to achieve an original stock of 0.05 M. After that, a serial dilution in DMSO (Dilution factor of 1:10) to obtain the final concentration of 10 μ M according to previous study (233). The final

concentration of DMSO = 0.2% was added to the control cells to be consistent with the experimental cells.

2.3.7 L-161,982

L-161,982 is a prostaglandin E receptor 4 antagonist. The L-161,982 was purchased from tocris bioscience and prepared as per the manufacturer's instructions (Appendix, section 7.3). The drug was dissolved in DMSO to achieve an original stock of 0.05 M. Then, a serial dilution with a dilution factor of (1:10) was made in DMSO to get the final concentration of 1 μ M (The highest concentration used and did not cause cytotoxicity). DMSO was added to 1 ml of medium (Dilution factor 1:500) in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2% of DMSO.

2.3.8 8-Bromo-cAMP

8-bromo-Cyclic AMP (8-bromo-cAMP) is a cell-permeable analogue of cAMP which activates cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase A. The 8-Bromo-cAMP was purchased from Tocris Bioscience and prepared based on the instructions of the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). The compound was dissolved in DMSO to make the (original stock) of 0.05 M, serial dilution with a dilution factor of (1:10) was made in DMSO and a concentration of 100 μ M was used to treat the cells based on our group previous work (185). The drug vehicle solution DMSO was added to 1 ml of medium (Dilution factor 1:500) in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2% of DMSO.

2.3.9 Salbutamol

Salbutamol, a β_2 adrenoceptor agonist, is a short-acting bronchodilator used in the treatment of asthma. Salbutamol was purchased

from Sigma-Aldrich and prepared as per the manufacturer's instructions (Appendix, section 7.3). Salbutamol was dissolved in methanol to achieve an original stock concentration of 0.05 M, then a serial dilution with (Dilution factor of 1:10) was made in methanol and a concentration of 10 μ M was used to treat the cells (185). Methanol was added to 1 ml of medium (Dilution factor 1:500) in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2%.

2.3.10 Fluticasone

Fluticasone propionate is an anti-inflammatory drug widely used to treat asthma patients. Fluticasone was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and was dissolved in DMSO to achieve an original stock concentration of 0.5 M as per the instructions provided by the manufacturer (Appendix, section 7.3). In the experiments, six concentrations of fluticasone were used, ranging from 10⁻¹¹ to 10⁻⁶ M. In addition, the drug vehicle solution DMSO was added to 1 ml of medium in control wells to obtain a final concentration of 0.2%.

2.4 Cell culture

The use of lung tissue samples has been approved by National Research Ethics Service (NRES) Committee East Midlands-Nottingham 1. Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) were provided by Professor Dominick Shaw (Division of Respiratory Medicine, University of Nottingham). The cells were obtained from healthy donors and were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM)+ (see section 2.1.4). The cells were incubated in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 21% O₂ and 5% CO₂. The medium was changed every 48h. To confirm the cells were not contaminated

with mycoplasma, a mycoplasma test (Myco-Alert mycoplasma detection kit from Lonza) was conducted.

Cell ID	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Smoking	Health status	Medication
AZAC05	26.00	F	White	Never smoke	Healthy	None
AZAC07	39.00	F	Asian	Never smoke	Healthy	None
MMP-1H10	46.00	М	White	Never smoke	Healthy	None

 Table 2.1 List of human airway smooth muscle cells

2.4.1 Cell freezing

HASMCs were cultured in T-225 flasks from passage 5 to passage 6. The medium for cells was changed every 48h. When the cells reached confluence, an aspirator was used to remove the medium and the flask was washed with 10 ml of PBS. 10 ml of Trypsin-EDTA solution (see section 2.1.5) was added to the cells and incubated for 3 minutes at 37°C. The cells were detached from the flask and observed under the microscope. Trypsin was neutralised by adding 10 ml DMEM+ into the flask and the contents were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1100 rpm. The supernatant was removed by the aspirator and 10 ml of fresh DMEM+ was added to the cells. After counting (see section 2.4.2), the cells were stored in cryogenic tubes at a density of 1 \times 10⁶ cells per ml of freezing solution (90%FBS + 10%DMSO). These tubes were then placed in a Mr Frosty Freezing container (Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 100% isopropyl alcohol. The cells in Mr Frosty were stored at -80°C for 24h to maintain a steady cooling rate of -1°C/minute. The cryotubes were then transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage.

2.4.2 Cell counting

The counting of the cells was done through a glass haemocytometer and coverslip. The cell suspension was mixed in a 1:1 ratio with Trypan blue to distinguish between live and dead cells. All the four haemocytometer squares were observed under the microscope and the number of cells in each quarter was counted. Cell count was calculated by multiplying the average number of cells per square with dilution factor and 10⁴

2.4.3 Cell treatment

Cells were seeded at a density of 41.666 cells/well of a 24-well plate. Before each experiment, the cells were growth-arrested with DMEM– for 24h. Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with and without the α 7nAChR antagonist MG624 (1 µM), the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH (100 µM), the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 (10 µM), the prostaglandin EP₂ receptor antagonist PF 04418948 (10 µM) and the prostaglandin EP₄ receptor antagonist L-161,982 (1 µM) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A, nicotine (500 µM), PGE₂ (10 µM) and 8-Bromo-cAMP (100 µM) for 24h. In order to assess the influence of CSE on the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on the IL-17A-induced production of neutrophilic chemokines, the cells were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24, and then cells were treated with or without fluticasone (10⁻¹¹-10⁻⁶ M) for 1h prior to incubation with CSE (3.5%) and/or IL-17A (10 ng/ml) for 24h. The collected medium was stored in a -20°C freezer until required for ELISA.

2.4.4 Cell lysate preparation

After the cells were treated, the plate was washed with PBS after the medium was collected from the plates, and 150 μ I of complete radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (Appendix 7.4) was added to the cells. Cell scrapers were used to scrape the cell monolayer, and the cell lysates were collected from each well into 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes to be stored at -80°C until further use. The concentration of the protein was measured through a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay kit (Appendix 7.5).

2.5. Bicinchoninic acid protein assay

Protein concentration in lysates was quantified using the BCA assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) solution (0–2000 μ g/ml) was made as per the guidelines of the manufacturer. The BSA standards and protein samples (5 μ l) were transferred in duplicates to a 96-well plate. The BCA solutions A and B were mixed in the ratio of 1:50 and 95 μ l of this solution was added to each well containing either BSA standards or protein samples. The plate was incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. After that, the absorbance was measured by a FLUO star Omega microplate reader (BMG LABTECH) at 562 nm. The protein concentration of samples in μ g/ml were calculated from absorbance measures using the Omega analysis software.

2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The concentration of IL8 was measured in the collected supernatants using DuoSet ELISA kits (Appendix, section 7.5). These kits were used as per the guidelines of the manufacturer.

2.6.1 Assay procedure

For the ELISA assays, a high binding 96-well plate was used. Capture antibodies were diluted to working concentrations with PBS, and 100 µl was added to all the wells. The plate was then incubated overnight at room temperature. Following this, the plate was washed thrice using 400 µl/well of wash buffer. 300 µl/well of blocking buffer was used to block the plate prior to incubation for 1h at room temperature. After washing the plate again, 100 µl of diluted standard and samples was added to the wells in duplicates. After 2h of incubation on the shaker (300–400 rpm), the plate was rewashed and then 100 µl of diluted biotinylated goat anti-human detection antibody was transferred into each well of the plate and incubated for 2h. The plate was washed again, and 100 µl of streptavidin horseradish peroxidase (HRP) was added to all the wells of the plate and incubated for 20 minutes. The final step involved washing the plate again and then adding 100 µl of substrate solution followed by 20 minutes incubation in a dark place. 50 µl of stop solution (sulphuric acid) per well was added to end the enzymatic reaction. The optical density for each well was measured through the FLUO star Omega microplate (BMG LABTECH) at 450 nm, and Omega software was used to analyse the data. The normalisation of the concentrations to the total amount of protein was done by dividing the average of the duplicated cytokine and chemokine concentrations (pg/ml) by the total amount of protein content (the protein concentrations (mg/ml) were multiplied by 0.15 ml "total volume of protein lysate") to achieve pg/mg protein.
2.7 Bio-Plex ProTM Human Cytokine Assays

The Bio-plex ProTM Human Cytokine Assays kit (Appendix, section 7.5) was used to determine the concentration of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines in the cell supernatants. The assays were conducted according to the manufacturer's instructions. The 96-well ELISA plate was used and 50 µl of the capture antibody coated beads were transferred to each well. The plate was manually washed twice, each time with 100 µl in each well using Bio-Plex wash buffer. After that, 50 µl of standards with a dilution factor of 1:4, blank, samples and controls were transferred to the assay plate. Then, the plate was sealed and incubated on a shaker at 850 rpm for 30 min at room temperature. After that, the plate was washed thrice with 100 µl of the wash buffer, then 25 µl of the detection antibodies were added to each well and incubated on shaker at 850 rpm for 30 min at room temperature. Then, the plate was washed again and then 50 µl of streptavidin-PE (SA-PE) transferred to each well and plate was sealed and incubated on a shaker at 850 rpm for 10 min at room temperature. After incubation, the plate was washed and then to resuspend beads for plate reading, 125 µl assay buffer was transferred to each well on a shaker at 850 rpm for 30 seconds at room temperature. Finally, we slowly removed and discarded the sealing tape before placing the plate on the reader. Then, the Bio-PlexTM 200 System (Bio-Rad) was used to read the plate, and the Bio-Plex Manager software version 6.1 (Bio-Rad) was used to calculate the concentration of different samples. Data were normalised to the total amount of protein, the average of the duplicated samples (pg/ml) divided by the total volume of medium (ml)

then multiplied by the total amount of protein lysate (mg/ml) and presented as pg/mg protein.

2.8 PGE₂ ELISA

The concentration of PGE₂ in the cell culture supernatant was measured by using the PGE₂ ELISA kit (Appendix, section 7.5). This competitive assay was used to assess the concentration of PGE₂ in the sample, with a range of 7.8-1000 pg/ml and a sensitivity of 15 pg/ml. The cross-reactivity of the assay is presented in Table 2.2.

Cross-reactivity	(%)
	(,,,)
Prostaglandin E ₂	100%
Prostaglandin E ₂ Ethanolamide	100%
Prostaglandin E ₂ -1-glyceryl ester	100%
Prostaglandin E₃	43.0%
Prostaglandin E₁	18.7%
8- <i>iso</i> Prostaglandin E ₂	2.5%
Sulprostone	1.25%
6-keto Prostaglandin F₁α	1.0%
8- <i>iso</i> Prostaglandin F₂α	0.25%
Prostaglandin A ₂	0.04%
13,14-dihydro-15-keto Prostaglandin E 2	0.02%
All others	<0.01%

Table 2.2. Cross-reactivity of PGE₂ ELISA kit

This assay is based on competitive binding between the PGE₂ in the sample and a PGE₂-acetylcholinesterase (AChE) conjugate (PGE₂ tracer). Because the PGE₂ concentration varies resent while the concentration of PGE₂ tracer remains constant, the amount of PGE₂ tracer that is able to bind with PGE₂ monoclonal antibody will be inversely proportional to the amount of PGE₂ in the sample. This antibody-PGE₂ complex after that binds to goat polyclonal anti-mouse IgG that is pre-coated to the wells. After washing the plat, to remove any unbound reagents, Ellman's reagent (containing substrate to AChE) is added to the well. The product of Ellman's reagent reaction has a distinct yellow colour. The distinct yellow colour intensity is proportional to the amount of PGE₂ tracer that is bound to the well but is inversely proportional to the amount of free PGE₂ present in the sample.

2.8.1 Method

PGE₂ ELISA kit (Appendix, section 7.5) was used to measure the concentration of PGE₂ in the cell supernatants according to the manufacturer's instructions. To prepare the PGE₂ ELISA standard, the standard was diluted in DMEM- using two-fold serial dilutions to generate an eight points standard curve ranging from 1000 pg/ml to 7.8 pg/ml. After that, 50 µl of standards, samples, blanks, AChE tracer, and PGE₂ monoclonal antibody were transferred to the wells. The plate was then covered with plastic film and incubated at 4°C for 18h. No antibody pre-coating or blocking was needed, as the pate was pre-coated with anti-mouse IgG and blocked with a proprietary formulation of proteins. After that, the plate was added to each well and the plate was covered with a plastic film, to enable the palate to develop in the dark, and was incubated at room temperature for 90 minutes. A FLUOstar Omega microplate reader (BMG labBtech) was used

to measure the optical density at 420 nm. PGE₂ concentrations were expressed as pg/mg of protein after being normalised as described in section 2.8.1.

2.9 Real-time reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis

2.9.1 Principle

Real-time reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT- qPCR) analysis is widely used to detect gene expression within the cell or tissue by determining the level of messenger RNA (mRNA) which is translated to protein. Isolate total RNA from the sample using NucleoSpin RNA II kit is the first step of RT-qPCR, and this step should be performed on ice due to the natural instability of RNA. Then, the second step is to convert the mRNA into complementary DNA (cDNA) through reverse transcription (RT). The final step is the PCR itself which involves the amplification of DNA using the enzyme DNA polymerase. The cycle threshold (CT) is defined as the number of cycles needed for the fluorescent signal to cross the threshold. The increase in fluorescent signal is proportional to the increase inthe amount of cDNA in the sample.

2.9.2 Total RNA isolation

Confluent cells were treated as required in a 12-well plate. At the end of the experiment, the cell culture medium was aspirated, and cells were washed with PBS before the total RNA was extracted using the NucleoSpin RNA II Kit (Appendix, 7.5) according to the instructions of the supplier. All columns and buffers that were used to isolate total RNA were provided with the kit. After the wells being washed with PBS, the cells were lysed with 350 µl lysis buffer RA1 (with β-mercaptoethanol (10 µl/ml)). Then, the lysed sample was filtered through NucleoSpin filters (pink ring) in a 2 ml collection tube by centrifuging the lysate at 11,000 rpm for 1 min to reduce viscosity and clear the lysate. To adjust the RNA binding condition, the filter was discarded and 350 µl of 70% ethanol was added directly to the collection tube and mixed thoroughly. The lysate was then loaded to the NucleoSpin RNA Column (light blue ring) and centrifuged at 11,000 rpm for 1 min. The column was placed in a new collection tube (2 ml) after the RNA was bound to the silica membrane of the column. Next, 350 µl membrane desalting buffer (MDB) was loaded in the columnand then centrifuged at 11,000 rpm for 1 min to remove contaminating salts. Next, 95 µl deoxyribonuclease (DNase) reaction mixture (10 µl reconstituted recombinant (rDNase + 90 µl reaction buffer for rDNase) per sample was added to each column to digest any contaminating DNA on the membrane. The column was then incubated at room temperature for 15 min, washed with 200 µl RAW2 buffer and then centrifuged at 11,000rpm for 1 min. Then, the silica membrane was washed and centrifuged twice with 600 µl and 250 µl of RA3 buffer, respectively. Finally, the RNA was collected by adding 50 µl RNase-free H₂O, and centrifuged at 11,000 rpm for 1 min. The isolated RNA was either used immediately or stored at -80°C until required, as RNA is very unstable.

2.9.3 RNA quantification

A nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to measure the concentration and quality of the RNA. For this, 2 μ I of each RNA sample was loaded onto the lower measurement pedestal. The ratio of sample absorbance at 260 and 280 nm was used. A ratio of ~2.0 is accepted as "pure" for RNA. After RNA quantification, 2 µg total RNA of each sample was used for the RT step.

2.9.4 Reverse transcription (RT)

To convert RNA into cDNA, we used a SuperScript[™] IV Reverse Transcriptase kit (Appendix, 7.5). The volume of RT mixture of components per reaction was prepared as per instructed by the supplier as the following, a mixture of 0.5 µg of total RNA, 50 µM of Oligo d(T)₂₀ primer, 10 mM dNTPs mix (10 mM each), and nuclease-free water (Table 2.8.1) was mixed and centrifuged for 30 seconds, and then heated for 5 minutes at 65°C. The reaction mixture was made up to 13 µl with nuclease-free H2O (Table 2.3). After that, the RNA was reverse transcribed in a total volume of 20 µl including 5x SSIV Buffer, 100 mM DTT, RNase inhibitor, and SuperScript[™] IV Reverse Transcriptase (200 U/µL) (Table 2.4). The reaction was heated at 55°C for 10 minutes and at 80°C for 10 minutes. Finally, cDNA was then stored at -20°C until needed.

Component	Volume	
50 µM of Oligo d(T) ₂₀ primer	1 µl	
10 mM dNTPs mix (10 mM each)	1 µl	
Total RNA	Up to 11 µl	
nuclease-free water	Up to 13 µl	

Table 2.3. List of a SuperScript[™] IV Reverse Transcriptase primers

Table 2.4. List of RT reaction mixture

Component	Volume
5x SSIV Buffer	4 µl
100 mM DTT	1 µl
RNase inhibitor	1 µl
SuperScript™ IV Reverse Transcriptase	1 µl
200 U/µL	

2.9.5 Specificity of the primers

The specificity of each primer was determine using a serial dilution of cDNA from untreated cells (1:10, 1:100, 1:1000, and 1:10000). After running RT-qPCR, dissociation curves were created. Primers were regarded as specific when dissociation curves had a single peak.

2.9.6 qPCR

Reversed transcribed cDNA was used for qPCR process. A mixture of 20 µl per reaction was prepared as the following, 1 µl of cDNA products, 0.4 µl of each forward (FW) and reverse (RV) of targeted gene primer, 10 µl of KAPA Taq DNA polymerase, and 8.2 µl nuclease-free water. Negative controls (nuclease-free water) were transferred in duplicate on the 96-well qPCR plate. The mixture volume was transferred to each well in the 96-well qPCR plate (except the negative control) in duplicate.

The qPCR reaction was performed in three steps: denaturation, annealing, and extension at various temperatures. The denaturation step was set at 95°C for 3 minutes in order to separate double-stranded DNA into single-stranded DNA for amplification. Then, to allow the primers to bind to the template by lowering the temperature to 65°C for 30 seconds in the annealing step. In the last step, which is the extension step, the temperature was set at 65°C for 30 seconds where the new strand of DNA was made by the DNA polymerase enzyme. Amplification of the selected target sequence was achieved by repeating these three steps for 40 cycles using a

Stratagene Mx3000P qPCR System (Agilent Technologies, USA) (Table 2.5).

Step	Temperature	Duration	Cycle
Denaturation	95°C	3 min	
Annealing	65°C	15 seconds	40
Extension	65°C	30 seconds	

Table 2.5. Summary of thermal profile of the qPCR reaction

The results of qPCR were analysed using MxPro qPCR software (AgilentTechnologies) after the C_T values were obtained from both controls and samples. In current the β 2M was used as a reference gene for all of the experiments as it is stable between samples and most routinely used as a housekeeping gene in our lab. Firstly, after we obtained the average of C_T values for the tested samples and housekeeping genes, the differences (Δ C_T = C_T tested-C_T β 2M) were calculated. Then, the double delta C_T values (Δ \DeltaC_T (Δ C_T treated- Δ C_T control) were calculated. Finally, the values of 2^{- Δ \DeltaCT} were calculated to obtain fold changes of the gene expression over control. Data were expressed as relative expression (fold increase).

Table 2.6. List of the target gene and their forward and reverse primersequences

Target gene	Primer sequences
IL-4	FW: GAG AAC ATT GTC CCC CAG TG
	RV: AAG CTG ATC TGG GGC TCC TT
IL-5	FW: CTC TTG GAG CTG CCT ACG TG
	RV: TCA GTG CAC AGT TGG TGA TTT
IL-13	FW: GTG GCC ATG GGG GAT AAG G
	RV: CAT TGC AGA GCG GAG CCT TC
Eotaxin	FW: TCC CCA GAA AGC TGT GAT CTT CAA
	RV: GCA ACA CTC AGG CTC TGG TT
IP-10	FW: CCA CGT GTT GAG ATC ATT GCT
	RV: TGC ATC GAT TTT GCT CCC CT
RANTES	FW: GGC CAA TGC TTG GTT GCT ATT
	RV: AGC TCA GGC TGG CCC TTT AT
β2M	FW: AAG GAC TGG TCT TTC TAT CTC
	RV: GAT CCC ACT TAA CTA TCT TGG
COX-2	FW: AAG CAG GCT AAT ACT GAT AGG
	RV: TGT TGA AAA GTA GTT CTG GG

2.10 Western blotting

2.10.1 Principle

Western blotting is an essential technique for detecting a protein of interest across a complicated mixture of proteins extracted from cells (234). Because each protein has a molecular weight, proteins are separated using polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) depending on their molecular weight. An electric current is used to transfer the isolated proteins on a nitrocellulose blotting membrane (Amersham Biosciences). Following that, the membrane is blocked and treated with a primary antibody specific to the protein of interest and and horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibody. Finally, bands specific to the protein of interest are detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate for detecting HRP enzyme activity.

2.10.2 Method

2.10.2.1 Running step

Protein concentrations were quantified using BCA assay for the collected samples as described in section 2.7. Protein samples were diluted (1:4) in 4x Lamellae buffer (Appendix, 7.4) and 5 μ l of reducing agent (Appendix, section 7.4). After that, the samples were mixed and boiled at 80°C for 10 min to denature the the protein structure. The Bolt Bis-Tris gel (Appendix, 7.7) was used, which is a pre-cast polyacrylamide gel with a concentration of 4-12%.to separate the protein of interest based on its molecular weight. Then, 20 μ g of the samples and 10 μ l of the pre-stained protein marker (Appendix, 7.4) were loaded into the wells of the gel. The running buffer was then added to the electrophoresis tank, which was then connected to electrical supply and ran at 160 constant voltages for 60 min (Appendix, 7.4).

2.10.2.2 Transferring step

The gel was taken out of the electrophoresis tank and placed in 1x transfer buffer (Appendix, section 7.4) after the running step was finished in order to transfer the protein to the nitrocellulose blotting membrane (Appendix, section 7.7).Then, a sandwich of sponge, filter, paper, gel, nitrocellulose blotting membrane, filter paper, and sponge was prepared in 1x transfer buffer and placed between positive and negative electrodes in the mini blot module before being placed in the electrophoresis tank. After that, the electrophoresis tank was filled with 1x transfer buffer and run at 10 constant voltages for 90 min.

2.10.2.3 Blocking and antibody incubation

After the transfer step was completed, the membrane was placed in ponceau red stain (Appendix, section 7.4) to enable visualisation of the protein bands. The membrane was then washed three times with 1x tris buffered saline with tween 20 (TBS-T) buffer (Appendix, section 7.4). After that, the membrane was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with block buffer (Appendix, section 7.4) to reduce non-specific binding in the membrane. The membrane was then incubated with the primary antibody at the concentration 1 in 1000 in blocking buffer overnight in a room temperature of 4°C. The primary antibodies mouse anti-human COX-2 monoclonal antibody (1:1000), and rabbit anti-human β -Actin antibody (1:50000) were used in our study (Appendix, section 7.6). The following day, the membrane was washed three times with 1x TBS-T for 10 minutes each, and then it was incubated with the secondary antibody in the blocking buffer at room temperature for one hour. The polyclonal goat anti-mouse immunoglobulins/HRP antibody (1:2500) and polyclonal goat anti-rabbit immunoglobins/HRP antibody (1:2500) were used in this study as secondary antibodies (Appendix, section 7.6).

2.10.2.4 Detection step

Following incubation with the secondary antibody, the membrane was washed three times with 1x TBS-T for 10 minutes each time. The membrane was then incubated for 5 minutes with a mixture of ECL solutions (1:1) (Appendix, section 7.4). ECL enable the visualization and the detection of the protein bands on the Licor C-DiGit scanner. The protein band density on the membrane was quantified using Image Studio software. The data was measured and normalised to the corresponding β -Actin and then to the control sample. The data were presented as a fold change over control.

2.11. Cell viability assay

The cytotoxicity of different treatments on HASMCs was measured through 3- (4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. The cells were cultured in 24-well plates for 24h with various concentrations of CSE, and with CSE or IL-17A with and without different drugs mentioned in the cell treatment section 2.4.3. 500 µl of MTT solution (dissolved in DMEM-) at a concentration of 1 mg/ml was added to each well after removal of the DMEM– growth media. The plate was incubated for 30 minutes in the incubator (37°C) before removing the MTT solution. The plate was allowed to dry at room temperature for 6h. 500 µl of DMSO was then added to the wells and the solutions were transferred to a 96-well plate. The absorbance was measured through a FLUO star Omega microplate reader (BMG LABTECH) at 550 nm to assess the metabolic activity of living cells. Cells viability data were shown as fold change over control.

2.12. Statistical analysis and IC₅₀ calculation

Statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism 9. Data were expressed as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) from experiments conducted in the specified number of cell lines unless otherwise stated. An unpaired Student's t test was carried out to compare two data sets. In our data analysis we cannot assess the normality due to the small number of samples. As regards the normality of group data, the one-way ANOVA can tolerate data that is non-normal with only a small effect on the Type I error rate according to GraphPad prism software statistics guide. In this study, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a t-test was performed to determine whether the differences between the control and the treated cells were significant. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Two-way ANOVA was used to compare the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on cytokine and chemokine production by CSE, IL-17A or CSE + IL-17A. Holm-Sidak multiple comparisons test was used to further compare the difference in the inhibitory effect of fluticasone at the same concentration between different groups. To calculate IC50, the results from different experiments were analysed using GraphPad Prism software. The drug concentrations were converted to log10 scales and plotted on X-axis, while the normalised response of cytokine and chemokine production (As 100%) was plotted on Y-axis. Non-linear regression analysis in the software was used to generate the curve and IC50 values.

Chapter 3. Effect of cigarette smoke extract and IL-17A on production and gene expression of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines in human airway smooth muscle cells

3.1 Introduction

Airway inflammation in asthma can be classified into two main endotypes, which are Type2 (T2) and non-Type2 (non-T2). Around 50% of patients with asthma have a T2 airway inflammation, whereas the remaining patients have a non-T2 airway inflammation or mixed eosinophil and neutrophilic inflammation, which is commonly found in severe asthma (19).

Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) by their ability to synthesise and produce a wide range of inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors [81, 82]. HASMCs shown to produce some of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8, Eotaxin, and RANTES (68, 111, 235), and also have also been shown to produce Th2 cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-13 (32, 103). In this chapter we have assessed HASMCs response to CSE and IL-17A stimulation with wide range of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that contribute to airway inflammation and remodelling in asthma. However, this study mainly focused on T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses.

We know from the available literature that the increase of non-T2 inflammation in asthmatic patients positively correlates with the increase in IL-8 levels [1]. CSE and IL-17A contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation, by inducing neutrophil chemoattractant such as IL-8 (83, 236). IL17A is increased in the non-T2 endotype, and that high levels of IL17A are associated with non-T2 inflammatory response (20, 83). Studies showed that IL-17A induced the production of the non-T2 inflammatory chemokines, such as IL-8 and GRO α , in airway structural cells, including HASMCs (95,

96). Cigarette smoke (CS) has also been linked to non-T2 airway inflammation in asthmatic smokers compared with non-smokers (228)

T2 inflammation is characterised by the increase in Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13) (204) and eosinophil chemokines (Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES), which are associated with eosinophilic airway inflammation (65, 237, 238). Activation of eosinophils and Th2 cells amplifies the T2 inflammatory response characteristic for allergy and asthma (24). The effect of CS on the T2 inflammatory response is unclear, and studies showed a different response to CS in different experimental models and cell types. A study found that IL-17A induced production of the eosinophil chemoattractant Eotaxin in HASMCs (110), suggesting that IL-17A may also contribute to T2 inflammation. However, the effect of CSE and IL-17A on T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs is largely unknown. Therefore, in this chapter, we aim to assess the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production Th2 cytokines and eosinophil chemokines (T2 inflammatory cytokines) and non-T2 inflammatory cytokine and whether CSE impacts HASMC response to IL-17A.

3.2 Aims

- To explore the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of wide range of inflammatory cytokine including T2 and non-T2 cytokines and the impact of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.
- To investigate the individual effects of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines and whether CSE affects HASMCs response to IL-17A stimulation in HASMCs using real-time PCR.

3.3 Methods

CSE was prepared from the smoke of two research cigarettes bubbled into 20 ml of cell culture medium. Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with and without CSE (3.5%) for 24h and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. Cytokines and chemokines were measured in the collected medium using the Bio-Plex Pro-Human Cytokine assay (3.3.1). RT-qPCR analysis was used to measure the mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines, and β 2M was used as a reference gene for all experiments (3.3.2).

3.3.1 Timeline for experiments

HASMCs were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS until confluence

-24 hours Cells were serum-starved (Control group +/- vehicle)

or treated with CSE

0 hour IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE (3.5%) or CSE+IL-17A 24 hours medium was collected to measure cytokine production

total cell lysate was also collected to quantify the protein

3.3.2 Timeline for experiments

HASMCs were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS until confluence. At each time point samples were collected by washing the well with PBS, then the cells were lysed with 350 μ l lysis buffer RA1 (with β -mercaptoethanol (10 μ l/ml

-24 hours Cell were serum starved (+/- vehicle)	0 hour CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE+IL-17A Samples of untreated	2 hours CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), and CSE+IL- 17A	8 hours CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), and CSE+IL- 17A	16 hours CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), and CSE+IL- 17A
or treated with CSE (3.5%)	wells were collected at 0 h	Samples were collected this time point from each condition	Samples were collected this time point from each condition	Samples were collected this time point from each condition

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Effect of CSE on the production of different inflammatory mediators in HASMCs

In this chapter, we investigated the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of a wide range of different cytokines and chemokines that could play a role in airway inflammation and airway remodelling in asthma including T2 and non-T2 inflammatory cytokines. Our results demonstrated that HASMCs produced A) IL-17, B) IFN-γ, C) IL-2, D) IL-6, E) IL-1β, F) TNFα, G) IL-1ra, H) IL-10, I) IL-15, J) VEGF, K) PDGF-bb, L) FGF basic, M) MIP-1 α , N) MCP-1, and O) MIP-1 β basally (649.2±72.4, 2227.7±325, 472.3±38.1, 12899.1±2923.2, 602.5±261.9, 406.9±30.7, 684.7±97.2, 688.3±72.9, 796.8±37, 1373.1±89.6, 480.4±14.2, 418.6±33.7, 1490.2±149.8, 1194.7±207.1 pg/mg protein, respectively). CSE increased production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 and the angiogenesis mediator VEGF (42417.4±11110.1 and 4214.2±1461.2 pg/mg protein, respectively, Figure 3.4.1 D and J), but it inhibited production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and increased production of the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-8 (As shown in section 3.4.2, 3.4.3 and 3.4.4) and had no effect on all other tested cytokines and chemokines. IL-17A significantly increased the production of all the cytokines and chemokines that have been tested including the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-8 and Th2 cytokine and eosinophil chemokines compared with untreated HASMCs.

91



D

IL-1ra (pg/mg protien)

500-

60000-40000-



Е

Н



F

I



















Figure 3.1 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on production of different inflammatory mediators

Confluent and serum-starved HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE 3.5% for 24 h, followed by incubation with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE+II-17A for 24 h. The collected supernatants were used to measure the concentration of A) IL-17, B) IFN- γ , C) IL-2, D) IL-6, E) IL-1 β , F) TNF α , G) IL-1ra, H) IL-10, I) IL-15, J) VEGF, K) PDGF-bb, L) FGF basic, M) MIP-1 α , N) MCP-1, and O) MIP-1 β by multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three experiments from one cell line. *p<0.05, **p<0.01,***p<0.001, and ,****p<0.0001 compared with control.

3.4.2 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of IL-8

To explore the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the non-T2 inflammatory response, we assessed the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 production in HASMCs. IL-8 was basally produced by HASMCs (1946.9±172.8 pg/mg protein, Figure 3.1). CSE stimulated IL-8 production by 10.5-fold (20564.9±4248.5 pg/mg protein, p<0.05, Figure 3.1) over the control. IL-17A increased IL-8 production by 6.1-fold compared with the control (11693.4±2630.4 pg/mg protein, p<0.05, Figure 3.1). A synergistic effect was observed when cells were treated with CSE and IL-17A (fold change 67.4, 131246.23±15878.1 pg/mg protein, p<0.01, Figure 3.1) compared with IL-17A alone. These findings suggest that CSE and IL-17A can contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation by inducing the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 production in HASMCs and the combination of CSE and IL-17A have a synergistic effect on IL-8 production.



Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-8 concentration was measured in the collected supernatants by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with

control, and *##p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone.

3.4.3 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of Th2 cytokines

Th2 cytokines are responsible for eosinophilia, overproduction of IgE, and airway hyperresponsiveness observed in the airways of asthmatic patients. However, the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of Th2 cytokines in HASMCs is unclear. We assessed the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. HASMCs produced IL-4 (Figure 3.2), IL-5 (Figure 3.3) and IL-13 (Figure 3.4), at relatively low levels (643.5±42.2, 675.52±8.2 and 585.6±33.3 pg/mg protein, respectively). Interestingly, CSE inhibited the production of IL-4 by 57.5% (p<0.01, Figure 3.2) and IL-13 by 57.8% (p<0.01, Figure 3.4) compared with the control but had no effect of the production of IL-5 (519.6±58.5 pg/mg protein, Figure 3.3). IL-17A stimulation increased concentrations of IL-4 by 5.1-fold (p<0.01, Figure 3.2), IL-5 by 2.15-fold (*p*<0.01, Figure 3.3), and IL-13 by 1.5-fold (p<0.05, Figure 3.4) over the control. CSE inhibited IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 by 25.3%, IL-5 by 14.7%, and IL-13 by 61.3% compared with IL-17A alone. These findings suggest that CSE suppressed T2 inflammatory response by reducing the production of Th2 cytokines with and without IL-17A stimulation. Interestingly, IL-17A could enhance the T2 inflammatory response by stimulating the production of Th2 cytokines that are predominantly implicated in T2 airway inflammation.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A.



Figure 3.4 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IL-5

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. IL-5 concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A.



Figure 3.5 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IL-13

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. IL-13 concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A.

3.4.4 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of eosinophil chemokines

Eosinophils are known to be attracted by chemokines such as Eotaxin, IP-10, and RANTES. Therefore, we sought to assess the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10, and RANTES in HASMCs. HASMCs basally produced eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin (57576.3±7597.2 pg/mg protein, Figure 3.5), IP-10 (783.5±43.9 pg/mg protein, Figure 3.6) and RANTES (1104.1±43.3 pg/mg protein, Figure 3.7). CSE alone significantly inhibited the production of Eotaxin by 94.7% (p<0.01), IP-10 by 58.6% (p<0.01) and RANTES by 66.9% (p<0.001) compared with the control. IL-17A increased the production of Eotaxin by 1.8-fold (p<0.05), IP-10 by 2-fold (p<0.01), and RANTES by 1.9fold (*p*<0.001) over the control. CSE reduced IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin by 89.9% (*p*<0.01), IP-10 by 57.8% (*p*<0.01) and RANTES by 62% (p<0.001) compared with IL-17A alone. Our findings strongly suggest that CSE may shift the airway inflammation from T2 to non-T2 by suppressing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and promoting the production of non-T2 cytokines in HASMCs. IL-17A promotes both T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses by increasing their cytokine production in HASMCs.



Figure 3.6 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of Eotaxin

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. Eotaxin concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone.



Figure 3.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of IP-10

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. IP-10 concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone.



Figure 3.8 Effect of CSE and IL-17 on the production of RANTES

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h, and after that, cells were treated with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 24h. RANTES concentration was measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, ###*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone.

3.4.5 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of Th2 cytokines

In this chapter, we have showed in 3.4.1, 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 that CSE inhibited the production of T2 inflammatory cytokine with and without IL-17A stimulation and increased the production of the non-T2 cytokine IL-8. The effect of CSE on the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-8, is largely known. We, therefore, focused on the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by exploring if the changes in protein expression for T2 inflammatory cytokines are due to transcriptional regulation of the genes. So, we assessed the individual effects of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of Th2 cytokines and whether CSE affects HASMCs response to IL-17A stimulation. CSE alone had no effect on mRNA expression of Th2 cytokines at all time points. IL-17A increased mRNA expression of IL-4 (Figure 3.8), IL-5 (Figure 3.9) and IL-13 (Figure 3.10) at 2h by 2.4-, 4.4- and 1.6-fold, respectively, 8h by 1.9-, 6.4- and 1.9-fold, respectively, and 16h by 1.9-, 3- and 1.7-fold, respectively, compared with the control. Interestingly, CSE inhibited IL-17A-stimulated IL-4 mRNA expression at 2h and 16h by 42.8% and 66.4%, respectively, (Figure 3.8) IL-5 at 2h and 8h by 89.9% and 82.7%, respectively, (Figure 3.9) and IL-13 at all-time points 2h, 8h and 16h by 59.1%, 67.9% and 64.4%, respectively (Figure 3.10). Together with our results in 3.4.2, these findings strongly support that CSE may suppress T2 inflammatory response by inhibiting the production of Th2 cytokines via transcriptional regulation.

102





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 2h, 8h, and 16h before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control (0h), ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 2h, 8h, and 16h before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control (0h), ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.



Figure 3.11 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of IL-13

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A for 2h, 8h, and 16h before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with control (0h), ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone.

3.4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of eosinophil chemokines

We investigated if the changes in protein expression for eosinophil chemokines by CSE are also due to transcriptional regulation of the genes. We assessed the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES and whether CS affects HASMCs response to IL-17A stimulation. Our results showed that HASMCs expressed Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES mRNA expression at basal levels. We have demonstrated that CSE alone had no effect on mRNA expression of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin and IP-10 but reduced mRNA expression of RANTES at all-time points 2h, 8h and 16h (53.8%, 60.2% and 45.8%, respectively) compared with the control. IL-17A stimulated mRNA expression of Eotaxin at 8h and 16h (fold 1.9 and 5.5, Figure 3.11), IP-10 at 2h and 8h (fold 5 and 3.6, Figure 3.12) and RANTES at 8h and 16h (fold 3.6 and 2.5, Figure 3.13) compared with the control. CSE inhibited IL-17Astimulated mRNA expression of Eotaxin at 8h and 16h by 63.9 and 89.5% (Figure 3.11), IP-10 at 2h and 8h by 91.4% and 95.1% (Figure 3.12), and RANTES at 8h and 16h by 79.7% and 59.7% (Figure 3.13). The above findings suggest that CSE inhibited the production of eosinophil chemokines in HASMCs via transcriptional regulation of the genes. Together with other findings, these results strongly support that CSE can suppress T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs.



Figure 3.12 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of Eotaxin

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A over 3-time points (2h, 8h, and 16h) before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. **p*<0.05 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control, ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A over 3-time points (2h, 8h, and 16h) before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. ****p*<0.001 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.



Figure 3.14 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on mRNA expression of RANTES

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL-17A over 3-time points (2h, 8h, and 16h) before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over unstimulated cells (0h). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines. ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control, ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.

3.5 Discussion

This chapter showed that HASMCs can basally produce wide range of inflammatory cytokines including proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α , anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1ra and IL-10, growth factors like VEGF, PDGF-bb and FGF basic, the non-T2 cytokine IL-8 and T2 inflammatory cytokines like IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, Eotaxin, RANTES and IP-10. HASMCs by their synthetic function, contractility and proliferation play important role in airway inflammation and remodeling in asthma. Surprisingly, IL-17A which known as important regulator of neutrophilic airway inflammation (non-T2) induced the production of all different inflammatory mediators that were tested in this study which may have potential wider effect on airway inflammation and remodeling in asthma. However, it is important to acknowledge that the effect of IL-17A on cytokine production shown in Figure 3.4.1 could be limited to this cell line, as the responses of one cell line may be different from others.
This chapter provides novel findings that CSE may shift the airway inflammation in asthma from T2 to non-T2 by suppressing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and inducing the production of non-T2 cytokine IL-8 in HASMCs. Another interesting finding in this chapter is that IL-17A can stimulate the production of Th2 cytokines and eosinophil chemokines which suggests that IL-17A could be involved in T2 airway inflammation in asthma.

Non-T2 Cytokine production	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A	
IL-8	1	^	^	
Th2 Cytokine production	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A	

Table 3.1 Summary	/ table of the main	findings of Chapter 3
-------------------	---------------------	-----------------------

IL-8	^	^	٨
Th2 Cytokine production	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A
IL-4	↓	^	¥
IL-5	\leftrightarrow	^	↓
IL-13	↓	^	¥
Eosinophil chemokine production	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A
Eotaxin	¥	^	
IP-10	↓	٨	V
RANTES	↓	^	
Th2 Cytokine mRNA expression	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A
IL-4	\leftrightarrow	٨	¥
IL-5	\leftrightarrow	٨	V
IL-13	\leftrightarrow	٨	¥
Eosinophil chemokine mRNA expression	CSE	IL-17A	CSE+IL-17A vs IL-17A
Eotaxin	\leftrightarrow	^	
IP-10	\leftrightarrow	٨	V
RANTES	↓	٨	¥

HASMCs express a wide range of pro-inflammatory cytokines and

chemokines, which orchestrates the role of HASMCs in the inflammatory process in asthma disease by recruiting and activating the mast cells, leukocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils (103). HASMCs have been shown to produce IL-8, which contributes to non-T2 inflammation, in response to inflammatory mediators, such as TNF α (111) and CSE (112). HASMCs were also shown to produce Th2 cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-13 (32), Eotaxin (43), IP-10 (44) and RANTES (45, 46) which contribute to T2 airway inflammation in asthma.

3.5.1 Role of CSE in airway inflammation in HASMCs

Studies exploring the airway inflammation of asthmatics have commonly been conducted on non-smoking asthmatics to avoid the effect of CS on the pathogenic mechanism of asthma (239, 240). Therefore, the impact of CS on airway inflammation is not very well understood (236). Cigarette smoke (CS) has been shown to contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation compared to a never-smoke patient with asthma [8]. We have demonstrated that CSE increased the non-T2 chemokine IL-8 production in HASMCs, suggesting CSE could promote non-T2 inflammatory response. In line with this finding, a study showed that CSE induced the production of IL-8 in HASMCs (112). Our findings are consistent with a study showed that CSE enhanced the IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 in human bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) (130), thereby enhancing the non-T2 inflammatory response. In support of our findings, data obtained from an *in vivo* study that showed CS significantly increased the number of neutrophils in lung tissue sections of nonallergic mice (122). Our finding showed a synergistic effect of CSE and IL-17A on IL-8 production, suggesting that asthmatic patients who smoke would likely have increased IL-8 release leading to further neutrophilic inflammation. Our findings, together with others, may give a possible explanation for why asthmatic smokers tend to have non-T2 airway inflammation.

The main aim of this chapter is to explore the effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. Th2 cytokines are responsible for eosinophilia, overproduction of IgE and airway hyperresponsiveness (25). We presented an interesting finding that CSE alone can reduce the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, but not IL-5, in HASMCs. The number of cell lines of HASMCs used in this study in addition to the relatively low basal expression of IL-5 could explain why we could not see the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of IL-5. CSE also reduces IL-17Amediated production of Th2 cytokines. In agreement with our findings, an in vivo study showed that CS attenuated house dust mite-mediated eosinophil response by reducing eosinophils in bronchoalveolar lavages (BALs) (121). Our results are also consistent with another in vivo research which found that CS inhibited the development of T2 inflammatory response by reducing eosinophilia and inhibiting the antigen-stimulated release of IL-4 in BALF of mice (120). In contrast with our results, a study showed that CSE (3% and 10%) increased the production of IL-4 and IL-5 in dendritic cells (124). However, the previous study (124) reported that CSE did not increase the number of eosinophils in BAL of mice. The cell-type difference, which may have different cell responses, is probably the main reason for the disparity between our findings and those in the previous study (124), and the different cigarettes (4 full-strength Marlboro cigarettes) they used compared with the one used in our study could be another reason.

Eosinophil chemokines such as Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES are involved in the recruitment of eosinophils at the allergic inflammatory site (23). IL-5 was identified as a factor that promotes differentiation and proliferation of eosinophils in the bone marrow (40). Cooperation between eosinophil chemokines and IL-5 stimulates the fast build-up of eosinophils in tissues exposed to allergen (41). We have demonstrated that CSE inhibited the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES with and without IL-17A stimulation. Although very little was found in the literature on the effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines in HASMCs, our findings seem to be consistent with a study that found CSE inhibited Eotaxin and RANTES production in HASMCs after stimulation with TNF α but not on its own (125). In support of our findings, another study showed that CSE reduced Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced production of IP-10 in an immortalised normal bronchial epithelial cell line (16-HBE) (126). In agreement with our results, *in vivo* study showed that CS significantly reduced the number of eosinophils in BAL fluid of OVA-challenged mice, while in the same study, CS increased the number of neutrophils in nonallergic animals (122). Our findings, together with others, may give a possible explanation for why asthmatic smokers tend to have non-T2 airway inflammation rather than T2 airway inflammation. It is possible that asthmatics who smoke might see a reduction of T2 inflammatory response and induction of non-T2 inflammatory response.

CSE on its own had no effect on mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines, except RANTES, but inhibited IL-17A-increased mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs. The reason why we could not see an effect of CSE on its own on mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines is that CSE might regulate T2 inflammatory cytokine expression through post-transcriptional regulation or posttranslational modifications; however, currently there is no direct evidence to support this theory.

Our study presented an important finding that suggests CSE reduced IL-17A-induced the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines via transcriptional mechanism. Our findings are supported by an in vivo study that showed that Guinea pigs exposed to 10 cigarettes per day, 5 days a week, for 4 weeks, reduced IL-5 and Eotaxin mRNA expression (241). Both IL-5 and Eotaxin have been critical in eosinophil differentiation and activation (242, 243). Up to our knowledge from available literature, this is the first study to assess the effect of CSE on mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.

Our findings, together with others, strongly suggest that CS may shift the airway inflammation in asthma from T2 to non-T2 by promoting the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines and suppressing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines via transcriptional regulation which as result may lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthma. Multiple potential pathways that CSE is known to affect such as COX-2 and its synthesis PGE₂ could mediate the inhibitory effect of CSE on production and transcription of T2 inflammatory cytokines. The next chapter is going to explore the mechanism by which CSE reduced T2 inflammatory responses in HASMCs.

3.5.2 Role of IL-17A in airway inflammation in HASMCs

Th17 cells are a subgroup of CD4+ T cells associated with a severe phenotype of asthma (79). Non-T2 airway inflammation tends to show neutrophil-dominant inflammation and the production of non-T2 cytokines. Several studies have demonstrated that IL-17A plays an important role in the pathogenesis of non-T2 airway inflammation in asthma. For instance, it has also been shown that IL-17A induced the production of the non-T2 airway inflammation markers, such as IL-8 and GROα, in airway epithelial cells and HASMCs (95, 96). IL-17A also increased the production of the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 and GROa from human bronchial fibroblasts (244). Clinically, blood and sputum samples from patients with asthma have shown an increase in IL-17A levels (245, 246). These findings align with our results that showed IL-17A induced production of IL-8 in HASMCs, suggesting that IL-17A may contribute to neutrophilic inflammation by inducing the production of neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 in HASMCs, leading to a severe form of asthma. The increase of IL-8 level in serum can be used as a biomarker to identify severity of asthma (247). Asthmatic patients with a high IL-8 level may require higher doses of glucocorticoids (247).

T2 airway inflammation in asthma is associated with eosinophil inflammation but whether IL-17A could contribute to T2 airway inflammation is unclear. Unexpectedly, we observed evidence of enhanced T2 inflammatory response by Th17 cytokine IL-17A in HASMCs. Our study

demonstrated an interesting finding that IL-17A induced the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES in HASMCs. In line with our findings, a study has shown IL-17A induced production of the eosinophil chemoattractant Eotaxin in HASMCs (110), suggesting that IL-17A could contribute to T2 airway inflammation. In agreement with our findings, it has also been shown that IL-17A increased eosinophil infiltration of the nasal polyps of chronic rhinosinusitis associated with asthma (248). To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to explore the effect of IL-17A on the production of other T2 inflammatory cytokines in human structural cells, particularly in HASMCs.

Our study also showed the upregulation of T2 inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression by IL-17A in HASMCs, suggesting that IL-17A may upregulate T2 inflammatory cytokines gene expression via transcriptional mechanism. Unlike other tested T2 inflammatory cytokines, we have not seen an increase in mRNA expression of Eotaxin and RANTES induced by IL-17A at 2h of stimulation. In support of this finding, a study demonstrated that HASMCs stimulated with TNF α and IL-1 β had no effect on mRNA expression of Eotaxin at 4h, and significant expression was seen at 8h (235). A significant mRNA expression of RANTES was observed at 12h to 24h after exposure to TNF-a (68). This could explain why we did not see an effect on Eotaxin and RANTES mRNA expression at 2h of stimulation with IL-17A. These findings, together with ours, could illustrate the critical role of the Th17 cytokine IL-17A in airway inflammation in asthma by stimulating T2 inflammatory response via transcriptional regulation.

In conclusion, this chapter provides an important finding that showed CSE may suppress the T2 inflammatory response and enhance the non-T2 inflammatory response by reducing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and increasing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. Our study provides insight that CS may switch the inflammatory responses in asthmatic smokers from T2 to non-T2 which known to be resistance to glucocorticoid. In the next chapter, we will investigate the mechanisms by which CSE inhibited the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines.

Chapter 4. Mechanisms of CSE effect on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in human airway smooth muscle cells

4.1 Introduction

HASMCs play an essential role in airway structure and function via regulating contractility, proliferation, and extracellular matrix production in the context of diseases such as asthma (192, 249-251). HASMCs produce inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and growth factors which contribute to airway inflammation (252, 253). CSE plays a vital role in airway inflammation in asthma, specifically neutrophilic airway inflammation (125). Chapter 3 demonstrated that CSE could suppress T2 airway inflammation while contributing to non-T2 airway inflammation by inhibiting the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and promoting the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines. However, the underlying mechanisms by which CSE affects HASMCs response are still unclear. In this chapter, we sought to identify molecular mechanisms by which CSE reduced T2 inflammatory responses on its own and together with IL-17A. Nicotine is considered to be the major active component of CS which classically acts through nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs). The a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) has been identified as the most expressed nAChR in HASMCs (230). So, we assessed the role of nicotine in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. It has also been shown that CS causes increased oxidative stress due to direct damage by free radical species, which enhance inflammatory responses (146). CS can stimulate reactive oxygen species (ROS), and glutathione (GSH) prevents ROS-mediated inflammation. GSH, a key antioxidant in the lungs, is reduced by cigarette smoking (254). We postulated that oxidative stress, induced by cigarette smoke, could be an important mechanism by which CSE inhibited

the production of Th2 cytokines and eosinophil chemokines and utilised the oxidative stress inhibitor to define the relative contribution of oxidative stress in the inhibitory effect of CSE. The oxidative stress inhibitor GSH, an important intra- and extracellular antioxidant in the lung, to define the relative contribution of oxidative stress in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE.

Cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 is one of the two main isoforms of the COX enzyme, which is induced by many inflammatory stimuli such as CS (168, 255). Prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) is the main COX product produced by HASMCs. It has been shown that CS can induce COX-2 expression and PGE₂ production in different cell types, including HASMCs (168). This chapter investigated whether the suppressing CSE effect on the T2 airway inflammation is mediated through COX-2 expression and its product PGE₂ synthesis. Furthermore, PGE₂ signals via four known receptors (EP₁–EP₄), with the cAMP signalling pathway responsible for major suppressive and regulatory functions of PGE₂ mostly through EP₂ and EP₄ receptors (256). In this chapter, we assessed whether the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is mediated by the prostaglandin receptors EP₂ and EP₄ through the cAMP pathway.

119

4.2 Aims

1- To assess the role of nicotine in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by applying nicotine and the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR) antagonist MG624.

2- To explore the role of oxidative stress in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by applying the oxidative stress inhibitor L-glutathione (GSH).

3- To investigate the potential role of COX2/ PGE₂ in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by using the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398, determining the effect of CSE on COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release using Western-blot and ELISA, respectively and lastly by assessing the effect exogenous PGE₂ on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.

4- To assess the role of prostaglandin EP_2/EP_4 receptors in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by using the EP_2/EP_2 receptor antagonists.

5- To confirm the role of cAMP in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by applying the cAMP analogue 8-Bromo.

4.3 Methods

CSE was prepared from the smoke of two research cigarettes bubbled into 20 ml of cell culture medium. Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with and without the α 7nAChR antagonist MG624 (1 µM), the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH (100 µM), the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 (10 µM), the prostaglandin EP₂ receptor antagonist PF 04418948 (10 µM) and the prostaglandin EP₄ receptor antagonist L-161,982 (1 µM) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A (4.3.1). Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without nicotine (500 µM), PGE2 (10 µM) and 8-Bromo-cAMP (100 µM) for 24h (4.3.2). Cytokines and chemokines were measured in the collected medium using the Bio-Plex Pro-Human Cytokine assay. RT-qPCR analysis was used to measure the mRNA expression of COX-2, and β2M was used as a reference gene. Western blotting was used to measure COX-2 protein expression.

4.3 Timeline for experiments



121

4.3.2 Timeline for experiments

HASMCs were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS until confluence

-24 hours Cells were serum starved

(Control group +/vehicle) 0 hour Cells were treated with or without nicotine (500 μM), or PGE2 (10 μM), or 100 μM of 8-Bromo-cAMP without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A 24 hours medium was collected to measure cytokine production

total cell lysate was also collected to quantify the protein

5

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Role of nicotine on the production of Th2 cytokines

We demonstrated in chapter 3 that CSE inhibited the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 in HASMCs. In this chapter, we assessed the role of nicotine in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by using nicotine and the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR) antagonist MG624. Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 were basally produced by HASMCs. As we showed before in chapter 3, CSE alone reduced the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, but not IL-5 (Figure 4.1) compared with the control. CSE also inhibited all tested Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-17A. MG624 did not reverse the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines with and without IL-17A stimulation. M624 also had no effect on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. Unlike the CSE, stimulation of the cells with nicotine had no effect on the production of Th2 cytokines. These results suggest that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines in HASMCs is not mediated by nicotine.



Figure 4.1 Role of nicotine on the production of Th2 cytokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without MG624 (1 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A or nicotine (500 μ M) for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 compared with untreated cells (control), #*p*<0.05 and ##*p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone.

4.4.2 Role of nicotine on the production of eosinophil chemokines

Eosinophil chemokines are responsible for eosinophil recruitment at the site of inflammation. In order to assess the role of nicotine in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines, we used the α7nAChR antagonist MG624, the most expressed nAChR in HASMCs, as a tool. As shown before, CSE alone reduced the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES with and without IL-17A stimulation in HASMCs. MG624 did not reverse the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines and on IL-17A-induced production of eosinophilic chemokines. MG624 also had no effect on IL-17Ainduced production of eosinophil chemokines. Nicotine had no effect on the production of eosinophil chemokines (Figure 4.2). Our findings suggest that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines in HASMCs is not mediated by nicotine.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without MG624 (1 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A or nicotine (500 μ M) for 24h. Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control and #*p*<0.05, ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone.

4.4.3 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

In order to explore whether oxidative stress could mediate the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines, we assessed if the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH can reverse the inhibitory effect of CSE. CSE reduced the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 but not IL-5 compared with control (Figure 4.3). CSE also reduced IL-17A-induced production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (Figure 4.3). Interestingly, GSH reversed the inhibition of IL-13 production by CSE (fold change 1.88, p<0.01, Figure 4.3 C) but had no effect on the inhibition of IL-4 production. GSH reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 and IL-5 (fold change 1.21, p<0.05 and 1.56, p<0.01, respectively, Figure 4.3 A and B), but not IL-13. GSH had no effect on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. These findings suggest that oxidative stress plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of some of the Th2 cytokines in HASMCs.





Figure 4.3 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without GSH (100 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, #*p*<0.05 and ##*p*<0.01 compared with IL-17A alone and +*p*<0.05 and ++*p*<0.01 compared -GSH with +GSH.

4.4.4 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil chemokine production

We assessed the effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH on the production of eosinophilic chemokines, which were inhibited by CSE on its own or together with IL-17A. As expected, CSE inhibited the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES on its own and after IL-17A stimulation. GSH reversed the inhibition of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES production by CSE compared with CSE alone (fold change 1.6, 2.4, and 1.4, respectively, Figure 4.4). In addition, GSH also reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES (fold change 1.3, 1.3 and 1.6, respectively, Figure 4.4). Furthermore, GSH had no effect on 17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES (Figure 4.4). These findings, together with the results described in 4.3, strongly suggest that oxidative stress plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.



Figure 4.4 Effect of the Oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil chemokine production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without GSH (100 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared with control, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 and ###p<0.001 compared with L-17A alone and +p<0.05 and ++p<0.01 compared -GSH with +GSH.

4.4.5 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

Studies showed that CSE induced COX-2 expression in HASMCs (168). Therefore, we investigate the potential role of COX2 in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines by using the COX2 inhibitor NS-398. CSE inhibited the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 but not IL-5, with and without IL-17A stimulation (Figure 4.5). Interestingly, NS-398 reversed the inhibition of IL-4 and IL-13 production by CSE and increased their production by 17.1% and 35.5%, respectively, compared with CSE alone (p<0.05 for both, Figure 4.5). NS-398 also reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 and IL-13 (Increased by 17.9%, p<0.01 and 14.3%, p<0.05, respectively, Figure 4.5), but not IL-5. NS-398 had no effect on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. These findings suggest the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 is mediated by increased COX-2 expression and/or activity in HASMCs.



Figure 4.5 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without NS-398 (10 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with control, #*p*<0.05, ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone and +*p*<0.05 and ++*p*<0.01 compared -NS-398 with +NS-398.

4.4.6 Effect of the COX-2 inhibitor on CSE inhibition of eosinophil chemokine production

We showed in 4.4.5 that NS-398 reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines, and then we assessed if NS-398 could also reverse the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines. As shown before, CSE reduced the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES on its own and with IL-17A stimulation (Figure 4.6). NS-398 reversed the inhibition of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES production by CSE and increased their production by 42.9% (p<0.05), 50.4% (p<0.01) and 16.2% (p<0.05), respectively, compared with CSE alone. NS-398 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES and increased their production by 22.7% (p<0.05), 29.5% (p<0.01) and 32.1% (p<0.05), respectively, compared with CSE and IL-17A. NS-398 had no effect on IL-17A-induced production of eosinophilic chemokines. Taken together, these results suggest that the CSE effect on the production of eosinophil chemokines is mediated by COX-2 expression and/or activity in HASMCs.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without NS-398 (10 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, #*p*<0.05, ##*p*<0.01 and ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone and +*p*<0.05, ++*p*<0.01 compared -NS-398 with +NS-398.

4.4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA and protein expression of COX-2 and PGE₂ production

As we showed in 4.4.5 and 4.46, the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 reversed CSE inhibition of T2 inflammatory cytokine production with and without IL-17A stimulation. Then we sought to assess whether the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines could be mediated through COX-2 expression and the synthesis of its main product prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂). The protein of COX-2 was not basally expressed. CSE, but not IL-17A, significantly increased protein expression of COX-2 (fold change 2.616 \pm 0.67, *p*<0.01, Figure 4.7). CSE, but not IL-17A, also increased mRNA expression of COX-2 at time point 2h and 8h (fold change 4.49 ± 0.21 , p<0.0001 and 3.47 ± 0.41 , p<0.01, respectively) as shown in Figure 4.8. No further increase in either protein or mRNA expression of COX-2 was observed after cotreatment of CSE and IL-17A treatment compared with CSE alone (Figures 4.7 and 4.8). Then we examined the effect of CSE and IL-17A on the production of PGE₂. PGE₂ was basally produced by HASMCs (770.5 pg/mg protein, Figure 4.7). CSE increased the production of PGE₂ by 2.3-fold (*p*<0.05), while IL-17A had no effect on the production of PGE₂ (Figure 4.9). No further increase in the production of PGE₂ was seen after cells were stimulated with CSE and IL-17A (Figure 4.4.9). These results provide direct evidence that CSE induces COX-2 expression and PGE₂ synthesis and strongly support the concept that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is largely mediated by COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release in HASMCs.



Figure 4.7 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the protein expression of COX-2

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. Total cell lysates were collected for Western blot analysis of COX-2 protein. A, a representative Western blot showing the effect of CSE and CSE+IL-17A on COX-2 protein expression. B, optical densitometry analysis of Western blotting bands. Data were normalised with the loading control GAPDH and were expressed as fold change over untreated cells (Control). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control.



Figure 4.8 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of COX-2

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 2h, 8h and 24h. Total RNA was isolated and then the samples were assayed for the mRNA expression of COX-2 using RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over untreated cells (Control). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control.



Figure 4.9 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on PGE₂ production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure the production of PGE₂ by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 compared with control.

4.4.8 Effect of the oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE-induced protein expression of COX-2 and PGE₂ production

Our previous results showed that CSE inhibited the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, and this inhibition was reversed by pre-treatment of HASMCs with the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH. These findings suggest that oxidative stress plays a role in the inhibitory effect of CSE on T2 airway inflammation. We also demonstrated that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is largely mediated by COX-2 expression. However, whether oxidative stress plays a role in mediating CSE-induced COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release is unknown. A study conducted by our group examined the role of oxidative stress in COX-2 expression induced by CSE (unpublished observation). Our study demonstrated CSE-induced protein expression of COX-2 (fold change 12.8, p < 0.01, Figure 4.10). Interestingly, we showed that GSH inhibited CSEinduced COX-2 protein expression in HASMCs by 86.51% (p<0.01, Figure 4.10). We further assessed the effect of GSH on CSE-induced production of PGE₂. CSE induced the production of PGE₂ by 2.3-fold compared with untreated cells (p<0.05, Figure 4.11 A), while IL-17A had no effect on the production of PGE₂ (Figure 4.11 B). GSH reduced CSE-induced production of PGE₂ in the absence or presence of IL-17A by 79.25% and 69.01% (p<0.01 and p<0.01, respectively, Figure 4.11 A and C). These results suggest that CSE-induced COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release is mediated via oxidative stress in HASMCs.



Figure 4.10 Effect of oxidative stress inhibitor on CSE induced protein expression of COX-2

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without GSH (100 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with CSE (3.5%) for 24h. Total cell lysates were collected for Western blot analysis of COX-2 protein. A, a representative Western blot showing the effect of CSE with and without GSH on COX-2 protein expression. B, optical densitometry analysis of Western blotting bands. Data were normalised with the loading control GAPDH and were expressed as fold change over untreated cells (Control). Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 compared with control and ##*p*<0.01 compared with CSE. This Figure was provided by our group (unpublished result)





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without GSH (100 μ M) for 1h before incubation with CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml) or CSE+IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure the concentration of PGE₂ by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 compared with control, ##*p*<0.01 compared to CSE alone or CSE+IL-17A.

4.4.9 Effect of exogenous PGE2 on the production of Th2 cytokines

PGE₂ is an endogenous lipid mediator of inflammation, and the ratelimiting upstream enzyme COX-2 regulates the production of PGE₂. We showed that CSE induced PGE₂ release from HASMCs (Figure 4.9). In order to further explore the role of PGE₂ in mediating the CSE effect on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, we examined whether the exogenous PGE₂ has a similar effect as CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines in HASMCs. CSE alone reduced the production of IL-4 and IL-13 but not IL-5, while IL-17A induced the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (Figure 4.12). CSE also inhibited IL-17A-induced production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (Figure 4.12). Exogenous PGE₂ on its own had no effect on the production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 compared with untreated cells. PGE₂ treatment together with CSE did not enhance the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines. Then we assessed the effect of PGE2 on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. Interestingly, PGE₂ reduced IL-17A-induced production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 by 20.75%, 15.74% and 40.4%, respectively, compared with IL-17A alone (p<0.01, p<0.01 and p<0.001, Figure 4.12). PGE₂ did not amplify CSE inhibition of IL-17Ainduced production of Th2 cytokines compared with CSE and IL-17A (Figure 4.12). Taken together, our results demonstrate that exogenous PGE₂ can mimic the effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced Th2 cytokine production and further supports that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2

cytokines is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE₂via oxidative stress in HASMCs.



Figure 4.12 Effect of exogenous PGE_2 on the production of Th2 cytokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A, PGE₂ (10 μ M), PGE₂+CSE, PGE₂+IL-17A or PGE₂+CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentration were measured in the collected supernatants using multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone.
4.4.13 Effect of exogenous PGE₂ on the production of eosinophilic chemokines

To explore the role of PGE₂ in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE, the effect exogenous PGE₂ on the production of eosinophil chemokines in HASMCs was assessed. CSE alone reduced the production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES compared with control (Figure 4.13). CSE reduced IL-17Ainduced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES (Figure 4.13). PGE₂ alone reduced the production of Eotaxin by 82.8% compared with control (p<0.01, Figure 4.13 A) but had no effect on the production of IP-10 or RANTES (Figure 4.13 B and C). PGE₂ did not enhance the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophilic chemokines. PGE2 inhibited IL-17Ainduced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES by 89.6% (p<0.0001), 31.4% (p<0.01) and 17.55% (p<0.01), respectively compared with IL-17A alone (Figure 4.13). PGE₂ did not enhance the CSE inhibition of IL-17Ainduced production of eosinophil chemokines compared with CSE and IL-17A treatment (Figure 4.13). Together with the results described in 4.12, these findings demonstrate that exogenous PGE₂ can mimic the effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of eosinophil chemokines and strongly supports that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE₂ via oxidative stress in HASMCs



Figure 4.13 Effect of exogenous PGE₂ on the production of eosinophil chemokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), PGE₂ (10 μ M), CSE+IL-17A or PGE₂+IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentration by multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. ***p*<0.01 compared with control, ##*p*<0.01 and ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone, ++*p*<0.0 and ++++*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.

4.4.10 Effect of the prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

We showed that induction of COX-2 expression by CSE (Figure 4.7) in HASMCs was accompanied by an increase in the production of PGE₂ (Figure 4.9). PGE₂ signals via four known receptors (EP₁–EP₄). PGE₂ is linked to adenylyl cyclase through its receptors EP₂ and EP₄ (257) to increase cyclic AMP production in HASMCs (258). EP₂ and EP₄ receptors were shown to be expressed in HASMCs, with EP₄ being the functionally dominant EP subtype (177). However, whether PGE2 mediates the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines through EP₂ and EP₄ receptors. Interestingly, PF 04418948 reversed the inhibition of IL-4 and IL-13 production by CSE and increased concentrations of IL-4 and IL-13 by 1.61- (p<0.05) and 1.52-fold (p<0.01), respectively, compared with CSE alone (Figure 4.14 A and C). L-161,982 also blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of IL-4 and IL-13 and increased concentrations of IL-4 and IL-13 by 1.58- (p<0.05) and 1.45-fold (p<0.05), respectively compared with CSE alone (Figure 4.14 A and C). PF 04418948 and L-161,982 had no effect on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. PF 04418948 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4 and IL-5 (fold change 1.1 and 1.25, respectively, Figure 4.14 A and B) but had no effect on IL-13 production. L-161,982 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (fold change 1.5, 1.47 and 1.49, respectively, Figure 4.14). These findings confirm that PGE₂ mediates the effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines through EP_2 and EP_4 receptors and suggest that downstream cAMP could play a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE.





Figure 4.14 Effect of the prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of Th2 cytokine production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without EP₂ receptor antagonist PF 04418948 (10 μ M) or EP₄ receptor antagonist L-161,982 (1 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ****p*<0.01 compared +PF 04418948 with CSE or CSE+IL-17A and +*p*<0.05 and ++*p*<0.01 compared +L-161,982 with CSE or CSE+IL-17A.

4.4.11 Effect of the prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of eosinophilic chemokine production

The above results (4.4.14) showed that PF 04418948 and L-161,982 reversed the inhibition of Th2 cytokine production by CSE. However, whether PF 04418948 and the L-161,982 can block the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES is unknown. CSE inhibited the production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES alone and with IL-17A stimulation (Figure 4.15). PF 04418948 reversed the inhibition of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES production by CSE compared with CSE alone (fold change 5.53, 1.40, and 1.21, respectively, Figure 4.15). L-161,982 also blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE and increased concentrations of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES by 7.15, 1.39 and 1.72-fold, respectively, compared with CSE alone (Figure 4.15). PF 04418948 blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES (fold change 7.25, 1.18 and 1.37, respectively, compared with CSE+IL-17A, Figure 4.15). L-161,982 also blocked the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES and increased their concentrations by 7.6, 1.5 and 1.49fold compared with CSE+IL-17A (Figure 4.15). These findings strongly suggest that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄ pathway via oxidative stress and may suggest that downstream cAMP could play a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE.



Figure 4.15 Effect of prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ receptors antagonist on CSE inhibition of eosinophilic chemokine production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without EP₂ receptor antagonist PF 04418948 (10 μ M) or EP₄ receptor antagonist L-161,982 (1 μ M) for 1h prior to incubation with or without CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentration by multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with control, #*p*<0.05 and ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared +PF 04418948 with CSE or CSE+IL-17A and +*p*<0.05, ++*p*<0.01 and +++*p*<0.001 compared +L-161,982 with CSE or CSE+IL-17A.

4.4.12 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of Th2 cytokines

We showed in 4.4.14 and 4.4.15 that PGE₂ mediates the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines through its EP2 and EP₄ receptors therefore we explored whether cAMP is playing a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE. Therefore, we assessed the effect of 8-Bromo, a cell-permeable cAMP analogue, on the production of Th2 cytokines and IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines. As expected, CSE inhibited the production of IL-4 and IL-13 compared with control, but not IL-5, on its own and with IL-17A stimulation (Figure 4.16). 8-Bromo alone had no effect on the production of Th2 cytokines compared with control (Figure 4.16). 8-Bromo did not further reduce the CSE inhibition of the production of Th2 cytokines compared with CSE alone (Figure 4.16). Interestingly, like CSE, 8-Bromo reduced the production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-17-A by 18.64% (*p*<0.05), 17.82% (*p*<0.01) and 23.14% (p<0.01), respectively (Figure 4.16). 8-Bromodid not enhance the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of Th2 cytokines compared with CSE+IL-17A (Figure 4.16). Taken together, our findings suggest that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of Th2 cytokines is mediated through COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress.





Figure 4.16 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of Th2 cytokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without 8-BromocAMP (100 μ M), CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A or 8-Bromo+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentration were measured in the collected supernatants using multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared IL-17A alone and +*p*<0.05 and ++*p*<0.01 compared IL-17A alone.

4.4.13 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of eosinophil chemokines

To further confirm the role of cAMP in the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, we assessed the effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of eosinophil chemokines Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES with and without CSE and IL-17A. As shown before, CSE inhibited the production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES with and without IL-17A stimulation (Figure 4.17). 8-Bromo alone reduced production of Eotaxin, but not IP-10 and RANTES, by 91.6% compared with the control (Figure 4.17). 8-Bromo did not enhance the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines compared with CSE alone. Interestingly, 8-Bromo reduced IL-17A-induced production of Eotaxin, IP-10 and RANTES by 89.02% (p<0.05), 11.37% (p<0.01) and 9.47% (p<0.01), respectively (Figure 4.17). 8-Bromo did not enhance the CSE inhibition of IL-17A-induced production of eosinophil chemokines compared with CSE and IL-17A (Figure 4.17). Together with previous results, these findings strongly suggest that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines is mediated by COX-2/PGE₂/EP₄/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress.

154



Figure 4.17 Effect of 8-Bromo-cAMP on the production of eosinophil chemokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with or without 8-BromocAMP (100 μ M), CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE+IL-17A or 8-Bromo+IL-17A for 24h. Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentration were measured in the collected supernatants using multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and ****p*<0.001 compared with control, ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.0001 compared IL-17A alone and +*p*<0.05, ++*p*<0.01 and ++++*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone

4.5 Discussion

We showed in the chapter 3 that CSE suppressed the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and increased the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines, suggesting that CSE may shift the airway inflammation from T2 to non-T2. This study investigated the molecular mechanisms by which CSE reduced the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines with and without IL-17A stimulation in HASMCs. This chapter presented evidence for the first time that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is largely mediated through COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress. Table 4.1 summarised all the drugs effect on the inhibitory effect of CSE in addition to the effect of exogenous PGE₂ and 8-bromo production of T2 inflammatory cytokines.

Table 4.1 Summary for the drugs effect

Cytokine	IL-4	IL-5	IL-13	Eotaxin	IP-10	RANTES
Effect of GSH on the inhibitory effect of CSE	\Leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	٨	^	^	٨
Effect of GSH on the inhibitory effect of CSE with IL-17A stimulation	٨	٨	\leftrightarrow	٨	↑	٨
Effect of NS-398 on the inhibitory effect of CSE	≮	\Leftrightarrow	^	↑	↑	^
Effect of NS-398 on the inhibitory effect of CSE with IL-17A stimulation	♠	\Leftrightarrow	^	^	↑	*
Effect of exogenous PGE ₂	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	¥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Effect of exogenous PGE ₂ with IL-17A stimulation	¥	¥	¥	₩	₩	¥
Effect of PF 04418948 on the inhibitory effect of CSE	^	\leftrightarrow	↑	^	↑	^
Effect of PF 04418948 on the inhibitory effect of CSE with IL-17A stimulation	≮	\leftrightarrow	\Leftrightarrow	^	4	*
Effect of L-161,982 on the inhibitory effect of CSE	4	\Leftrightarrow	^	↑	↑	↑
Effect of L-161,982 on the inhibitory effect of CSE with IL-17A stimulation	↑	↑	↑	↑	↑	٨
Effect of 8-Bromo	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	₩	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Effect of 8-Bromo with IL- 17A stimulation	₩	¥	¥	₩	₩	¥

▲ = Reversed/ increased

 Ψ = Reduced \iff = No change/had no

effect

4.5.1 Cigarette smoke, nicotine, and oxidative stress

Nicotine is the major active substance of CS and classically acts via nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs). It has been shown that a7nAChR is the most nicotinic receptor expressed in HASMCs, with increased expression of α7nAChR in asthmatics and smokers (230). Our study demonstrated that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is not mediated by nicotine by using nicotine and the α7nAChR antagonist MG624. In contrast with our finding, an *in vivo* study showed that nicotine inhibited allergen ragweed antigen-induced mRNA expression of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 in rats (259). Moreover, in the BAL, the protein content of IL-4 and IL-13 was significantly less in nicotine and ragweed antigen (NRW) mice (259). In previous in vivo study (259) 1 mg of nicotine per kg (body weight) per day to achieve a plasma nicotine level of around 28 ng/ml which is nearly equivalent to the plasma nicotine level of a one-pack per day smoker. These differences from our findings could be justified by different experimental models (in vitro vs in vivo) and nicotine administration and exposure time (nicotine was administered for 7 days prior to exposure to an allergen). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the role of nicotine on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in airway structural cells, including HASMCs.

CS can induce oxidative stress directly by the free radicals in smoke or indirectly by the inflammatory response induced by CS (260). CSE increased the heme-oxygenase-1, an intracellular indicator of oxidative stress, in HASMCs (125). Chronic CSE exposure significantly increased the expression of the antioxidant protein Manganese Superoxide Dismutase (Mn-SOD), a marker of oxidative stress, in human bronchial epithelial cell line BEAS-2B (261). Acute exposure to CSE also increased oxidative stress in human alveolar epithelial cell line A549 (262). These studies could illustrate that CSE causes increased oxidative stress which can contribute to airway inflammation and lung damage in smokers. Our results support the theory in the literature that oxidative stress plays an important role in smokerelated lung diseases. We demonstrated an important finding that the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on most of the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, suggesting that oxidative stress plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. In fact, we showed that GSH did not reverse the CSE inhibition of IL-4 and IL-13 production on its own and after IL-17A stimulation respectively. This differences from the rest of T2 inflammatory cytokines could be generally due to the relatively low production of Th2 cytokines in HASMCs as previous study have also showed that Th2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13 are expressed at low levels in HASMCs (32). Although we did not see a significant reversion of inhibition of CSE on these Th2 cytokines by GSH, but we observed a trend of increase in the cytokine concentration, and this could be due to the number of cell lines of HASMCs (3 cell lines) we used in this study. In contrast with our findings, a study (112) showed that GSH did not reverse the inhibition of Eotaxin and RANTES production by CSE in HASMCs. These differences can be explained by the

different cigarettes they used (Full 4 strength Marlboro cigarettes), and GSH (100 μ M) was used for 30 min before cells were exposed to CSE, while in our study, we used research cigarettes (3R4F research-grade cigarettes) and the cells were pre-treated with GSH (100 μ M) for 1h prior to CSE stimulation. Furthermore, the genetic and phenotypic cell-to-cell heterogeneity could be another reason for this contradiction.

CS-mediated oxidative stress enhances the inflammatory response in the airways by stimulating the release of proinflammatory cytokines (263). A study showed that GSH inhibited CSE-induced production of IL-8 in HASMCs (112), suggesting that the effect of CSE on the production of IL-8 is dependent on oxidative stress. The role of oxidative stress in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on T2 inflammatory cytokine production in our study and the pro-inflammatory effect of CSE on the non-T2 cytokine IL-8 production in the previous study (112) may suggest that oxidative stress caused by CSE could shift the airway inflammation from T2 to non-T2.

4.5.2 Cigarette smoke, COX-2 and PGE₂

We believe that we are the first to report that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is mediated through the COX-2 pathway in HASMCs by using the selective COX-2 inhibitor NS-398. We also provide direct evidence that CSE induced mRNA and protein expression of COX-2 and PGE₂ synthesis which strongly support the concept that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines may be largely mediated by COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release in HASMCs. Our finding that CSE induced protein and mRNA expression of COX-2, suggesting that CSE may upregulate COX-2 gene expression via

transcriptional mechanism. In agreement with our findings, a study showed that CSE-induced COX-2 protein expression and PGE₂ production in HASMCs by CSE, and the PGE₂ induction was inhibited by pre-treatment with the inhibitor of COX-2 NS-398 (168), suggesting that CSE stimulated PGE₂ production by CSE is dependent on COX-2 expression and/or activity. In support of our finding, a study conducted by our group showed that CSE induced COX-2 expression in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (PASMCs) (167). Our study is the first to link the upregulation of COX-2 with mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE inflammatory on T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs.

We have further confirmed the role of PGE₂ in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines by exposing HASMCs to exogenous PGE₂. We showed that exogenous PGE₂ can mimic the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced T2 inflammatory cytokine production and strongly supports that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokine is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE2. Although COX-2/PGE2 largely mediates the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, The exogenous PGE₂ alone had no effect on the production of all tested T2 inflammatory cytokines except eotaxin compared with CSE. These differences between CSE and exogenous PGE₂ effect on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in addition to PGE2 could be involved in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is addition to PGE2 could be involved in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. Since exogenous PGE₂ did not further amplify the inhibitory effect of CSE on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines with or

161

without IL-17A, suggesting that the induction of PGE₂ is properly high enough so even with exogenous PGE₂ we could not see further increase of inhibitory effect of CSE. In agreement with our finding that exogenous PGE₂ reduced T2 inflammatory response, an in vivo study showed that PGE2 administered by intratracheal insufflation of (1µg) reduced allergen-induced airway eosinophilia in rats (264). Our hypothesis that PGE₂ reduced T2 inflammatory response is also supported by a study that showed PGE₂ suppressed Th2 cells activation and attenuated eosinophil trafficking (265). The same study (265) showed that PGE₂ had a direct inhibitory effect on the human eosinophil migration. Moreover, another study agreed with our results showed that PGE₂ reduced production of IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-25, IL-33, TSLP and IL-2 in Group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) (24), suggesting that PGE₂ could suppress the T2 airway response by inhibiting the production of Th2 cytokines. Our findings are also supported by clinical study which showed that inhaled PGE₂ inhibited allergen induced T2 airway responses and inflammation, when given immediately prior to inhaled allergen. Taken together, these studies support our finding that exogenous PGE₂ has a similar inhibitory effect as CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, and strongly supports that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of eosinophil chemokines is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE₂ in HASMCs.

An interesting finding by our group showed that GSH inhibited COX-2 protein expression induced by CSE and in addition to that the current study demonstrated for the first time that CSE-induced PGE₂ production is also inhibited by GSH in HASMCs, which suggest that oxidative stress plays a 162 role in mediating CSE-induced COX-2 expression and PGE₂ release. In agreement with this finding a clinical study demonstrated that GSH inhalation in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients reduced PGE₂ levels bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) (266).

PGE₂ signals via four known receptors (EP₁–EP₄), with the cAMP signalling pathway responsible for major suppressive and regulatory functions of PGE₂, mostly through EP₂ and EP₄ receptors (256). In our study, interestingly, EP₂ and EP₄ antagonists restored the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines inhibited by CSE alone. EP2 receptor antagonist reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of T2 inflammatory cytokines except IL-5 and IL-13, while EP₄ receptor antagonist reversed the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of all T2 inflammatory cytokines. Although we did not see a significant reversion by the EP₂ receptor antagonist of the Th2 cytokine IL-5 and IL-13 production inhibited by CSE, but we have observed a trend of increase, this could be due to number of cell lines of HASMCs (3 cell lines) we have used. Thus, increasing sample size could provide statistical power to help minimise variations among cellular responses. In support of our findings, a study showed that PGE₂ suppressed Th2 cells activation and attenuated eosinophil trafficking via EP₂ and EP₄ receptors (265). In the previous study (265), PGE₂ inhibited the mobilisation of bone marrow eosinophils induced by IL-5 and prevented the allergen-induced recruitment of eosinophils into the lungs via its EP₂ receptor. In line with our findings, blocking EP₂ and EP₄ receptors reversed the suppressing effect of PGE₂ on the production of Th2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-25, IL-33, TSLP and IL-2 in ILC2s 163

(267). Interestingly, in the same study (267), they have shown that activation of selective EP4 receptor have more profound suppressive effects than activation of EP2 receptor. In agreement with our finding that the EP₂ receptor antagonist did not reverse the inhibitory effect of CSE on IL-17Ainduced the production of IL-5 and IL-13. Moreover, a study demonstrated that EP₂ and EP₄ receptors are functionally important in HASMCs and mediate cAMP generation and also showed that EP₄ is the predominant EP receptor subtype driving PGE₂-mediated signalling and proliferation (177). Our study findings confirm that PGE₂ mediates the effect of CSE on T2 inflammatory response through EP₂ and EP₄ receptors and suggest that downstream cAMP could play a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE.

We demonstrated an important finding that cAMP analogue 8-Bromo had a similar effect as CSE on IL-17A-induced the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, suggesting that downstream cAMP plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. This finding is consistent with a study that showed that 8-Bromo resulted in a decrease in IL-1 β induced Eotaxin production and mRNA expression compared with IL-1 β alone in HASMCs (184), suggesting that cAMP may play a role in the inhibition of production of Eotaxin. In line with our findings, another study demonstrated that 8-Bromo significantly inhibited TNF- α -induced production of Eotaxin in HASMCs (268). These findings support our results that 8-bromo had an inhibitory effect on IL-17A-induced production of T2 inflammatory cytokines, but our study is the first to link the effect of 8-bromo could mediate the inhibitory effect of CSE on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines. Our results showed that 8-Bromo had a weaker

164

inhibitory effect on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines compared with CSE, suggesting that something else in addition to cAMP pathway could play a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE. 8-bromo did not further increase the inhibitory effect of CSE on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines with or without IL-17A. This finding can be due that CSE produced enough PGE₂ and as result it increased cAMP to certain level which no longer can generate stronger inhibitory effect on production of T2 inflammatoring the underlying mechanisms by which CS may shift the airway inflammation in asthma from T2 to non-T2 through COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress (Figure 4.18) and may thereby induce glucocorticoid insensitivity.



Figure 4.18 Mechanisms of CSE effect on T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs

This diagram illustrates mechanism mediating inhibitory effect of CSE on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and on IL-17A induced production of these cytokines. We showed that oxidative stress plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE by applying the oxidative stress inhibitor GSH. We also showed that

the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is largely mediated by COX-2 expression by using the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398. Then, we provide direct evidence that CSE induced COX-2 expression and PGE₂ synthesis which strongly support that the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines is largely mediated by COX-2/PGE₂. We demonstrate that exogenous PGE₂ can mimic the effect of CSE on production of T2 inflammatory cytokines through its EP₂/EP₄ receptors by applying EP₂ and EP₄ receptor antagonist PF 04418948 and L-161,982, respectively. Finally, we showed that downstream cAMP also plays a role in mediating the inhibitory effect of CSE by using cAMP analogue 8-Bromo.

Chapter 5. Impact of cigarette smoke extract on the antiinflammatory effect of glucocorticoids in human airway smooth muscle cells

5.1 Introduction

The non-T2 endotype of asthma is associated with neutrophilic airway inflammation as well as increased Th17 cytokines (20, 83). Cigarette smoke (CS) has been linked with non-T2 airway inflammation in asthma compared with asthmatic patients who have never smoked (236, 269). We have shown in chapter 3 that CSE may shift the airway inflammation in asthma from T2 to non-T2. CS is a significant inflammatory factor in the airways and has been shown to promote non-T2 airway inflammation in asthmatic smokers (219, 236). Th17 cytokines also play a crucial role in non-T2 airway response and the development of severe forms of asthma, which known to be insensitive to glucocorticoids treatment (270). Glucocorticoids are the main treatment for chronic inflammatory diseases including asthma (192). Studies showed that asthmatic smokers do not respond to glucocorticoids as effectively as non-smokers (220-223). We have demonstrated in chapter 3 that CSE may shift the airway inflammation from T2 to non-T2 by supressing the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines and promoting the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs which may thereby lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity. This chapter explored the role of CSE and IL-17A in non-T2 airway inflammation by inducing the production of non-T2 chemokines and their inhibition by fluticasone. The main aim of the chapter was to determine if CSE influences the inhibition of IL-17A-induced non-T2 chemokine production by glucocorticoids.

5.2 Aim

To investigate whether fluticasone can inhibit CSE and IL17A induced production of non-T2 chemokine IL-8.

5.3 Methods

CSE was prepared from the smoke of two cigarettes bubbled into 20 ml of cell culture medium. Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) were pre-treated with and without CSE (3.5%) for 24h. Cells were then treated with fluticasone (10^{-11} - 10^{-6} M) for 1 hour before incubation with CSE, IL-17A (10 ng/ml), or CSE + IL17A for 24h. The non-T2 chemokines IL-8 concentration were measured in supernatants by ELISA. The results from different experiments were analysed to calculate IC₅₀ using GraphPad Prism software. The drug concentrations were converted to log₁₀ scales and plotted on X-axis, while the normalised response of IL-8 and GRO- α production (as 100%) was plotted on Y-axis. Non-linear regression analysis in the software was used to generate the curve and IC₅₀ values.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Effect of fluticasone on CSE- and IL-17A-induced the production of IL-8

In this study, we aimed to assess the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on CSE-induced neutrophilic IL-8 production in HASMCs. Confirming observation from Chapter 3, a 15.2-fold increase was observed in IL-8 concentration after stimulation with CSE (9627.1 pg/mg protein) compared with the control (633.3 pg/mg protein) (p<0.001, Figure 5.4.1 A). Fluticasone inhibited CSE-induced IL-8 production in a concentration-dependent manner with significant inhibition by 78.8% seen at fluticasone concentration of 10⁻⁹ M compared to CSE (p<0.01, Figure 5.4.1 A). Maximum inhibition was achieved with the highest concentration of fluticasone 10⁻⁶ M compared with the control (IL-8 concentration 683.8 and 633.3 pg/mg protein, respectively). These findings suggest that fluticasone can inhibit CSE increased IL-8 production in HASMCs.

In this study, we also investigated the inhibitory effect fluticasone on IL-17A-induced IL-8 production in HASMCs. IL-8 concentration was increased by 4.4-fold after stimulation with IL-17A (4142.2 pg/mg protein) over the control (943.5 pg/mg protein, Figure 5.4.1 B), confirming the findings in Chapter 3. IL-17A-induced IL-8 production was inhibited by fluticasone in a concentration-dependent manner with a significant inhibition of 31.1% seen at a concentration of 10^{-10} M compared to IL-17A (p<0.05). The maximum inhibition of IL-17A-induced IL-8 by fluticasone (74.1%) was seen at a concentration of 10^{-6} M (1074.2 pg/mg protein) compared with the

control (Figure 5.4.1 B). The findings suggest that fluticasone can inhibit IL-17A induce IL-8 production in HASMCs.



Figure 5.4.1 Effect of fluticasone on CSE- and IL-17A-induced the production of IL-8

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE (3.5%) for 24h prior to treatment with an increasing concentration of fluticasone (10⁻¹¹-10⁻⁶ M) for 1h and after that, cells were treated with CSE or IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure IL-8 concentration by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents the mean \pm SEM of three experiments carried out in triplicate using cells from three different donors. ****p*<0.001 and *****p*<0.001 compared with control (unstimulated cells), #*p*<0.05, ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared with CSE or IL-17A.

5.4.2 Effect of fluticasone on (CSE + IL-17A)-induced the production of IL-8

We explored the impact of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 and its inhibition by fluticasone in HASMCs. IL-8 concentration was increased by 17.5-fold after stimulation with (CSE + IL-17A) (46346.3 pg/mg protein) over the control (2701.1 pg/mg protein, Figure 5.4.2). A synergistic effect was observed on IL-8 production after (CSE + IL-17A) stimulation compared with CSE alone (9627.1 pg/mg protein, Figure 5.4.1) or IL-17A alone (4142.2 pg/mg protein, Figure 5.4.1). CSE and IL-17A (CSE+IL-17A)induced IL-8 production was inhibited by fluticasone in a concentrationdependent manner with a significant inhibition of 62.1% seen at a concentration of 10^{-9} M compared to (CSE + IL-17A) stimulation (p<0.05). The maximum inhibition of (CSE+-IL-17A)-induced IL-8 by fluticasone (81.5%) was seen at a concentration of 10⁻⁶ M (8556.2 pg/mg protein) compared with the control (Figure 5.4.2). The findings suggest that CSE and IL-17A have a synergistic effect on IL-8 production, which may lead to a further increase of non-T2 inflammation, and this production is sensitive to inhibition by fluticasone.



Figure 5.4.2 Effect of fluticasone on (CSE + IL-17A)-induced the production of IL-8

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with or without CSE for 24h. Cells were then treated with an increasing concentration of fluticasone (10^{-11} - 10^{-6} M) for 1h prior to incubation with CSE+IL-17A for 24h. The collected supernatants were used to measure IL-8 concentration by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM of three experiments carried out in triplicate using cells from three different donors. ****p*<0.001 compared with control (unstimulated cells), ##*p*<0.01 and ###*p*<0.001 compared with CSE+IL-17A alone.

5.4.3 CSE impact on the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17Ainduced IL-8 production

Clinical and *in vitro* studies have shown that cigarette smoke or CSE enhance to non-T2 airway response, which contribute to sever form of asthma and may lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity. However, there is a lack of evidence that CSE can influence the inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids in cellular studies. Therefore, we aimed to explore whether CSE influences the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced production of the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 in HASMCs. IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 and (CSE and IL-17A)-induced production of IL-8 were inhibited by fluticasone in a concentration-dependent manner with IC₅₀= 0.051 nM and IC₅₀= 0.616 nM, respectively as shown in Figure 5.4.3. Complete inhibition of IL-17A-induced IL8 production by fluticasone was observed at a concentration of 10⁻⁶ M but no complete inhibition by fluticasone was achieved in (CSE and IL-17A)-induced IL-8 production even with the highest concentration of 10⁻⁶ M. A significant difference was observed in the inhibition of (CSE and IL-17A)-induced IL-8 production compared with IL-17A-induced IL-8 production (Two-way ANOVA analysis, p<0.0001, Figure 5.4.3). There was a significant reduction in the inhibitory effect of fluticasone at 10⁻⁹ and 10⁻⁸ M concentrations on (CSE and IL-17A)-induced IL-8 production compared with IL-17A-induced IL-8 production (p<0.01, Figure 5.4.3). The results suggest that CSE reduce the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced IL-8 production in HASMCs, which may lead to glucocorticoid insensitivity.



Figure 5.4.3 Comparison of the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on (CSE and IL-17A)- and IL-17A-induced IL-8 production

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were pre-treated with fluticasone (10^{-11} - 10^{-6} M) for 1 hour prior to incubation with IL-17A (10 ng/ml), CSE (3.5%) or CSE+IL-17A for 24 hours. The collected supernatants were used to measure IL8 concentration by ELISA. Data were normalised to total protein and then expressed as a percentage against either IL-17A alone or CSE+IL-17A (100%). Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of one experiment carried out in triplicate. **p<0.05 compared with control. Two-way ANOVA was used to compare the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-8 production by CSE+IL-17A and IL-17A alone.

5.5 Discussion

We found that CSE significantly induced the production of IL-8 but had no effect on GRO-α production in HASMCs and CSE-induced production of IL-8 was sensitive to inhibition by fluticasone. Studies supporting our findings have previously shown that CSE increased the production of IL8 and in HASMCs (129, 271), suggesting that CSE may contribute to non-T2 inflammatory response. Taken together, our findings along with other studies suggest that CSE enhanced the non-T2 inflammatory response by inducing the neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 production.

We then evaluated whether IL-17A could contribute to non-T2 inflammation by stimulating the production of neutrophilic chemokine IL-8 and GRO- α in HASMCs. We found that fluticasone inhibited IL17A-increased the production of IL-8. In agreement with our findings, studies showed that IL-17A induced the production of IL-8 in airway epithelial cells and HASMCs (95, 96). Our findings with others strongly suggest that IL-17A may contribute to non-T2 inflammation by inducing neutrophilic chemoattractant IL-8 and GRO- α production in HASMCs, which may lead to severe forms of asthma.

Glucocorticoid insensitivity is a main therapeutic challenge in managing severe asthmatic patients. A study reported that asthmatic smokers' glucocorticoid insensitivity is associated with increased IL-17A levels (272). Although, in the previous study, increased IL-17 concentrations suggested a potential role in the poor response to glucocorticoids of smokers with asthma, the effect of CSE on IL-17A-induced production of non-T2 chemokines is unknown. With the same inhaled glucocorticoid dosage, heavy smokers showed more severe airflow limitation than light smokers and never smokers, indicating glucocorticoid insensitivity but less blood eosinophil count, indicating a distinct phenotype (273). These data suggest that CS leads to glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthmatic airways. The reduction in enzyme histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2), which is required for glucocorticoids to exhibit their maximum effects in terms of proinflammatory cytokine suppression, is an important mechanism that could explain the relative glucocorticoid insensitivity in asthmatic smokers (274). An increased number of neutrophils in the airway of asthmatic smokers has also been associated with glucocorticoid insensitivity (275). The overexpression of the GR- β is thought to inhibit the action of the GR- α , through which the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids are mediated (276-278), 54, 55. Hence neutrophils have a higher amount of GR- β ; this may provide an explanation for the glucocorticoid insensitivity seen in asthmatic smokers.

Our study is the first to report that CSE reduced the inhibitory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced production of IL-8 in HASMCs. In agreement with our findings, CSE reduced the anti-inflammatory effect of dexamethasone on TNF α -induced IL-8 production in BEAS-2B cells by impairing HDAC2 activity. (An immortalized cell line isolated from normal human bronchial epithelium) (117). Another study also supported our finding showed that fluticasone inhibited IL-8 production induced by CSE, TNF α or cotreatment of cigarette smoke extract and TNF α in a dose-dependent manner. However, while IL-8 production in the presence of CSE alone was completely inhibited by fluticasone, IL-8 production induced by CSE and TNF α was only partially inhibited by fluticasone in HASMCs, suggesting that increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α in airway inflammation may reduce the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoid (279). In support of our results, a study demonstrated that CSE and IL-1 β induced production of IL8 and were completely resistant to inhibition by glucocorticoids (Budesonide and prednisolone up to 10 μ M) in human monocytes (239). The synergistic effect of CSE and IL-17A on IL-8 production which might require higher concentrations of glucocorticoid, and this could therefore cause the reduction in the inhibitory effect of fluticasone in our study.

As mentioned before, these findings have obvious clinical relevance that the non-T2 inflammation (smoking-related inflammation) is generally insensitive to the therapeutic effects of glucocorticoids. Our findings suggest that CSE may contribute to non-T2 airway inflammation by inducing the production of neutrophil chemokine and enhancing IL-17A-induced production of the non-T2 inflammatory cytokine IL-8. CSE may also reduce the anti-inflammatory effect of glucocorticoids on IL-17A-stimulate non-T2 airway inflammation in HASMCs.
Chapter 6. General discussion, limitations, future directions, and conclusions

7.1 General discussion

This study is the first to report that CSE can shift the inflammatory response from T2 to non-T2 by inhibiting the production and mRNA expression of T2 inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-13, eotaxin, IP-10, and RANTES but increasing the production of non-T2 inflammatory cytokines IL-8 in HASMCs. Our findings suggest that CS could modify the inflammatory response in asthmatic smokers. Identifying the mechanisms through which CS modifies the inflammatory response is essential to developing new treatments. Therefore, this study provides evidence that the effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines was largely mediated through the COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress. In addition, CSE reduced the anti-inflammatory effect of fluticasone on IL-17A-induced IL-8 production in HASMCs, suggesting that CS could contribute to glucocorticoid insensitivity. Interestingly, the Th17 cytokine IL-17A, which is known to be involved mainly in non-T2 inflammation, promoted both T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses in HASMCs.

Based on our findings, although CSE reduced T2 and induce non-T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs, which may appear to be a positive effect, shifting the airway inflammation from T2 and non-T2 could be an important driver of asthma exacerbation in smokers. Unlike T2 airway inflammation, non-T2 inflammation is associated with a poor response to glucocorticoids in asthma. Our study findings may explain why smokers with asthma tend to have non-T2 inflammation and, therefore, may encounter poorly managed asthma, a poor response to glucocorticoid treatments and

accelerated deterioration in lung function (280). Our study not only showed that CSE could increase non-T2 inflammatory response but also showed the synergistic effect of CSE and IL-17A on IL-8 production, suggesting that asthmatic patients who smoke would likely have increased IL-8 release leading to further non-T2 inflammation. On the other hand, T2 inflammation is the most well-defined asthma endotype and responds well to glucocorticoids and also has an approved biological therapy such as anti-IgE omalizumab (71), anti-IL-5 mepolizumab, reslizumab and benralizumab (55) and anti-IL-4/IL-13 dupilumab (73). These biological therapies have been shown to minimise asthma exacerbations and improve lung function in patients with severe T2 airway inflammation. Understanding how CS causes airway inflammation is critical to exploring potential therapeutic options for asthmatic smokers. This thesis highlighted important mechanisms that play an important role in the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines in HASMCs. Oxidative stress caused by CS has been found to be responsible for airway inflammation and lung damage in smokers (146). Studies reported that CSE could induce COX-2 expression and PGE₂ in HASMCs (168, 281). Our study is the first to demonstrate that the COX-2/PGE₂/EP₂/EP₄/cAMP pathways presented in this thesis mediated the inhibitory effect of CSE on the production of T2 inflammatory cytokines via oxidative stress in HASMCs. Thus, it is possible that inhibitors targeting COX or prostaglandin EP₂ and EP₄ may prevent the shift from glucocorticoid sensitive T2 to glucocorticoid insensitive non-T2 inflammation. However, it is worth noting that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as COX inhibitors may cause bronchoconstriction in some asthmatic patients,

commonly referred to as aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD) (282). Reduced production of PGE₂ caused by COX inhibitors, along with an increase in cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLT), enhances the bronchoconstriction caused by NSAID ingestion (283, 284). Therefore, further research investigating the dual effect of COX inhibitors and anti-leukotrienes such as zafirlukast and montelukast in asthmatic smokers is needed.

Our study demonstrated that CSE increased non-T2 inflammatory response, which is supported by clinical studies demonstrating that asthmatic smokers respond less effectively to glucocorticoids than nonsmoker asthmatics (220-223). It has been observed that ex-smokers display an increased number of eosinophils in their blood count (285, 286). Thus, smoking cessation is an important therapeutic approach as It is possible that smoke cessation may help reduce non-T2 airway inflammation and shift to T2 airway inflammation, which may improve asthma control. In support of our claim, a study found that after 6 weeks of guitting smoking, asthmatic patients who stopped had significantly improved lung function and decreased sputum neutrophil counts compared to subjects who continued smoking (287). Ex-smokers showed a higher eosinophil blood counts compared with current smoker (288). These studies suggest that smoking cessation may help modify the airway inflammation form the non-T2 to T2 by reducing neutrophil counts and increasing eosinophil counts. Our study showed that CSE reduce the anti-inflammatory effect of fluticasone on production of IL-8, contributing to glucocorticoids insensitivity. It is also possible that quitting smoking may reduce glucocorticoid insensitivity since

184

a study demonstrated that ex-smokers who had quit smoking for at least a year showed a better response to oral prednisolone than current smokers (223).

7.2 Conclusion

.

In conclusion, the findings outlined in this thesis provide evidence for the first time that CSE can modify the inflammatory responses in HASMCs, promoting a shift from glucocorticoid sensitive T2 inflammatory responses to glucocorticoid insensitive non-T2 inflammatory responses, thereby contributing to glucocorticoid insensitivity. Our study presented for the first time that Th17 cytokine IL-17A can enhance T2 and non-T2 inflammatory responses by stimulating their cytokine production in HASMCs. Our results demonstrated that CSE suppresses T2 inflammatory response largely through a COX-2/PGE2/EP2/EP4/cAMP pathway via oxidative stress. Our findings suggest that targeting this pathway may be of great potential for the development of novel treatments for asthmatic smokers.

7.2 Limitations and future directions

- The findings demonstrated in this thesis are obtained from in vitro experiments using healthy HASMCs. However, it is unknown whether the inhibitory effect of CSE on T2 inflammatory response can also be observed in diseased HASMCs. Therefore, our future studies need to use HASMCs from asthmatic smokers and non-smokers, as well as precision-cut lung slices from patients and animals, to validate key findings.
- In this study, HASMCs from three different healthy donors were used to explore the effect of CSE on T2 and non-T2 cytokine production, which may explain why we did not see a significant reversion of inhibition of CSE on some Th2 cytokines by GSH, although we observed a trend of increase in the cytokine concentration, and this could be due to the number of cell lines of HASMCs we used in this study. Therefore, increasing the number of donors will provide statistical power which could minimise the variations in the results.
- This study was conducted using single airway structural cells type (HASMCs), but CSE and IL-17A may have a different effect on the human bronchial epithelial cells (HBECs). Thus, it would be interesting to explore the effect of CSE on HBECs as it plays an important role in the initiation of allergen induce T2 inflammatory response, as well as it is the first layer of the airways that gets exposed to CS in asthma. Further, it is also a good idea to use a co-

culture of epithelial and smooth muscle cells model to explore the effect of CSE on the interactions in both cell types.

- We exposed HASMCs to CSE for a quite short exposure time (up to 48 hours) compared to asthmatic smokers who smoke for a long period, and the effect we presented in our study may differ from asthmatic smokers. Thus, further research using patient samples such as bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and assessing the T2 and non-T2 cytokine levels are required to confirm our findings.
- We were not able to quantify the nicotine level as we had no access to the high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), it would be great to quantify nicotine level in the future work.

Chapter 7. Appendix

7. Tables of Materials

7.1 Materials for cells culture and MTT cell viability assay

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM)	Sigma Aldrich
Amphotericin-B	Sigma Aldrich
250 mg/ml in deionised water, sterile-filtered,	
BioReagent suitable for cell culture	
L-glutamine solution,	Sigma Aldrich
200mM solution, sterile-filtered, Bioxtra Suitable	
for cell culture	
Penicillin/streptomycin	Sigma Aldrich
5000units of penicillin and 5mg of streptomycin/ml,	
sterile-filtered, BioReagent suitable for cell culture	
Fetal bovine serum (FBS)	Thermo
	Fisher
	Scientific
Trypsin–Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid (EDTA) solution,	Sigma Aldrich
0.25%, sterile-filtered, BioReagent	
suitable for cell culture, 2.5g porcine trypsin and	
0.2g EDTA 4Na per litre of Hanks' Balanced Salt	
Solution with phenol red	
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma Aldrich
Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide	Sigma Aldrich

DMEM+ supplemented with 10% of FBS, 0.02%	
antibiotics(penicillin/streptomycin),	
0.02%L-glutamine and 0.01% amphotericin-B	
DMEM- supplemented with 0.5% FBS, 0.02%	
antibiotics(penicillin/streptomycin),0.02%L-glutamine and	
0.01% amphotericin B	

7.2 cigarette smoke extract material

3R4F research-grade cigarettes One cigarette contains 9.4mg of tar, 0.7mg of nicotine, 12mg of carbon monoxide	Kentucky Tobacco Research and Development Centre, University of Kentucky, USA
DA7C pump	Charles Austen Pumps

7.3 Table of Drugs

Fluticasone propionate.	Sigma
Mass:5 mg.	Aldrich
Molecular weight: 500.57.	
To make original stock of 0.5 M, dissolve in 19.98 μL of	
dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO).	
Recombinant Human IL-17A (Human Cell-expressed)	R&D
Protein	Systems
Mass: 25 ug	
Molecular weight: 31.3 kDa	

Original stock of 25 mg was diluted in 1ml of Dulbecco's	
Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (0.5% of FBS) for a final	
concentration of (25000 ng/1 ml)	
Recombinant Human IL-13 Protein	R&D
Mass: 5 ug	Systems
Molecular weight: 12.6 kDa	
Original stock of 5 μg was diluted in 1ml of Dulbecco's	
Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (0.5% of FBS) for a final	
concentration of (5000 ng/1 ml)	
NS-398.	Cayman
Mass: 5 mg.	Chemical
Molecular weight: 314.4.	
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 318 μ L of	
DMSO.	
MG 624.	Sigma
Mass: 5 mg.	Aldrich
Molecular weight: 451.39.	
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 251.5 μ L of	
DMSO.	
L-Glutathione (GSH).	Sigma
Mass: 10 mg.	Aldrich

To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 650.6 μL of	
Water.	
(-)-Nicotine.	Sigma
Mass: 1.010 g/ml.	Aldrich
Molecular weight: 6.23.	
To make original stock of 100 mM, 80.3 µL of (-)-Nicotine	
was dissolved in 5 ml of ethanol.	
8-Bromo-cAMP, sodium salt	Tocris
Mass: 10 mg.	Bioscience
Molecular weight: 430.09.	
To make the original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 470 μL of	
DMSO.	
Salbutamol.	Sigma-
Mass: 25 mg.	Aldrich
Molecular weight: 239.31.	
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 2,088 μ L of	
methanol (MeOH).	
Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2).	
Mass: 10 mg.	Cayman
Molecular weight: 352.47.	Chemical
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 647.4 μ L of	
DMSO	
PF 04418948.	Tocris
Mass: 10 mg.	bioscience

Molecular weight: 409.41.	
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 488.4 μL of	
DMSO.	
L-161,982.	Tocris
Mass: 10 mg.	bioscience
Molecular weight: 654.72.	
To make original stock of 0.05 M, dissolve in 304 μL of	
DMSO.	

7.4 Buffers and reagents

Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer.50 mM	
Tris-HCL, PH 8.0, 0.5% Sodium Deoxycholate, 150	
mM Sodium Chloride, 0.1% Sodium Dodecyl	
Sulphate (SDS). After RIPA buffer preparation, then	
the following contents were added to do protein	
collection: 2 Mm of Phenylmethylsulphonyl Fluoride	
(PMSF), 1 mM of Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (PIC),	
and 1 mM of Sodium Orthovanadate.	
Tween 20	Sigma Aldrich
Tris-buffered saline (TBS).	Sigma Aldrich
20 mM Trizma hydrochloride (Tris-HCI) and 150 mM	
NaCl.	
Bovine serum albumin (BSA)	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific.
Block buffer for DuoSet ELISA:	

1% BSA in 100 ml of PBS Filtered by 0.02-µm pore	
syringe filter (PH 7.2–7.4).	
Wash buffer for DuoSet ELISA:	
0.05% (0.5 ml) Tween and 5 tablets of PBS in each	
1000 ml of distilled water (PH 7.2-7.4).	
Reagent diluent for DuoSet ELISA:	
0.1% BSA, 24.2 g of TBS, 87.6 g of NaCL, and 0.05%	
Tween 20 (PH 7.2 – 7.4). Filtered by 0.2 μ m pore size	
syringe filter.	
Substrate solution:	Thermo Fisher
1:1 mixture of Colour Reagent A (H2O2) and B	Scientific
(Tetramethylbenzidine)	
Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS).	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
10x TBS-T buffer:	
1000 ml of dH2O, 87.6 g NaCL, 0.2 M tris base, 10	
Tween 20 (pH 7.4-7.6).	
To make 1x TBS-T:	
900 ml of dH2O + 100 ml of 10x TBS-T buffer.	
Blocking buffer for Western Blotting.	
5% of non-fat dry milk in TBS-T (Tris-Buffered Saline	
with 0.1% Tween 20)	
20x Bolt MOPS SDS running buffer	Thermo Fisher

Bolt Transfer Buffer (20x)	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Bolt Antioxidant	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
4x Bolt LDS Sample Buffer	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
MagicMark XP Western Protein Standard	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Spectra Multicolor Broad Range Protein Ladder	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
10x Bolt Sample Reducing Agent	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Running buffer:	
50 ml of 20x MOPS SDS running buffer + 950 ml of	
dH2O.	
Transfer buffer:	
50 ml of 20x Transfer buffer with 100 ml methanol, 1	
ml of Antioxidant + 849 ml of dH2O.	
Clarity and clarity Max ECL Western Blotting	Bio-Rad
Substrates	Laboratories
Bovine serum albumin	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Deoxynucleotide triphosphates	Promega, USA
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO).	Sigma Aldrich

Ethanol	Sigma Aldrich
Methanol	Sigma Aldrich
β-mercaptoethanol	Sigma Aldrich
Non-fat dry milk	Santa Cruz
	Biotechnology,
	USA
Phosphate buffered saline tablets	Sigma Aldrich
Phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride	Sigma Aldrich
Protease inhibitor cocktails	Sigma Aldrich
Sodium chloride	Sigma Aldrich
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	Sigma Aldrich
KAPA Taq DNA polymerase	Sigma Aldrich
Trypsin–Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid (EDTA)	Sigma Aldrich
Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide	Sigma Aldrich
Ponceau S Staining Solution	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Trypan Blue Solution	Sigma Aldrich

7.5 Kits

Human IL-8 DuoSet ELISA Kit	R&D Systems
Human GRO-α DuoSet ELISA kit	R&D Systems
Bio-Plex Pro Human Cytokine 27-plex Assay Kit	Bio-Rad
	Laboratories
Prostaglandin E2 ELISA-Monoclonal Kit	Cayman Chemical

BCA Protein Assay Kit	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
NucleoSpin RNA Extraction Kit	Macherey-Nagel
SuperScript™ IV Reverse Transcriptase kit	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific

7.6 Antibodies

Mouse anti-human COX-2 monoclonal antibody	Cayman
	Chemical
Goat Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins/HRP	Dako
Goat Anti-Rabbit Immunoglobulins/HRP	Dako
Goat Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins/HRP	Dako
Goat Anti-Rabbit Immunoglobulins/HRP	Dako

7.7 Materials

Nitrocellulose Blotting Membrane	Amersham
	Biosciences
Blot 4 to 12%, Bis-Tris, 1.0 mm Mini Protein Gel	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Mr. Frosty Freezing Container	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific
Nunc Biobanking and cell culture cryogenic tubes	Thermo Fisher
	Scientific

7.8 Cell viability



Figure 7.8.1 Effect of CSE on Cell Viability

Confluent and growth arrested HASMCs were treated with CSE (1%, 2%, 3.5% and 5%) for 24h. Cell viability was assessed by MTT cell viability assay. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of one experiment carried out in triplicates. ***p*<0.01 versus control.



Figure 7.8.2 Effect of fluticasone with CSE and IL-17A on Cell Viability

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with fluticasone $(10^{-11}-10^{-6}$ M) for 1h prior to incubation with CSE (3.5%) or IL-17A for 24h. The cell viability was assessed by MTT assay. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM of one experiment carried out in triplicates.

7.9 Housekeeping gene β2M



Figure 7.9.1 Effect of CSE and IL-17A on the mRNA expression of the housekeeping gene β 2M in HASMCs

Confluent HASMCs were stimulated with concentrations of CSE (3.5%, A) or IL-17A (10 ng/ml, B) for 2, 8 and 16h before total RNA isolation. The samples were assessed by RT-qPCR. Data were expressed as fold change over the control. Each data point represents mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments using three cell lines.

7.11 Effect of β₂-agonist (Salbutamol) on T2 inflammatory response in HASMCs



Figure 7.11.1 Effect of salbutamol on the production of Th2 cytokines

Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with salbutamol (Sal, 10 μ M), CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), Sal+CSE, Sal+IL-17A, CSE+IL-17A or Sal+CSE+IL-17A for 24h. IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B) and IL-13 (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05 and ***p*<0.01 compared with control. #*p*<0.05, ##*p*<0.01, ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.0001 compared with IL-17A alone.





Confluent and growth-arrested HASMCs were treated with salbutamol (Sal, 10 μ M), CSE (3.5%), IL-17A (10 ng/ml), Sal+CSE, Sal+IL-17A, CSE+IL-17A or Sal+CSE+IL-17A for 24h. Eotaxin (A), IP-10 (B) and RANTES (C) concentrations were measured in the collected supernatants using a multiplex assay. Data were normalised to total protein. Each data point represents mean ± SEM from three independent experiments using cells from three different donors. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 and *****p*<0.0001 compared with control. ##*p*<0.01, ###*p*<0.001 and ####*p*<0.001 compared with IL-17A alone.

Reference

1. Global Initiative for Asthma. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention 2022 [Available from: <u>https://ginasthma.org/reports/</u>.

2. The Global Asthma Network. The Global Asthma Report 2018 [Available from: Available from:

http://www.globalasthmareport.org/Global%20Asthma%20Report%202018.pdf.

 Expert Panel Report 3 (EPR-3): Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma. Summary Report 2007. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology.
 2007;120(5):S94-S138.

4. Kuruvilla ME, Lee FE-H, Lee GB. Understanding Asthma Phenotypes, Endotypes, and Mechanisms of Disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2019;56(2):219-33.

5. Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy. 2004;59(5):469-78.

6. The World Health Organization. Asthma, Key facts 2017 [Available from: Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/asthma</u>.

7. Asthma UK. Asthma UK Annual Report & Accounts 2018 [Available from: Available from: <u>https://www.asthma.org.uk/about/annual-report-accounts/</u>.

8. Organization TWH. Asthma - key Facts 2022 [cited 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/asthma.

9. British Thoracic Society. A Practical Guide to Using Spirometry in Primary Care 2005 [Available from: Available from: <u>https://www.pennine-gp-</u> training.co.uk/res/spirometry in practice%202005.pdf.

10. British Thoracic Society. SIGN158 British guideline on the management of asthma 2019 [Available from: Available from :

file:///C:/Users/msxaa106/Downloads/BTS_SIGN%20Guideline%20for%20the%20manag ement%20of%20asthma%202019.pdf.

11. British Thoracic Society. British guideline on the management of asthma 2016 [Available from: Available from :<u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-158-british-guideline-on-the-management-of-asthma</u>.

12. Society BT. British guideline on the management of asthma 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/quality-improvement/guidelines/asthma/</u>.

13. Global Initiative for Asthma. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. 2016; Available from: [Available from: <u>https://ginasthma.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/GINA-2019-main-report-June-2019-</u>wms.pdf#page=17&zoom=100,34,462.

14. Stey C. Leukotriene antagonists--do they have a value? Praxis (Bern 1994). 2000;89(14):586-90.

15. Barnes PJ. Theophylline. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2013;188(8):901-6.

16. Fahy JV. Eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma: insights from clinical studies. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society. 2009;6(3):256-9.

17. Murphy DM, O'Byrne PM. Recent advances in the pathophysiology of asthma. Chest. 2010;137(6):1417-26.

18. Tillie-Leblond I, Pugin J, Marquette CH, Lamblin C, Saulnier F, Brichet A, et al. Balance between proinflammatory cytokines and their inhibitors in bronchial lavage from patients with status asthmaticus. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;159(2):487-94.

19. Esteban-Gorgojo I, Antolín-Amérigo D, Domínguez-Ortega J, Quirce S. Noneosinophilic asthma: current perspectives. J Asthma Allergy. 2018;11:267-81.

20. Carr TFea. Eosinophilic and Noneosinophilic Asthma. American journal of

respiratory and critical care medicine. 2018;197(1):22-37.

21. Wenzel SE, Schwartz LB, Langmack EL, Halliday JL, Trudeau JB, Gibbs RL, et al. Evidence that severe asthma can be divided pathologically into two inflammatory subtypes with distinct physiologic and clinical characteristics. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;160(3):1001-8.

22. Brusselle GG, Maes T, Bracke KR. Eosinophils in the spotlight: Eosinophilic airway inflammation in nonallergic asthma. Nature medicine. 2013;19(8):977-9.

23. Teran LM, Noso N, Carroll M, Davies DE, Holgate S, Schröder JM. Eosinophil recruitment following allergen challenge is associated with the release of the chemokine RANTES into asthmatic airways. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1996;157(4):1806-12.

24. Maric J, Ravindran A, Mazzurana L, Björklund ÅK, Van Acker A, Rao A, et al. Prostaglandin E(2) suppresses human group 2 innate lymphoid cell function. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2018;141(5):1761-73.e6.

25. National Asthma Education and Prevention Program (National Heart Lung and Blood Institute). Third Expert Panel on the Management of Asthma. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma : full report 2007. Bethesda, Md.: U.S Dept. of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; 2010. xxii, 326 p. p.

26. Pelaia C, Paoletti G, Puggioni F, Racca F, Pelaia G, Canonica GW, et al. Interleukin-5 in the Pathophysiology of Severe Asthma. Front Physiol. 2019;10:1514.

27. Graeme C, John B. Asthma. Oxford, UK.

28. Platts-Mills TAE. The Role of Immunoglobulin E in Allergy and Asthma. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 2001;164(supplement_1):S1-S5.

29. Rosenwasser LJ, Boyce JA. Mast cells: Beyond IgE. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology.111(1):24-32.

30. Stone KD, Prussin C, Metcalfe DD. IgE, mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S73-80.

31. Gounni AS, Wellemans V, Yang J, Bellesort F, Kassiri K, Gangloff S, et al. Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells Express the High Affinity Receptor for IgE (FceRI): A Critical Role of FceRI in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Function. The Journal of Immunology. 2005;175(4):2613-21.

32. Grunstein MM, Hakonarson H, Leiter J, Chen M, Whelan R, Grunstein JS, et al. IL-13-dependent autocrine signaling mediates altered responsiveness of IgE-sensitized airway smooth muscle. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2002;282(3):L520-8.

33. Robinson D, Humbert M, Buhl R, Cruz AA, Inoue H, Korom S, et al. Revisiting Type 2-high and Type 2-low airway inflammation in asthma: current knowledge and therapeutic implications. Clinical & Experimental Allergy. 2017;47(2):161-75.

34. Robinson D, Humbert M, Buhl R, Cruz AA, Inoue H, Korom S, et al. Revisiting Type 2-high and Type 2-low airway inflammation in asthma: current knowledge and therapeutic implications. Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2017;47(2):161-75.

35. Maes T, Joos GF, Brusselle GG. Targeting interleukin-4 in asthma: lost in translation? American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology. 2012;47(3):261-70.

36. Jatakanon A, Lim S, Barnes PJ. Changes in sputum eosinophils predict loss of asthma control. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;161(1):64-72.

Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barnéon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, et al.
 Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. New England Journal of Medicine.
 1990;323(15):1033-9.

38. Howarth PH, Knox AJ, Amrani Y, Tliba O, Panettieri RA, Jr., Johnson M. Synthetic responses in airway smooth muscle. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology.114(2):S32-S50.

39. Blanchard C, Rothenberg ME. Biology of the eosinophil. Adv Immunol. 2009;101:81-121.

40. Dubucquoi S, Desreumaux P, Janin A, Klein O, Goldman M, Tavernier J, et al. Interleukin 5 synthesis by eosinophils: association with granules and immunoglobulindependent secretion. J Exp Med. 1994;179(2):703-8.

41. Collins PD, Marleau S, Griffiths-Johnson DA, Jose PJ, Williams TJ. Cooperation between interleukin-5 and the chemokine eotaxin to induce eosinophil accumulation in vivo. J Exp Med. 1995;182(4):1169-74.

42. Davoine F, Lacy P. Eosinophil Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors: Emerging Roles in Immunity. Frontiers in Immunology. 2014;5.

43. Berry M, Brightling C, Pavord I, Wardlaw A. TNF-alpha in asthma. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2007;7(3):279-82.

44. Brightling CE, Ammit AJ, Kaur D, Black JL, Wardlaw AJ, Hughes JM, et al. The CXCL10/CXCR3 Axis Mediates Human Lung Mast Cell Migration to Asthmatic Airway Smooth Muscle. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 2005;171(10):1103-8.

45. Ammit AJ, Lazaar AL, Irani C, O'Neill GM, Gordon ND, Amrani Y, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced secretion of RANTES and interleukin-6 from human airway smooth muscle cells: modulation by glucocorticoids and beta-agonists. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2002;26(4):465-74.

46. Pype JL, Dupont LJ, Menten P, Van Coillie E, Opdenakker G, Van Damme J, et al. Expression of Monocyte Chemotactic Protein (MCP)-1, MCP-2, and MCP-3 by Human Airway Smooth-Muscle Cells. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology. 1999;21(4):528-36.

47. Boonpiyathad T, Sözener ZC, Satitsuksanoa P, Akdis CA. Immunologic mechanisms in asthma. Seminars in Immunology. 2019;46:101333.

48. Steinke JW, Borish L. Th2 cytokines and asthma. Interleukin-4: its role in the pathogenesis of asthma, and targeting it for asthma treatment with interleukin-4 receptor antagonists. Respir Res. 2001;2(2):66-70.

49. Kroegel C, Julius P, Matthys H, Virchow JC, Jr., Luttmann W. Endobronchial secretion of interleukin-13 following local allergen challenge in atopic asthma: relationship to interleukin-4 and eosinophil counts. The European respiratory journal. 1996;9(5):899-904.

50. Fort MM, Cheung J, Yen D, Li J, Zurawski SM, Lo S, et al. IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. Immunity. 2001;15(6):985-95.

51. Hamid Q, Azzawi M, Ying S, Moqbel R, Wardlaw AJ, Corrigan CJ, et al. Expression of mRNA for interleukin-5 in mucosal bronchial biopsies from asthma. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1991;87(5):1541-6.

52. Schwarze J, Cieslewicz G, Joetham A, Ikemura T, Hamelmann E, Gelfand EW. CD8 T cells are essential in the development of respiratory syncytial virus-induced lung eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1999;162(7):4207-11.

53. Walker C, Kaegi MK, Braun P, Blaser K. Activated T cells and eosinophilia in bronchoalveolar lavages from subjects with asthma correlated with disease severity. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 1991;88(6):935-42.

54. Farne HA, Wilson A, Powell C, Bax L, Milan SJ. Anti-IL5 therapies for asthma. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017;9:Cd010834.

55. Farne HA, Wilson A, Powell C, Bax L, Milan SJ. Anti-IL5 therapies for asthma. The

Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017;9(9):CD010834-CD.

56. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, et al. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science (New York, NY). 1998;282(5397):2258-61.

57. Nair P, O'Byrne PM. The interleukin-13 paradox in asthma: effective biology, ineffective biologicals. The European respiratory journal. 2019;53(2).

58. Huang SK, Xiao HQ, Kleine-Tebbe J, Paciotti G, Marsh DG, Lichtenstein LM, et al. IL-13 expression at the sites of allergen challenge in patients with asthma. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1995;155(5):2688-94.

59. Corren J. Role of interleukin-13 in asthma. Current allergy and asthma reports. 2013;13(5):415-20.

60. Ghaffar O, Hamid Q, Renzi PM, Allakhverdi Z, Molet S, Hogg JC, et al. Constitutive and cytokine-stimulated expression of eotaxin by human airway smooth muscle cells. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;159(6):1933-42.

61. Pease JE, Williams TJ. Eotaxin and asthma. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2001;1(3):248-53.

62. Ying S, Robinson DS, Meng Q, Rottman J, Kennedy R, Ringler DJ, et al. Enhanced expression of eotaxin and CCR3 mRNA and protein in atopic asthma. Association with airway hyperresponsiveness and predominant co-localization of eotaxin mRNA to bronchial epithelial and endothelial cells. Eur J Immunol. 1997;27(12):3507-16.

63. Mattoli S, Stacey MA, Sun G, Bellini A, Marini M. Eotaxin expression and eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1997;236(2):299-301.

64. Daldegan MB, Teixeira MM, Talvani A. Concentration of CCL11, CXCL8 and TNFalpha in sputum and plasma of patients undergoing asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2005;38(9):1359-65.

65. Medoff BD, Sauty A, Tager AM, Maclean JA, Smith RN, Mathew A, et al. IFNgamma-inducible protein 10 (CXCL10) contributes to airway hyperreactivity and airway inflammation in a mouse model of asthma. J Immunol. 2002;168(10):5278-86.

66. Ying S, Connor B, Ratoff J, Meng Q, Fang C, Cousins D, et al. Expression and Cellular Provenance of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin and Chemokines in Patients with Severe Asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. The Journal of Immunology. 2008;181(4):2790.

67. Alrashdan YA, Alkhouri H, Chen E, Lalor DJ, Poniris M, Henness S, et al. Asthmatic airway smooth muscle CXCL10 production: mitogen-activated protein kinase JNK involvement. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 2012;302(10):L1118-L27.

68. John M, Hirst SJ, Jose PJ, Robichaud A, Berkman N, Witt C, et al. Human airway smooth muscle cells express and release RANTES in response to T helper 1 cytokines: regulation by T helper 2 cytokines and corticosteroids. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1997;158(4):1841-7.

69. Chihara J, Yasuba H, Tsuda A, Urayama O, Saito N, Honda K, et al. Elevation of the plasma level of RANTES during asthma attacks. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;100(6 Pt 2):S52-5.

70. Pelaia C, Vatrella A, Busceti MT, Gallelli L, Terracciano R, Savino R, et al. Severe eosinophilic asthma: from the pathogenic role of interleukin-5 to the therapeutic action of mepolizumab. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;11:3137-44.

71. van Rensen EL, Evertse CE, van Schadewijk WA, van Wijngaarden S, Ayre G, Mauad T, et al. Eosinophils in bronchial mucosa of asthmatics after allergen challenge: effect of anti-IgE treatment. Allergy. 2009;64(1):72-80.

72. O'Byrne PM. Role of monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of asthma.

Canadian respiratory journal. 2013;20(1):23-5.

73. Dragonieri S, Carpagnano GE. Biological therapy for severe asthma. Asthma Res Pract. 2021;7(1):12.

74. Kyriakopoulos C, Gogali A, Bartziokas K, Kostikas K. Identification and treatment of T2-low asthma in the era of biologics. ERJ Open Res. 2021;7(2).

75. Davidson WJ, The S, Leigh R. Establishing a normal range for induced sputum cell counts in Western Canada. Can Respir J. 2013;20(6):424-5.

76. Belda J, Leigh R, Parameswaran K, O'Byrne PM, Sears MR, Hargreave FE. Induced sputum cell counts in healthy adults. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2000;161(2 Pt 1):475-8.

77. Jayaram L, Pizzichini MM, Cook RJ, Boulet L-P, Lemière C, Pizzichini E, et al. Determining asthma treatment by monitoring sputum cell counts: effect on exacerbations. European Respiratory Journal. 2006;27(3):483-94.

78. Gao H, Ying S, Dai Y. Pathological Roles of Neutrophil-Mediated Inflammation in Asthma and Its Potential for Therapy as a Target. J Immunol Res. 2017;2017:3743048.

79. Newcomb DC, Peebles RS, Jr. Th17-mediated inflammation in asthma. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(6):755-60.

80. Newcomb DC, Peebles RS, Jr. Th17-mediated inflammation in asthma. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(6):755-60.

81. Al-Ramli W, Préfontaine D, Chouiali F, Martin JG, Olivenstein R, Lemière C, et al. TH17-associated cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in severe asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2009;123(5):1185-7.

82. Wang Y-H, Wills-Karp M. The potential role of interleukin-17 in severe asthma. Current allergy and asthma reports. 2011;11(5):388-94.

83. Lindén A, Hoshino H, Laan M. Airway neutrophils and interleukin-17. The European respiratory journal. 2000;15(5):973-7.

84. John AE, Zhu YM, Brightling CE, Pang L, Knox AJ. Human airway smooth muscle cells from asthmatic individuals have CXCL8 hypersecretion due to increased NF-kappa B p65, C/EBP beta, and RNA polymerase II binding to the CXCL8 promoter. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2009;183(7):4682-92.

85. Nocker RE, Schoonbrood DF, van de Graaf EA, Hack CE, Lutter R, Jansen HM, et al. Interleukin-8 in airway inflammation in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 1996;109(2):183-91.

86. John AE, Zhu YM, Brightling CE, Pang L, Knox AJ. Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells from Asthmatic Individuals Have CXCL8 Hypersecretion Due to Increased NF-κB p65, C/EBPβ, and RNA Polymerase II Binding to the CXCL8 Promoter. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2009;183(7):4682-92.

87. Marini M, Vittori E, Hollemborg J, Mattoli S. Expression of the potent inflammatory cytokines, granulocyte-macrophage-colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-6 and interleukin-8, in bronchial epithelial cells of patients with asthma. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 1992;89(5):1001-9.

88. Ordonez CL, Shaughnessy TE, Matthay MA, Fahy JV. Increased neutrophil numbers and IL-8 levels in airway secretions in acute severe asthma: Clinical and biologic significance. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2000;161(4 Pt 1):1185-90.

89. Shute JK, Vrugt B, Lindley IJ, Holgate ST, Bron A, Aalbers R, et al. Free and complexed interleukin-8 in blood and bronchial mucosa in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;155(6):1877-83.

90. Poynter ME, Irvin CG. Interleukin-6 as a biomarker for asthma: hype or is there something else? The European respiratory journal. 2016;48(4):979-81.

91. Hirano T. Interleukin 6 and its receptor: ten years later. Int Rev Immunol.

1998;16(3-4):249-84.

92. Barnes PJ. The cytokine network in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2008;118(11):3546-56.

93. Laan M, Lötvall J, Chung KF, Lindén A. IL-17-induced cytokine release in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: role of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases. British journal of pharmacology. 2001;133(1):200-6.

94. Geiser T, Dewald B, Ehrengruber MU, Clark-Lewis I, Baggiolini M. The interleukin-8-related chemotactic cytokines GRO alpha, GRO beta, and GRO gamma activate human neutrophil and basophil leukocytes. J Biol Chem. 1993;268(21):15419-24.

95. Dragon S, Rahman MS, Yang J, Unruh H, Halayko AJ, Gounni AS. IL-17 enhances IL-1beta-mediated CXCL-8 release from human airway smooth muscle cells. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2007;292(4):L1023-9.

96. Schmidt-Weber CB, Akdis M, Akdis CA. TH17 cells in the big picture of immunology. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2007;120(2):247-54.

97. Inui T, Watanabe M, Nakamoto K, Sada M, Hirata A, Nakamura M, et al. Bronchial epithelial cells produce CXCL1 in response to LPS and TNFalpha: A potential role in the pathogenesis of COPD. Exp Lung Res. 2018;44(7):323-31.

98. Kawaguchi M, Kokubu F, Fujita J, Huang SK, Hizawa N. Role of interleukin-17F in asthma. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets. 2009;8(5):383-9.

99. Linden A, Adachi M. Neutrophilic airway inflammation and IL-17. Allergy. 2002;57(9):769-75.

100. Rahman MS, Yang J, Shan LY, Unruh H, Yang X, Halayko AJ, et al. IL-17R activation of human airway smooth muscle cells induces CXCL-8 production via a transcriptional-dependent mechanism. Clin Immunol. 2005;115(3):268-76.

101. Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lotvall J, Sjostrand M, Gruenert DC, et al. Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1999;162(4):2347-52.

102. Oliver BG, Black JL. Airway Smooth Muscle and Asthma. Allergology International. 2006;55(3):215-23.

103. Hirst SJ. Regulation of airway smooth muscle cell immunomodulatory function: role in asthma. Respiratory physiology & neurobiology. 2003;137(2-3):309-26.

104. Moiseenko A, Kheirollahi V, Chao CM, Ahmadvand N, Quantius J, Wilhelm J, et al. Origin and characterization of alpha smooth muscle actin-positive cells during murine lung development. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio). 2017;35(6):1566-78.

105. Doeing DC, Solway J. Airway smooth muscle in the pathophysiology and treatment of asthma. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2013;114(7):834-43.

106. Zuyderduyn S, Sukkar MB, Fust A, Dhaliwal S, Burgess JK. Treating asthma means treating airway smooth muscle cells. European Respiratory Journal. 2008;32(2):265-74.

107. Manson ML, Safholm J, James A, Johnsson AK, Bergman P, Al-Ameri M, et al. IL-13 and IL-4, but not IL-5 nor IL-17A, induce hyperresponsiveness in isolated human small airways. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2019.

108. Risse PA, Jo T, Suarez F, Hirota N, Tolloczko B, Ferraro P, et al. Interleukin-13 inhibits proliferation and enhances contractility of human airway smooth muscle cells without change in contractile phenotype. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2011;300(6):L958-66.

109. Damera G, Panettieri RA, Jr. Does airway smooth muscle express an inflammatory phenotype in asthma? British journal of pharmacology. 2011;163(1):68-80.
110. Rahman MS, Yamasaki A, Yang J, Shan L, Halayko AJ, Gounni AS. IL-17A induces eotaxin-1/CC chemokine ligand 11 expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of MAPK (Erk1/2, JNK, and p38) pathways. J Immunol. 2006;177(6):4064-71.

111. John M, Au BT, Jose PJ, Lim S, Saunders M, Barnes PJ, et al. Expression and

release of interleukin-8 by human airway smooth muscle cells: inhibition by Th-2 cytokines and corticosteroids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1998;18(1):84-90.

112. Oltmanns U, Chung KF, Walters M, John M, Mitchell JA. Cigarette smoke induces IL-8, but inhibits eotaxin and RANTES release from airway smooth muscle. Respir Res. 2005;6(1):74-.

113. Huang CD, Tliba O, Panettieri RA, Jr., Amrani Y. Bradykinin induces interleukin-6 production in human airway smooth muscle cells: modulation by Th2 cytokines and dexamethasone. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2003;28(3):330-8.

114. Pang L, Knox AJ. Bradykinin stimulates IL-8 production in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells: role of cyclooxygenase products. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1998;161(5):2509-15.

115. Shimoda T, Obase Y, Kishikawa R, Iwanaga T. Influence of cigarette smoking on airway inflammation and inhaled corticosteroid treatment in patients with asthma. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2016;37(4):50-8.

116. Cao W, Du YC, Li Y, Wu XJ, Zhang AZ. [Effect of cigarette smoke exposure on the expression of CCR7 and levels of Th1/Th2 cytokines in asthmatic rats]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2018;98(28):2264-8.

117. Luo Q, Lin J, Zhang L, Li H, Pan L. The anti-malaria drug artesunate inhibits cigarette smoke and ovalbumin concurrent exposure-induced airway inflammation and might reverse glucocorticoid insensitivity. Int Immunopharmacol. 2015;29(2):235-45.

118. Botelho FM, Gaschler GJ, Kianpour S, Zavitz CC, Trimble NJ, Nikota JK, et al. Innate immune processes are sufficient for driving cigarette smoke-induced inflammation in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2010;42(4):394-403.

119. Botelho FM, Llop-Guevara A, Trimble NJ, Nikota JK, Bauer CM, Lambert KN, et al. Cigarette smoke differentially affects eosinophilia and remodeling in a model of house dust mite asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2011;45(4):753-60.

120. Thatcher TH, Benson RP, Phipps RP, Sime PJ. High-dose but not low-dose mainstream cigarette smoke suppresses allergic airway inflammation by inhibiting T cell function. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2008;295(3):L412-21.

121. Botelho FM, Llop-Guevara A, Trimble NJ, Nikota JK, Bauer CM, Lambert KN, et al. Cigarette smoke differentially affects eosinophilia and remodeling in a model of house dust mite asthma. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology. 2011;45(4):753-60.

122. Melgert BN, Postma DS, Geerlings M, Luinge MA, Klok PA, van der Strate BW, et al. Short-term smoke exposure attenuates ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation in allergic mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2004;30(6):880-5.

123. Zhao J, Li X, Xie F, Yang Z, Pan X, Zhu M, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of cigarette smoke condensate in mouse macrophage cell line. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2017;30(3):315-21.

124. Sorrentino R, Gray P, Chen S, Shimada K, Crother TR, Arditi M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells prevent cigarette smoke and Chlamydophila pneumoniae-induced Th2 inflammatory responses. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2010;43(4):422-31.

125. Oltmanns U, Chung KF, Walters M, John M, Mitchell JA. Cigarette smoke induces IL-8, but inhibits eotaxin and RANTES release from airway smooth muscle. Respir Res. 2005;6(1):74.

126. Pace E, Ferraro M, Uasuf CG, Giarratano A, La Grutta S, Liotta G, et al. Cilomilast counteracts the effects of cigarette smoke in airway epithelial cells. Cell Immunol. 2011;268(1):47-53.

127. Polosa R, Thomson NC. Smoking and asthma: dangerous liaisons. European Respiratory Journal. 2013;41(3):716.

128. Pease JE, Sabroe I. The role of interleukin-8 and its receptors in inflammatory lung disease: implications for therapy. Am J Respir Med. 2002;1(1):19-25.

129. Chen L, Ge Q, Tjin G, Alkhouri H, Deng L, Brandsma CA, et al. Effects of cigarette smoke extract on human airway smooth muscle cells in COPD. The European respiratory journal. 2014;44(3):634-46.

130. Lee KH, Lee CH, Woo J, Jeong J, Jang AH, Yoo CG. Cigarette Smoke Extract Enhances IL-17A-Induced IL-8 Production via Up-Regulation of IL-17R in Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells. Mol Cells. 2018;41(4):282-9.

131. Koo JB, Han JS. Cigarette smoke extract-induced interleukin-6 expression is regulated by phospholipase D1 in human bronchial epithelial cells. J Toxicol Sci. 2016;41(1):77-89.

132. Montalbano AM, Riccobono L, Siena L, Chiappara G, Di Sano C, Anzalone G, et al. Cigarette smoke affects IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-17 receptor expression in the lung tissue: Ex vivo and in vitro studies. Cytokine. 2015;76(2):391-402.

133. Chang Y, Al-Alwan L, Alshakfa S, Audusseau S, Mogas AK, Chouiali F, et al. Upregulation of IL-17A/F from human lung tissue explants with cigarette smoke exposure: implications for COPD. Respir Res. 2014;15(1):145-.

134. Siew LQC, Wu SY, Ying S, Corrigan CJ. Cigarette smoking increases bronchial mucosal IL-17A expression in asthmatics, which acts in concert with environmental aeroallergens to engender neutrophilic inflammation. Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2017;47(6):740-50.

135. Spears M, McSharry C, Chaudhuri R, Weir CJ, de Wet C, Thomson NC. Smoking in asthma is associated with elevated levels of corticosteroid resistant sputum cytokines-an exploratory study. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e71460-e.

136. Betteridge DJ. What is oxidative stress? Metabolism. 2000;49(2 Suppl 1):3-8.

137. Cho YS, Moon HB. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of asthma. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2010;2(3):183-7.

138. Cho YS, Moon H-B. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of asthma. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2010;2(3):183-7.

139. Sahiner UM, Birben E, Erzurum S, Sackesen C, Kalayci O. Oxidative stress in asthma. The World Allergy Organization journal. 2011;4(10):151-8.

140. Health effects of outdoor air pollution. Committee of the Environmental and Occupational Health Assembly of the American Thoracic Society. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1996;153(1):3-50.

141. Enweasor C, Flayer CH, Haczku A. Ozone-Induced Oxidative Stress, Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, and Glucocorticoid Resistance in Asthma. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021;12.

142. van der Toorn M, Rezayat D, Kauffman HF, Bakker SJL, Gans ROB, Koëter GH, et al. Lipid-soluble components in cigarette smoke induce mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species in lung epithelial cells. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2009;297(1):L109-L14.

143. Biswas SK, Rahman I. Environmental toxicity, redox signaling and lung inflammation: the role of glutathione. Mol Aspects Med. 2009;30(1-2):60-76.

144. Kode A, Yang S-R, Rahman I. Differential effects of cigarette smoke on oxidative stress and proinflammatory cytokine release in primary human airway epithelial cells and in a variety of transformed alveolar epithelial cells. Respir Res. 2006;7(1):132.

145. Dworski R. Oxidant stress in asthma. Thorax. 2000;55(suppl 2):S51-S3.

146. Bruno RS, Traber MG. Vitamin E biokinetics, oxidative stress and cigarette smoking. Pathophysiology. 2006;13(3):143-9.

147. Zuo L, He F, Sergakis GG, Koozehchian MS, Stimpfl JN, Rong Y, et al. Interrelated role of cigarette smoking, oxidative stress, and immune response in COPD and

corresponding treatments. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2014;307(3):L205-18.

148. Churg A, Cosio M, Wright JL. Mechanisms of cigarette smoke-induced COPD: insights from animal models. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 2008;294(4):L612-L31.

149. Szoka P, Lachowicz J, Cwiklińska M, Lukaszewicz A, Rybak A, Baranowska U, et al. Cigarette Smoke-Induced Oxidative Stress and Autophagy in Human Alveolar Epithelial Cell Line (A549 Cells). Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2019;1176:63-9.

150. Li XY, Donaldson K, Rahman I, MacNee W. An investigation of the role of glutathione in increased epithelial permeability induced by cigarette smoke in vivo and in vitro. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1994;149(6):1518-25.

151. Rahman I, Li XY, Donaldson K, Harrison DJ, MacNee W. Glutathione homeostasis in alveolar epithelial cells in vitro and lung in vivo under oxidative stress. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 1995;269(3):L285-L92.

152. Rahman I, Smith CA, Lawson MF, Harrison DJ, MacNee W. Induction of gammaglutamylcysteine synthetase by cigarette smoke is associated with AP-1 in human alveolar epithelial cells. FEBS Lett. 1996;396(1):21-5.

153. Drost EM, Skwarski KM, Sauleda J, Soler N, Roca J, Agusti A, et al. Oxidative stress and airway inflammation in severe exacerbations of COPD. Thorax. 2005;60(4):293.
154. Son ES, Park J-W, Kim YJ, Jeong SH, Hong JH, Kim S-H, et al. Effects of antioxidants on oxidative stress and inflammatory responses of human bronchial epithelial cells exposed to particulate matter and cigarette smoke extract. Toxicology in Vitro. 2020;67:104883.

155. Zidar N, Odar K, Glavac D, Jerse M, Zupanc T, Stajer D. Cyclooxygenase in normal human tissues--is COX-1 really a constitutive isoform, and COX-2 an inducible isoform? J Cell Mol Med. 2009;13(9B):3753-63.

156. Howarth PH, Knox AJ, Amrani Y, Tliba O, Panettieri RA, Jr., Johnson M. Synthetic responses in airway smooth muscle. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2004;114(2 Suppl):S32-50.

157. McKay S, Sharma HS. Autocrine regulation of asthmatic airway inflammation: role of airway smooth muscle. Respir Res. 2001;3(1):11.

158. Pang L, Knox AJ. Bradykinin stimulates IL-8 production in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells: role of cyclooxygenase products. The Journal of Immunology. 1998;161(5):2509-15.

159. Lin C-C, Lee I-T, Yang Y-L, Lee C-W, Kou YR, Yang C-M. Induction of COX-2/PGE2/IL-6 is crucial for cigarette smoke extract-induced airway inflammation: role of TLR4-dependent NADPH oxidase activation. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2010;48(2):240-54.

160. Cho J-S, Han I-H, Lee HR, Lee H-M. Prostaglandin E2 induces IL-6 and IL-8 production by the EP receptors/Akt/NF-κB pathways in nasal polyp-derived fibroblasts. Allergy, Asthma & Immunology Research. 2014;6(5):449-57.

161. Birrell MA, Maher SA, Dekkak B, Jones V, Wong S, Brook P, et al. Antiinflammatory effects of PGE2 in the lung: role of the EP4 receptor subtype. Thorax. 2015;70(8):740-7.

162. Ye Y, Wang X, Jeschke U, von Schönfeldt V. COX-2-PGE(2)-EPs in gynecological cancers. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2020;301(6):1365-75.

163. Belvisi MG, Saunders MA, Haddad el B, Hirst SJ, Yacoub MH, Barnes PJ, et al. Induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by cytokines in human cultured airway smooth muscle cells: novel inflammatory role of this cell type. British journal of pharmacology. 1997;120(5):910-6.

164. Pang L, Knox AJ. Effect of interleukin-1 beta, tumour necrosis factor-alpha and

interferon-gamma on the induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. British journal of pharmacology. 1997;121(3):579-87.

165. Rumzhum NN, Patel BS, Prabhala P, Gelissen IC, Oliver BG, Ammit AJ. IL-17A increases TNF- α -induced COX-2 protein stability and augments PGE2 secretion from airway smooth muscle cells: impact on β 2 -adrenergic receptor desensitization. Allergy. 2016;71(3):387-96.

166. Martey CA, Baglole CJ, Gasiewicz TA, Sime PJ, Phipps RP. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is a regulator of cigarette smoke induction of the cyclooxygenase and prostaglandin pathways in human lung fibroblasts. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2005;289(3):L391-9.

167. Alqarni AA, Brand OJ, Pasini A, Alahmari M, Alghamdi A, Pang L. Imbalanced prostanoid release mediates cigarette smoke-induced human pulmonary artery cell proliferation. Respir Res. 2022;23(1):136.

168. Yang CM, Lee IT, Lin CC, Yang YL, Luo SF, Kou YR, et al. Cigarette smoke extract induces COX-2 expression via a PKCalpha/c-Src/EGFR, PDGFR/PI3K/Akt/NF-kappaB pathway and p300 in tracheal smooth muscle cells. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2009;297(5):L892-902.

169. Profita M, Sala A, Bonanno A, Riccobono L, Ferraro M, La Grutta S, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and neutrophil infiltration: role of cigarette smoke and cyclooxygenase products. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2010;298(2):L261-9.

170. Sastre B, del Pozo V. Role of PGE2 in asthma and nonasthmatic eosinophilic bronchitis. Mediators Inflamm. 2012;2012:645383.

171. Dey I, Lejeune M, Chadee K. Prostaglandin E2 receptor distribution and function in the gastrointestinal tract. British journal of pharmacology. 2006;149(6):611-23.

172. Reader J, Holt D, Fulton A. Prostaglandin E2 EP receptors as therapeutic targets in breast cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30(3-4):449-63.

173. Aggarwal S, Moodley YP, Thompson PJ, Misso NL. Prostaglandin E2 and cysteinyl leukotriene concentrations in sputum: association with asthma severity and eosinophilic inflammation. Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2010;40(1):85-93.

174. Pavord ID, Ward R, Woltmann G, Wardlaw AJ, Sheller JR, Dworski R. Induced sputum eicosanoid concentrations in asthma. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;160(6):1905-9.

175. Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, O'Byrne PM. Protective effects of inhaled PGE2 on allergen-induced airway responses and airway inflammation. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;159(1):31-6.

176. Pavord ID, Wong CS, Williams J, Tattersfield AE. Effect of inhaled prostaglandin E2 on allergen-induced asthma. The American review of respiratory disease. 1993;148(1):87-90.

177. Michael JV, Gavrila A, Nayak AP, Pera T, Liberato JR, Polischak SR, et al. Cooperativity of E-prostanoid receptor subtypes in regulating signaling and growth inhibition in human airway smooth muscle. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2019;33(4):4780-9.

178. Yan H, Deshpande DA, Misior AM, Miles MC, Saxena H, Riemer EC, et al. Antimitogenic effects of β -agonists and PGE2 on airway smooth muscle are PKA dependent. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2011;25(1):389-97.

179. Wuyts WA, Vanaudenaerde BM, Dupont LJ, Demedts MG, Verleden GM. Modulation by cAMP of IL-1beta-induced eotaxin and MCP-1 expression and release in human airway smooth muscle cells. The European respiratory journal. 2003;22(2):220-6. 180. Billington CK, Ojo OO, Penn RB, Ito S. cAMP regulation of airway smooth muscle function. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2013;26(1):112-20.

181. Narumiya S, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F. Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions. Physiol Rev. 1999;79(4):1193-226.

182. Pang L, Holland E, Knox AJ. Impaired cAMP production in human airway smooth muscle cells by bradykinin: role of cyclooxygenase products. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 1998;275(2):L322-L9.

183. Zitnik RJ, Zheng T, Elias JA. cAMP inhibition of interleukin-1-induced interleukin-6 production by human lung fibroblasts. Am J Physiol. 1993;264(3 Pt 1):L253-60.

184. Wuyts WA, Vanaudenaerde BM, Dupont LJ, Demedts MG, Verleden GM. Modulation by cAMP of IL-1β-induced eotaxin and MCP-1 expression and release in human airway smooth muscle cells. European Respiratory Journal. 2003;22(2):220-6.

185. Pang L, Knox AJ. Synergistic inhibition by beta(2)-agonists and corticosteroids on tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced interleukin-8 release from cultured human airway smooth-muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2000;23(1):79-85.

186. Horvath G, Wanner A. Inhaled corticosteroids: effects on the airway vasculature in bronchial asthma. European Respiratory Journal. 2006;27(1):172-87.

187. Raissy HH, Kelly HW, Harkins M, Szefler SJ. Inhaled corticosteroids in lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187(8):798-803.

188. Hossny E, Rosario N, Lee BW, Singh M, El-Ghoneimy D, Soh JY, et al. The use of inhaled corticosteroids in pediatric asthma: update. World Allergy Organ J. 2016;9:26.

189. Barnes PJ. Inhaled Corticosteroids. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2010;3(3):514-40.

190. Jang A-S. Steroid Response in Refractory Asthmatics. The Korean Journal of Internal Medicine. 2012;27(2):143.

191. Lin J, Chen P, Liu C, Kang J, Xiao W, Chen Z, et al. Comparison of fluticasone propionate with budesonide administered via nebulizer: a randomized controlled trial in patients with severe persistent asthma. J Thorac Dis. 2017;9(2):372-85.

192. Amrani Y, Panettieri RA, Ramos-Ramirez P, Schaafsma D, Kaczmarek K, Tliba O. Important lessons learned from studies on the pharmacology of glucocorticoids in human airway smooth muscle cells: Too much of a good thing may be a problem. Pharmacol Ther. 2020;213:107589.

193. Misior AM, Yan H, Pascual RM, Deshpande DA, Panettieri RA, Penn RB. Mitogenic effects of cytokines on smooth muscle are critically dependent on protein kinase A and are unmasked by steroids and cyclooxygenase inhibitors. Mol Pharmacol. 2008;73(2):566-74.

194. Misior AM, Deshpande DA, Loza MJ, Pascual RM, Hipp JD, Penn RB. Glucocorticoid- and protein kinase A-dependent transcriptome regulation in airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2009;41(1):24-39.

195. Bonacci JV, Harris T, Wilson JW, Stewart AG. Collagen-induced resistance to glucocorticoid anti-mitogenic actions: a potential explanation of smooth muscle hyperplasia in the asthmatic remodelled airway. British journal of pharmacology. 2003;138(7):1203-6.

196. Bonacci JV, Schuliga M, Harris T, Stewart AG. Collagen impairs glucocorticoid actions in airway smooth muscle through integrin signalling. British journal of pharmacology. 2006;149(4):365-73.

197. Sukkar MB, Issa R, Xie S, Oltmanns U, Newton R, Chung KF. Fractalkine/CX3CL1 production by human airway smooth muscle cells: induction by IFN-gamma and TNFalpha and regulation by TGF-beta and corticosteroids. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2004;287(6):L1230-40.

198. Sukkar MB, Xie S, Khorasani NM, Kon OM, Stanbridge R, Issa R, et al. Toll-like receptor 2, 3, and 4 expression and function in human airway smooth muscle. The

Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2006;118(3):641-8.

199. Winder AA, Wohlford-Lenane C, Scheetz TE, Nardy BN, Manzel LJ, Look DC, et al. Differential effects of cytokines and corticosteroids on toll-like receptor 2 expression and activity in human airway epithelia. Respir Res. 2009;10(1):96.

200. Sivertson KL, Seeds MC, Long DL, Peachman KK, Bass DA. The differential effect of dexamethasone on granulocyte apoptosis involves stabilization of Mcl-1L in neutrophils but not in eosinophils. Cell Immunol. 2007;246(1):34-45.

201. Banuelos J, Cao Y, Shin SC, Bochner BS, Avila P, Li S, et al. Granulocyte colonystimulating factor blockade enables dexamethasone to inhibit lipopolysaccharideinduced murine lung neutrophils. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0177884.

202. Faiz A, Weckmann M, Tasena H, Vermeulen CJ, Van den Berge M, Ten Hacken NHT, et al. Profiling of healthy and asthmatic airway smooth muscle cells following interleukin-1 β treatment: a novel role for CCL20 in chronic mucus hypersecretion. The European respiratory journal. 2018;52(2).

203. Zijlstra GJ, Fattahi F, Rozeveld D, Jonker MR, Kliphuis NM, van den Berge M, et al. Glucocorticoids induce the production of the chemoattractant CCL20 in airway epithelium. The European respiratory journal. 2014;44(2):361-70.

204. Fahy JV. Type 2 inflammation in asthma--present in most, absent in many. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(1):57-65.

205. Haldar P, Brightling CE, Hargadon B, Gupta S, Monteiro W, Sousa A, et al. Mepolizumab and exacerbations of refractory eosinophilic asthma. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;360(10):973-84.

206. Nair P, Pizzichini MM, Kjarsgaard M, Inman MD, Efthimiadis A, Pizzichini E, et al. Mepolizumab for prednisone-dependent asthma with sputum eosinophilia. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;360(10):985-93.

207. Pavord ID, Korn S, Howarth P, Bleecker ER, Buhl R, Keene ON, et al. Mepolizumab for severe eosinophilic asthma (DREAM): a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2012;380(9842):651-9.

208. Wenzel S, Ford L, Pearlman D, Spector S, Sher L, Skobieranda F, et al. Dupilumab in persistent asthma with elevated eosinophil levels. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;368(26):2455-66.

209. Woodruff PG, Modrek B, Choy DF, Jia G, Abbas AR, Ellwanger A, et al. T-helper type 2-driven inflammation defines major subphenotypes of asthma. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2009;180(5):388-95.

210. Robinson D, Hamid Q, Ying S, Bentley A, Assoufi B, Durham S, et al. Prednisolone treatment in asthma is associated with modulation of bronchoalveolar lavage cell interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression. The American review of respiratory disease. 1993;148(2):401-6.

211. Leung DY, Martin RJ, Szefler SJ, Sher ER, Ying S, Kay AB, et al. Dysregulation of interleukin 4, interleukin 5, and interferon gamma gene expression in steroid-resistant asthma. J Exp Med. 1995;181(1):33-40.

212. McKinley L, Alcorn JF, Peterson A, Dupont RB, Kapadia S, Logar A, et al. TH17 cells mediate steroid-resistant airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;181(6):4089-97.

213. Wu CY, Fargeas C, Nakajima T, Delespesse G. Glucocorticoids suppress the production of interleukin 4 by human lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 1991;21(10):2645-7.
214. Banwell ME, Tolley NS, Williams TJ, Mitchell TJ. Regulation of human eotaxin-3/CCL26 expression: modulation by cytokines and glucocorticoids. Cytokine.
2002;17(6):317-23.

215. Kwon OJ, Jose PJ, Robbins RA, Schall TJ, Williams TJ, Barnes PJ. Glucocorticoid inhibition of RANTES expression in human lung epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.

1995;12(5):488-96.

216. Chesne J, Braza F, Mahay G, Brouard S, Aronica M, Magnan A. IL-17 in severe asthma. Where do we stand? American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;190(10):1094-101.

217. Vazquez-Tello A, Halwani R, Hamid Q, Al-Muhsen S. Glucocorticoid receptor-beta up-regulation and steroid resistance induction by IL-17 and IL-23 cytokine stimulation in peripheral mononuclear cells. Journal of clinical immunology. 2013;33(2):466-78.

218. Zijlstra GJ, ten Hacken NHT, Hoffmann RF, van Oosterhout AJM, Heijink IH. Interleukin-17A induces glucocorticoid insensitivity in human bronchial epithelial cells. European Respiratory Journal. 2012;39(2):439.

219. Stapleton M, Howard-Thompson A, George C, Hoover RM, Self TH. Smoking and asthma. J Am Board Fam Med. 2011;24(3):313-22.

220. Kerstjens HA, Overbeek SE, Schouten JP, Brand PL, Postma DS. Airways hyperresponsiveness, bronchodilator response, allergy and smoking predict improvement in FEV1 during long-term inhaled corticosteroid treatment. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. European Respiratory Journal. 1993;6(6):868.

221. Pedersen B, Dahl R, Karlstrom R, Peterson CG, Venge P. Eosinophil and neutrophil activity in asthma in a one-year trial with inhaled budesonide. The impact of smoking. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1996;153(5):1519-29.

222. Chalmers GW, Macleod KJ, Little SA, Thomson LJ, McSharry CP, Thomson NC. Influence of cigarette smoking on inhaled corticosteroid treatment in mild asthma. Thorax. 2002;57(3):226.

223. Chaudhuri R, Livingston E, McMahon AD, Thomson L, Borland W, Thomson NC. Cigarette smoking impairs the therapeutic response to oral corticosteroids in chronic asthma. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2003;168(11):1308-11.

224. Chalmers GW, Macleod KJ, Little SA, Thomson LJ, McSharry CP, Thomson NC. Influence of cigarette smoking on inhaled corticosteroid treatment in mild asthma. Thorax. 2002;57(3):226-30.

225. Milara J, Navarro A, Almudever P, Lluch J, Morcillo EJ, Cortijo J. Oxidative stressinduced glucocorticoid resistance is prevented by dual PDE3/PDE4 inhibition in human alveolar macrophages. Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2011;41(4):535-46.

226. Mio T, Romberger DJ, Thompson AB, Robbins RA, Heires A, Rennard SI. Cigarette smoke induces interleukin-8 release from human bronchial epithelial cells. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1997;155(5):1770-6.

227. Churg A, Dai J, Tai H, Xie C, Wright JL. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is central to acute cigarette smoke-induced inflammation and connective tissue breakdown. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2002;166(6):849-54.

228. Thomson NC, Chaudhuri R, Livingston E. Asthma and cigarette smoking. European Respiratory Journal. 2004;24(5):822.

229. Iho S, Tanaka Y, Takauji R, Kobayashi C, Muramatsu I, Iwasaki H, et al. Nicotine induces human neutrophils to produce IL-8 through the generation of peroxynitrite and subsequent activation of NF-kappaB. J Leukoc Biol. 2003;74(5):942-51.

230. Borkar NA, Roos B, Prakash YS, Sathish V, Pabelick CM. Nicotinic α7 acetylcholine receptor (α7nAChR) in human airway smooth muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2021;706:108897.

231. Hong W, Peng G, Hao B, Liao B, Zhao Z, Zhou Y, et al. Nicotine-Induced Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Involves TRPC6-Dependent Calcium Influx Via α 7 nAChR. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;43(3):986-1002.
232. Pang L, Nie M, Corbett L, Knox AJ. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2003;170(2):1043-51.

233. Bradbury P, Rumzhum NN, Ammit AJ. EP(2) and EP(4) receptor antagonists: Impact on cytokine production and $\beta(2)$ -adrenergic receptor desensitization in human airway smooth muscle. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234(7):11070-7.

234. Mahmood T, Yang PC. Western blot: technique, theory, and trouble shooting. N Am J Med Sci. 2012;4(9):429-34.

235. Chung KF, Patel HJ, Fadlon EJ, Rousell J, Haddad EB, Jose PJ, et al. Induction of eotaxin expression and release from human airway smooth muscle cells by IL-1beta and TNFalpha: effects of IL-10 and corticosteroids. British journal of pharmacology. 1999;127(5):1145-50.

236. Chalmers GW, MacLeod KJ, Thomson L, Little SA, McSharry C, Thomson NC. Smoking and airway inflammation in patients with mild asthma. Chest. 2001;120(6):1917-22.

237. Conroy DM, Williams TJ. Eotaxin and the attraction of eosinophils to the asthmatic lung. Respiratory research. 2001;2(3):150-6.

238. John M, Hirst SJ, Jose PJ, Robichaud A, Berkman N, Witt C, et al. Human airway smooth muscle cells express and release RANTES in response to T helper 1 cytokines: regulation by T helper 2 cytokines and corticosteroids. The Journal of Immunology. 1997;158(4):1841.

239. Walters MJ, Paul-Clark MJ, McMaster SK, Ito K, Adcock IM, Mitchell JA. Cigarette smoke activates human monocytes by an oxidant-AP-1 signaling pathway: implications for steroid resistance. Mol Pharmacol. 2005;68(5):1343-53.

240. Chatkin JM, Dullius CR. The management of asthmatic smokers. Asthma Research and Practice. 2016;2(1):10.

241. Kubo S, Kobayashi M, Masunaga Y, Ishii H, Hirano Y, Takahashi K, et al. Cytokine and chemokine expression in cigarette smoke-induced lung injury in guinea pigs. European Respiratory Journal. 2005;26(6):993.

242. Chung KF. Individual cytokines contributing to asthma pathophysiology: valid targets for asthma therapy? Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2003;4(11):1320-6.

243. Mattes J, Foster PS. Regulation of eosinophil migration and Th2 cell function by IL-5 and eotaxin. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy. 2003;2(2):169-74.

244. Molet S, Hamid Q, Davoine F, Nutku E, Taha R, Pagé N, et al. IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;108(3):430-8.

245. Bullens DM, Truyen E, Coteur L, Dilissen E, Hellings PW, Dupont LJ, et al. IL-17 mRNA in sputum of asthmatic patients: linking T cell driven inflammation and granulocytic influx? Respir Res. 2006;7(1):135.

246. Wong CK, Ho CY, Ko FW, Chan CH, Ho AS, Hui DS, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines (IL-17, IL-6, IL-18 and IL-12) and Th cytokines (IFN-gamma, IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13) in patients with allergic asthma. Clin Exp Immunol. 2001;125(2):177-83.

247. Zhang J, Bai C. Elevated Serum Interleukin-8 Level as a Preferable Biomarker for Identifying Uncontrolled Asthma and Glucocorticosteroid Responsiveness. Tanaffos. 2017;16(4):260-9.

248. Saitoh T, Kusunoki T, Yao T, Kawano K, Kojima Y, Miyahara K, et al. Role of interleukin-17A in the eosinophil accumulation and mucosal remodeling in chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps associated with asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2010;151(1):8-16.

249. Lam M, Lamanna E, Bourke JE. Regulation of Airway Smooth Muscle Contraction

in Health and Disease. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2019;1124:381-422.

250. Prakash YS. Airway smooth muscle in airway reactivity and remodeling: what have we learned? American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2013;305(12):L912-33.

251. Prakash YS. Emerging concepts in smooth muscle contributions to airway structure and function: implications for health and disease. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2016;311(6):L1113-l40.

Ozier A, Allard B, Bara I, Girodet PO, Trian T, Marthan R, et al. The pivotal role of airway smooth muscle in asthma pathophysiology. Journal of allergy. 2011;2011:742710.
Zuyderduyn S, Sukkar MB, Fust A, Dhaliwal S, Burgess JK. Treating asthma means treating airway smooth muscle cells. The European respiratory journal. 2008;32(2):265-74.

254. P.S. Gilmour KD, W. MacNee. . Overview of the antioxidant pathways in relation to effects of air pollution. Eur Respir Mon. 2002.

255. Vassallo R, Kroening PR, Parambil J, Kita H. Nicotine and oxidative cigarette smoke constituents induce immune-modulatory and pro-inflammatory dendritic cell responses. Mol Immunol. 2008;45(12):3321-9.

256. Reader J, Holt D, Fulton A. Prostaglandin E2 EP receptors as therapeutic targets in breast cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30(3-4):449-63.

257. Narumiya S, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F. Prostanoid Receptors: Structures, Properties, and Functions. Physiological Reviews. 1999;79(4):1193-226.

258. Hall IP, Widdop S, Townsend P, Daykin K. Control of cyclic AMP levels in primary cultures of human tracheal smooth muscle cells. British Journal of Pharmacology. 1992;107(2):422-8.

259. Mishra NC, Rir-Sima-Ah J, Langley RJ, Singh SP, Peña-Philippides JC, Koga T, et al.
Nicotine primarily suppresses lung Th2 but not goblet cell and muscle cell responses to allergens. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;180(11):7655-63.
260. Alberg A. The influence of cigarette smoking on circulating concentrations of antioxidant micronutrients. Toxicology. 2002;180(2):121-37.

261. Hoffmann RF, Zarrintan S, Brandenburg SM, Kol A, de Bruin HG, Jafari S, et al. Prolonged cigarette smoke exposure alters mitochondrial structure and function in airway epithelial cells. Respir Res. 2013;14(1):97.

262. Szoka P, Lachowicz J, Cwiklińska M, Lukaszewicz A, Rybak A, Baranowska U, et al. Cigarette Smoke-Induced Oxidative Stress and Autophagy in Human Alveolar Epithelial Cell Line (A549 Cells). Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1176:63-9.

263. Yang SR, Chida AS, Bauter MR, Shafiq N, Seweryniak K, Maggirwar SB, et al. Cigarette smoke induces proinflammatory cytokine release by activation of NF-kappaB and posttranslational modifications of histone deacetylase in macrophages. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2006;291(1):L46-57.

264. Martin JG, Suzuki M, Maghni K, Pantano R, Ramos-Barbón D, Ihaku D, et al. The Immunomodulatory Actions of Prostaglandin E2 on Allergic Airway Responses in the Rat. The Journal of Immunology. 2002;169(7):3963.

265. Sturm EM, Schratl P, Schuligoi R, Konya V, Sturm GJ, Lippe IT, et al. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits eosinophil trafficking through E-prostanoid 2 receptors. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;181(10):7273-83.

266. Hartl D, Starosta V, Maier K, Beck-Speier I, Rebhan C, Becker BF, et al. Inhaled glutathione decreases PGE2 and increases lymphocytes in cystic fibrosis lungs. Free Radic Biol Med. 2005;39(4):463-72.

267. Maric J, Ravindran A, Mazzurana L, Björklund Å K, Van Acker A, Rao A, et al. Prostaglandin E(2) suppresses human group 2 innate lymphoid cell function. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2018;141(5):1761-73.e6.

268. Pang L, Knox AJ. Regulation of TNF-alpha-induced eotaxin release from cultured human airway smooth muscle cells by beta2-agonists and corticosteroids. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2001;15(1):261-9.

269. Boulet LP, Lemière C, Archambault F, Carrier G, Descary MC, Deschesnes F. Smoking and asthma: clinical and radiologic features, lung function, and airway inflammation. Chest. 2006;129(3):661-8.

270. Wang YH, Wills-Karp M. The potential role of interleukin-17 in severe asthma. Current allergy and asthma reports. 2011;11(5):388-94.

271. Volpi G, Facchinetti F, Moretto N, Civelli M, Patacchini R. Cigarette smoke and alpha,beta-unsaturated aldehydes elicit VEGF release through the p38 MAPK pathway in human airway smooth muscle cells and lung fibroblasts. British journal of pharmacology. 2011;163(3):649-61.

272. Spears M, McSharry C, Chaudhuri R, Weir CJ, de Wet C, Thomson NC. Smoking in asthma is associated with elevated levels of corticosteroid resistant sputum cytokines-an exploratory study. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e71460.

273. Sprio AE, Ciprandi G, Riccardi E, Giannoccaro F, Carriero V, Bertolini F, et al. The influence of smoking on asthma in the real-life. Respir Med. 2020;170:106066.

274. Tamimi A, Serdarevic D, Hanania NA. The effects of cigarette smoke on airway inflammation in asthma and COPD: therapeutic implications. Respir Med. 2012;106(3):319-28.

275. Green RH, Brightling CE, Woltmann G, Parker D, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID. Analysis of induced sputum in adults with asthma: identification of subgroup with isolated sputum neutrophilia and poor response to inhaled corticosteroids. Thorax. 2002;57(10):875.

276. Hamid QA, Wenzel SE, Hauk PJ, Tsicopoulos A, Wallaert B, Lafitte JJ, et al. Increased glucocorticoid receptor beta in airway cells of glucocorticoid-insensitive asthma. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;159(5 Pt 1):1600-4.

277. Leung DYM, Hamid Q, Vottero A, Szefler SJ, Surs W, Minshall E, et al. Association of Glucocorticoid Insensitivity with Increased Expression of Glucocorticoid Receptor β . Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1997;186(9):1567-74.

278. Sousa AR, Lane SJ, Cidlowski JA, Staynov DZ, Lee TH. Glucocorticoid resistance in asthma is associated with elevated in vivo expression of the glucocorticoid receptor β -isoform. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2000;105(5):943-50.

279. Oltmanns U, Walters M, Sukkar M, Xie S, Issa R, Mitchell J, et al. Fluticasone, but not salmeterol, reduces cigarette smoke-induced production of interleukin-8 in human airway smooth muscle. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2008;21(2):292-7.

280. Takahashi K, Pavlidis S, Ng Kee Kwong F, Hoda U, Rossios C, Sun K, et al. Sputum proteomics and airway cell transcripts of current and ex-smokers with severe asthma in U-BIOPRED: an exploratory analysis. The European respiratory journal. 2018;51(5).

281. Lin C-C, Lee IT, Yang Y-L, Lee C-W, Kou YR, Yang C-M. Induction of COX-2/PGE2/IL-6 is crucial for cigarette smoke extract-induced airway inflammation: Role of TLR4-dependent NADPH oxidase activation. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2010;48(2):240-54.

282. Morales DR, Lipworth BJ, Guthrie B, Jackson C, Donnan PT, Santiago VH. Safety risks for patients with aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease after acute exposure to selective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and COX-2 inhibitors: Meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2014;134(1):40-5.

283. Harizi H, Juzan M, Moreau JF, Gualde N. Prostaglandins inhibit 5-lipoxygenaseactivating protein expression and leukotriene B4 production from dendritic cells via an IL-10-dependent mechanism. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2003;170(1):139-46.

284. Peebles RS, Jr. Prostaglandins in asthma and allergic diseases. Pharmacol Ther. 2019;193:1-19.

285. Jensen EJ, Pedersen B, Narvestadt E, Dahl R. Blood eosinophil and monocyte counts are related to smoking and lung function. Respiratory medicine. 1998;92(1):63-9.
286. Chu S, Ma L, Wei J, Wang J, Xu Q, Chen M, et al. Smoking Status Modifies the Relationship between Th2 Biomarkers and Small Airway Obstruction in Asthma. Canadian respiratory journal. 2021;2021.

287. Chaudhuri R, Livingston E, McMahon AD, Lafferty J, Fraser I, Spears M, et al.
Effects of smoking cessation on lung function and airway inflammation in smokers with asthma. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2006;174(2):127-33.
288. Jensen EJ, Pedersen B, Narvestadt E, Dahl R. Blood eosinophil and monocyte

counts are related to smoking and lung function. Respir Med. 1998;92(1):63-9.